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// City skyline from Broadbeach.
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WELCOME TO THE
CIT Y OF GOLD COAST
ANNUAL REPORT
FOR 2018–19
Our theme for this year’s annual report is Leadership Economy - Lifestyle, reflecting the step-change for the Gold
Coast following the successful Commonwealth Games and the
opportunities this will bring to the city over the coming years.
The Gold Coast continues to grow rapidly. We are responding
to that growth with aspirational programs and projects focusing
on transport, infrastructure, events, culture, health and
knowledge, and business and investment to position the Gold
Coast with a competitive advantage – regionally, nationally
and internationally.

About this report
The Annual Report provides an overview of City activities
during the financial year, progress towards achieving the City
Vision ‘Inspired by Lifestyle. Driven by Opportunity’ and the
City’s Corporate Plan Gold Coast 2022. It includes the City’s
financial performance as at 30 June 2019, governance and
statutory information.
This report also provides the disclosure requirements relating
to the Queensland Local Government Act 2009 (the Act) and
the Queensland Local Government Regulation 2012
(the Regulation).

Report structure
Chapter 1 Our City Provides a profile of the Gold Coast, the
City’s performance against Gold Coast 2022, reports by the
Mayor and Chief Executive Officer, profiles of City Councillors,
our major events and the City’s awards for 2018–19.
Chapter 2 Our Achievements Presents some of the City’s
major achievements under three themes of the Gold Coast
2022: Place, Prosperity and People.
Chapter 3 Governance Describes the City’s democratic and
corporate governance arrangements and presents information
relating to the City’s commercialised business units.

Chapter 4 Finance Provides the Community Financial Report
and audited Financial Statements of Council for the year ended
30 June 2019.
Chapter 5 Appendices Provides a summary of 2018 –19
funding to community organisations, indexes and other
supporting information.
An electronic version of this report is available on
the City website: cityofgoldcoast.com.au/annualreport

Language assistance
If you need an interpreter to help you contact the City of Gold
Coast, please call the Translating and Interpreting Service (TIS
National) on 13 1450 or visit the City website for further details.
Chinese Simplified
如果您需要口译员来帮助您联系黄金海岸市议会，请致电
13 1450联系翻译服务处(TIS National)或访问市议会网站获取更
多详细信息。
Japanese
ゴールド・コースト市役所にご連絡くださる際に通訳が必要
な方は、電話番号13 1450の翻訳通訳サービス(TIS National)ま
でお電話いただくか、市役所ホームページにて詳細をご覧く
ださい。
Korean
골드코스트시에 연락할 때, 통역사의 도움이 필요하시다면,
번역 및 통역 서비스 (TIS National) 13 1450번으로
전화하시거나, 저희 골드코스트시 웹사이트를 방문해서
자세한 정보를 찾아 보시기 바랍니다.
Español (Spanish)
Si necesita un intérprete para comunicarse con la Ciudad de
Gold Coast, llame al Servicio de Traducción e Interpretación
(TIS National) al 13 1450, o busque más información en la
página web de la Ciudad.

3

CITY OF GOLD COAST ANNUAL REPORT 2018–19

CONTENTS

1.0 OUR CITY......................................................................6

3.0 GOVERNANCE...........................................................56

1.1 City profile.......................................................................7

3.1 Democratic governance..............................................57

1.2 City of Gold Coast Annual Report
2018–19 highlights........................................................12

3.1.1 Role of Council.......................................................57

1.3 Your rates at work........................................................13

3.1.3 Mayor and Councillor meeting attendance..............64

1.4 Performance at a glance.............................................14

3.1.4 Councillor conduct.................................................66

1.4.1 City Operational Plan 2018–19...............................14

3.1.5 Mayor and Councillor remuneration........................68

1.4.2 Gold Coast 2022....................................................15

3.1.6 Mayor and Councillor expenses and facilities..........69

1.5 Mayor’s Report.............................................................16

3.1.7 Mayor and Councillor incidental expenses..............70

1.6 Chief Executive Officer’s Report.................................18

3.1.8 Mayor and Councillor travel....................................71

1.7 Our Councillors.............................................................21

3.1.9 Community assistance...........................................72

1.8 Major events.................................................................26

3.1.10 Beneficial enterprises............................................72

1.9 Our awards and recognition........................................28

3.1.11 Discounts and concessions..................................73

2.0 OUR ACHIEVEMENTS.............................................30

3.2 Corporate governance.................................................75

Our City Vision....................................................................31
Our Corporate Plan – Gold Coast 2022............................31
2.1 The best Place to live, visit and stay..........................32
2.2 Prosperity built on a strong diverse economy...........40
2.3 People contribute to a strong community spirit........48

4

3.1.2 Council meetings and committees..........................59

3.2.1 Planning for the future of the City............................76
3.2.2 Managing the City responsibly................................83
3.2.3 Engaging residents, customers and visitors..........111
3.3 Gold Coast Water Annual Operations
Report 2018 –19...........................................................115
3.4 Gold Coast Waste Management Annual Operations
Report 2018 –19...........................................................119

4.0 FINANCE...................................................................122

5.0 APPENDICES...........................................................188

4.1 Report by the Manager Corporate Finance.............124

5.1 Mayoral and divisional donations.............................189

4.2 Community Financial Report.....................................126

5.2 Beneficial enterprises................................................207

4.3 Financial Statements.................................................137

5.3 Employee overseas travel.........................................209

Statement of Comprehensive Income............................137

5.4 Legislative compliance..............................................213

Statement of Financial Position (Balance Sheet).............138

5.5 Glossary......................................................................216

Statement of Changes in Equity.....................................139

5.6 Index of key words.....................................................219

Statement of Cash Flows...............................................141

5.7 Index of figures...........................................................221

4.3.1 Management Certificate.......................................175

5.8 Index of tables............................................................222

4.3.2 Independent Auditor’s Report...............................176

5.9 Bibliography................................................................224

4.4 Current Year Financial Sustainability Statement.....180

Contacts............................................................................225

4.4.1 Certificate of Accuracy – Current Year
		 Financial Sustainability Statement.........................181
4.4.2 Independent Auditor’s Report – Current Year
		 Financial Sustainability Statement.........................182
4.5 Long Term Financial Sustainability Statement........185
4.5.1 Certificate of Accuracy – Long Term
		 Financial Sustainability Statement.........................186

// South Stradbroke Island.
5

1.0

OUR CIT Y

Chapter one provides a profile of the Gold Coast, the City’s
performance against Gold Coast 2022, reports by the Mayor and
Chief Executive Officer, profiles of City Councillors, our major
events and the City’s awards for 2018–19.
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// Kayaking, Currumbin Creek.

1.1 CITY PROFILE
The Gold Coast is Australia’s sixth-largest city with an estimated resident population of 606,774 people.
The Gold Coast has a diverse mix of residents from all over the world and offers an enviable lifestyle,
together with the opportunities of a young and dynamic city.

1.1.1 Our Council

Gold Coast local government began in 1879 with the
creation of four elected divisional boards – Nerang, Coomera,
Beenleigh and Waterford. A separate Southport Divisional
Board was established in 1883. In 1903, the divisions
became shires and in 1914, the Shire of Nerang was divided
to create the Coolangatta Shire. In 1918, Southport became
a town. These shires were replaced in 1948–49 by the
Shire of Albert, which took in the hinterland areas, and the
Town of South Coast, which covered the coastal strip. The
Town of South Coast adopted the name of Town of Gold
Coast on 23 October 1958. The area was proclaimed a
city less than one year later on 16 May 1959. Albert Shire
was amalgamated into Gold Coast City in 1995. The areas
of Beenleigh and Eagleby were transferred from Gold
Coast City to Logan City Council in 2008 and, following the
2012 local election, Gold Coast City Council changed its
name to the Council of the City of Gold Coast (Council).

Today’s Council consists of the Mayor and 14 elected
Councillors, each representing their local division. Residents
have the opportunity to elect a divisional Councillor and a city
Mayor every four years. Councillors consult with residents in
their division and represent the interests of the community
at Council meetings. Councillors participate in the decision
making processes where they translate the community’s needs
and aspirations into the future direction of the city. The Council
of the City of Gold Coast is Australia’s second-largest local
government authority.
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// Aquamaids ski routine during the show at the Ski Land, Main Beach, 1971.
Photographer unknown, image courtesy of City Libraries Local Studies Collection.

// Palm Beach Farmers Market.

1.1.2 Our history

1.1.3 Our people

The ancient Aboriginal connection to the area now known
as the Gold Coast can be traced back thousands of years.
The Gold Coast and hinterland was a natural area of
timbered mountains and hills, river valleys, floodplain, salt
and freshwater wetlands. The region between the Tweed and
Albert rivers was occupied by the people of the Yugambeh
language group, which consisted of a number of different
family groups. They were coastal and riverine people with an
abundance of food and fresh water (Barlow and Best, 1997).

In 2018, the estimated resident population of the Gold
Coast was 606,774, an increase of 15,838 persons since
2017 (Profile id, 2018). The number of residents continues
to increase rapidly in the northern corridor, with the
fastest growing areas being Pimpama and Coomera.

Although Captain Cook sailed along the coast in May
1770, it was not until 1823 that English born explorer
John Oxley first put the Gold Coast on the map,
landing his cutter, ‘the Mermaid’, at what later would
be called Mermaid Beach (McRobbie, 1991).
The late 1800s brought agriculture to the hinterland and
a string of coastal holiday villages. The coast was a rest
and recreation haven for Australian and allied armed forces
during World War II. With peace came prosperity, and
increasingly people began holidaying or settling by the
sea. The city boomed as a visitor destination in the 1950s,
becoming known for its relaxed and glamorous lifestyle. It
was during this time development of the Gold Coast beach
strip rapidly expanded. From Southport to Coolangatta,
holiday houses, motels and guesthouses were built to
capture the fun and holiday atmosphere of the Gold Coast.
The city evolved from pioneering cottages and seaside
shanties to a modern thriving city with an iconic
high-rise skyline, attracting millions of visitors each
year. Today, the Gold Coast is a vibrant city with a
population projection of approximately 943,000 by 2041
(Queensland Government Statistician’s Office, 2019).
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Residents aged 60 years and over made up 22 per cent
of the Gold Coast population, compared with
21 per cent of Queensland residents (Profile id, 2016).
Approximately 9,288 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
people (1.7%) live in the city. More than 28 per cent of Gold
Coast residents were born overseas. The largest non-English
speaking country of birth was China, where 1.3% of the
population, or 6957 people, were born. Approximately
12 per cent of our residents spoke a language other than
English at home, compared with 11.8% for Queensland.
The most common languages other than English are
Mandarin, Japanese, and Korean (Profile id, 2016).
There were 27,500 Gold Coast residents that had
a profound or severe disability (4.9%), compared
with 5.2% for Queensland (Profile id, 2016).
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// Nature walk, Springbrook National Park.

// Surfers Paradise.

1.1.4 Our environment

1.1.5 Our economy

The Gold Coast is one of the most biodiverse cities in
Australia, with approximately 50.22% of our land area
covered in native vegetation (Ecosure, 2017) and around
734 kilometres of bush trails to explore. Our city is home
to an envious subtropical climate with hinterland ranges,
waterways, wetlands, beautiful beaches, World Heritagelisted Gondwana Rainforest and an extensive range of
unique natural landscapes and wildlife habitats. The long
term protection of our natural assets is a vital element of the
city’s economy, lifestyle and reputation. Preserving our native
flora and fauna contributes to the city’s long-term wellbeing,
cultural identity, economy, tourism and overall prosperity.

The Gold Coast economy has performed well, growing
steadily over past years. Recent growth has been
underpinned by construction activity related to the Gold
Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games (GC2018), followed
by growth across the health and retail sectors.
The city continues to see diversification in the employment
base of the economy, with the health sector maintaining its
status as the main employer for the city (Economy id, 2018).
In March 2019, the city’s unemployment rate was 4.6%
compared with the Queensland unemployment rate of 6.2%
and 5.5% nationally (Economy id, 2019). This is a good
result for the city and the continued fall in the unemployment
rate is complemented by a consistent result for local
business confidence.
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1.1.6 Gold Coast city features

Figure 1: Map of the Gold Coast
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MALAYSIA
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1.2 CITY OF GOLD COAST
ANNUAL REPORT 2018–19 HIGHLIGHTS
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1.3 YOUR RATES AT WORK
The City’s revenue for 2018–19 was over $1.6 billion, with the majority of revenue coming
from general rates and water and sewerage charges. This funding supported existing services
and infrastructure, as well as new investment in operational and strategic priorities for the City.
The following diagrams provide an overview of City revenue and expenditure in 2018 –19.

Total revenue

$1,607.5
million

Figure 2: Sources of revenue ($ millions)
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For further information refer to Chapter 4.
Figure 3: Expenditure by program ($ millions)
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*The 2018–19 expenditure identifies the total cost of the programs, inclusive of
capital and other internal costs. These costs and other adjustments for depreciation
and transfer to/from reserves (net negative $119.4 million) are removed from the
above expenditure when equating back to the operating expenditure reflected in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income ($1,339.6 million).

$491.9m
$518.4m

2017–18 TOTAL $1,353.8 MILLION
2018–19* TOTAL $1,339.6 MILLION
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1.4 PERFORMANCE AT A GLANCE
1.4.1 City Operational Plan 2018–19
Figure 4: Status of Operational Plan initiatives (non-financial)
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Figure 5: Operational Plan expenditure
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View the 2018–19 Annual Plan
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/annualplan
14

transformed into enduring
international sport and
leisure venue
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Overview

1.4.2 Gold Coast 2022
Figure 6: Status of Gold Coast 2022 signature action initiatives
(non-financial)
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Figure 7: Status of Gold Coast 2022 outcome performance by theme
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Figure 8: Status of Gold Coast 2022 outcome performance

Total outcomes

23

44% [ 10 ]

On track

4% [ 1 ]

Review

37.4 %

188 litres

52% [ 12 ]

Monitor

total waste recycled

average water use
per person per day

26,632

58 %

jobs in the education and
training sector

parking occupancy rate
within key city centres

83%

44%

79%

of signature
action initiatives
completed
or on track

of outcomes
on track

of budget spent
improved

down

consistent

For a detailed view of performance, see section 3.2.2.20.

Figure 9: Legend – City Operational Plan and Corporate Plan
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View Gold Coast 2022
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/corporateplan
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1.5 MAYOR’S REPORT
Staying Way Ahead

People are voting with their feet making the Gold Coast
the most popular city in regional Australia for interstate
migration according to latest analysis of Australian Bureau
of Statistics data.
It is proof that our absolute commitment to exceptional
leadership and economic management has helped create
the nation’s best lifestyle. We are Way Ahead and have a
comprehensive strategy and operational plan to stay there.
Over the past eight City Budgets, rate increases have been
kept at or below CPI. That is a record achievement. During that
period, the city’s annual economic growth has averaged 3.9%
and that has made Gold Coast the engine-room of a regional
economy generating $35 billion in economic activity a year.
The strength of the city’s economy is demonstrated by a
jobless rate of just 4.6% compared with state unemployment
of 6.2%. It’s worth noting that economists define full
employment as a rate of 5 per cent jobless or less.
As intended after the Commonwealth Games, the Athletes’
Village has been recreated into a Health and Knowledge
Precinct with new enterprises and research centres
flourishing. This is a vital stimulus for the city as it attracts
the brightest minds from across our South Pacific region
with the lure of the jobs of the future. For me, the greatest
value is that many more of our young people will not have
to leave their family and friends to chase work elsewhere.
It is a great way to keep our community strong.
Strengthening our role as an education city, we now have
more than 200 accredited education providers. Substantially
increased funding for Study Gold Coast – to just under
$11 million over four years – has seen international student
numbers swell to more than 32,000. That brings around
$750 million into our economy annually with total education
income at $1.7 billion. That’s why we are confident when
we pitch Gold Coast as Australia’s favourite classroom.
Our underlying economic strength still has strong reliance on
tourism and development and both sectors have flourished
over the past year. Tourism is booming with Gold Coast
outperforming Queensland and Australia in spend, visitation
and visitor nights. Overnight visitation earned the city
$3.6 billion, up by 22.6%.
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Our development pipeline has projects worth $14 billion
underway or soon to commence and projects planned
for the next decade are estimated at $30 billion. We are
supporting our popularity with new initiatives like the ferry
service which has attracted State funding and will commence
trial services in the next few months. Twelve stops have
been planned over a 13 kilometres route at a speed of
12 knots, taking around 36 minutes for the full journey.
We have also received approval for a new underwater
diving precinct off The Spit that will be ecologically
significant in creating a home for many varieties of
fish. Industry experts are confident it will attract divers
of all capabilities from across the Asia– Pacific.
It is pleasing that The Spit Master Planning process has now
been completed. My vision to cultivate a green oasis through
the use of clean, recycled water has won broad support
and should see the creation of a natural recreation area to
one day be as significant as New York’s Central Park.
And I am delighted that the Logies returned this year
to a rousing chorus of approval from stars and fans
alike. They love Gold Coast! And it symbolises our film
and television production industry which is thriving.
These are the reasons why Gold Coast is and will stay
Way Ahead.

TOM TATE be (unsw)
MAYOR

T 07 5581 5283
E mayor@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
Addresses
Southport Chambers Office
47 Nerang Street, Southport QLD 4215
City of Gold Coast Council Chambers
135 Bundall Road, Surfers Paradise QLD 4217

CHAPTER 1 OUR CITY

// Mayor Tom Tate – Council initiatives keeping Gold Coast Way Ahead for the future.
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1.6 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT
Following on from the success of the Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games (GC2018),
this year the City has focused on securing additional post Games benefits and advancing
a wide range of actions and initiatives.

Examples of the City’s post Games agenda include attracting
more elite sports, training camps and competitions to GC2018
venues, growing the city’s major events and live music sectors
and continuing to build on the city’s cultural credentials. Some
key achievements aligned to those aspirations include:
• HOTA – construction commenced on the City’s
new international standard art gallery and greenbridge
connecting the Gold Coast Cultural Precinct to Chevron
Island. The City’s investment in developing the precinct has
contributed to a 16 per cent increase in visitation numbers
in 2018–19, including more than 32,000 people attending
events at the new HOTA Outdoor Stage in its first full year
of operation.

The City is also well advanced in expanding its strategic
agenda with the Gold Coast Water Strategy 2019–2024,
developed in partnership with the Gold Coast community, due
for adoption early in the new financial year. This will be followed
by community consultation and adoption of a new Customer
Experience Strategy aimed at making our customer’s
experience with us as easy and convenient as possible.

Thank you
The Gold Coast continues to transform year on year thanks
to the dedicated efforts of the Council, City executives and
officers and of course, our City partners. My sincere thanks
to everyone.

• Major Events Gold Coast (MEGC) – in November 2018
the Council resolved to establish a single major events
entity. MEGC will be tasked with growing the city’s major
event calendar and related economic benefits.
• Music Action Plan 2021 – adopted by the Council in
November 2018 to develop home grown acts, attract
established music businesses to the Gold Coast and
support live music venues.
Some further highlights from 2018–19 include:
• Long Term Recycled Water Release Plan (stage 1)
– one of the City’s largest multi staged infrastructure
projects to support our city’s growth started construction
this year.
• The Palm Beach Artificial Reef – construction started on
an artificial reef to promote the long term increase of sand
along vulnerable sections of Palm Beach with the added
benefit of improved surfing conditions.
• Customer experience – the City launched its new
customer portal (My Account), new online services including
licence, permit and development applications and a new
mobile app.
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DALE DICKSON psm
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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// Chief Executive Officer Dale Dickson.
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COMMUNITY ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS WORTH
OVER $4 MILLION WERE ALLOCATED TO
SUPPORT COMMUNITY BASED ACTIVITY AND
ORGANISATIONS IN 2018 –19

// Enjoying the Gold Coast lifestyle, Miami.
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1.7 OUR COUNCILLORS

1
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Figure 10: Council of the City of Gold Coast
divisional boundaries

DIVISION 1
CR DONNA GATES
DEPUT Y MAYOR

DIVISION 2
CR WILLIAM OWEN- JONES

Term of Office: From 16/10/2007
Enrolled voters: 35,526

Term of Office: From 28/04/2012
Enrolled voters: 27,404

Cr Donna Gates has represented
northern Gold Coast for 12 years and
has been the City’s Deputy Mayor
since 2012.

Cr William Owen-Jones and his family
have lived in both Helensvale and
Coomera over the past 30 years.
William is keen to continue to encourage
business and enterprise across our city.

Donna has been instrumental in the
delivery of significant community
facilities, including the Upper Coomera
Centre, the Ormeau Centre, the Ormeau
Sports Park, Ormeau Skate Park, the
Coomera Sports Centre (delivered for the
Commonwealth Games) and the highly
anticipated $80 million Pimpama Sports
Hub, for the growing population of the
northern Gold Coast.
Donna is a hard working representative,
active within the local community and
determined to focus on the important
issues that come with population growth.
She remains committed to supporting
her residents and the broad interests
of the city.

BCom, Grad Dip Adv Acc

As a Griffith University graduate,
William recognises the need to continue
to encourage further expansion of
the tertiary and technical education
sectors, with health and knowledge
being the key sectors to broaden our
economy in the years to come.
Prior to becoming an elected
representative, Cr Owen–Jones held
roles in accounting and management
and was involved in the philanthropic
sector, serving as a director with
Horizon Housing Company, a major
provider of social and affordable housing
programs in southeast Queensland.

ADDRESS

ADDRESS

Upper Coomera Centre
90 Reserve Road
(Corner Abraham and Reserve Roads),
Upper Coomera QLD 4209

Helensvale Library and Cultural Centre
Corner Sir John Overall Drive
and Lindfield Road
Helensvale QLD 4212

T
M
E
F

T
M
E
F

07 5581 6301
0424 778 999
division1@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/CrDonnaGatesDivision1

07 5582 8555
0412 242 622
division2@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/
WilliamOwenJonesDivision2GoldCoast
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DIVISION 3
CR CAMERON CALDWELL

DIVISION 4
CR KRIST YN BOULTON

DIVISION 5
CR PETER YOUNG

LLB

BBus (Hotel Management), BA (Japanese)

BA (Urban Geography), BA (Govt Public Admin)

Term of Office: From 28/04/2012
Enrolled voters: 34,118

Term of Office: From 19/03/2016
Enrolled voters: 27,855

Term of Office: From 2000–2012
From 19/03/2016
Enrolled voters: 27,125

Cameron is passionate about
supporting his local area and the
needs of the greater city.

For over 25 years, Kristyn has called
the Gold Coast home. She attended
Griffith University here on the Coast and
has worked in many local employment
sectors including hospitality, events,
politics, charity, sales and marketing.

Cr Peter Young has lived at the
same property for more than 23
years, and has served as Councillor
for Division 5 for 15 years.

In his role as the Chair of the Economy,
Planning and Environment Committee,
Cameron has pledged to maintain
confidence in the development sector
of the Gold Coast economy.
A keen supporter of outdoor events
throughout Division 3, Cameron has
seen the implementation of a local
ParkRun, Bleach* Festival, Tastes
of Paradise, Sunday Sounds and
spectacular New Year’s Eve celebrations
as well as making sure local sporting
groups have the funding they need
for continued success.
Cameron is a Solicitor of the Supreme
Court of Queensland and mediator.
He has practised law since 2003.

Kristyn is married with two children and
is determined to see improvements
to her local area where she is living,
working and raising her family. She
has forged a career in the charitable
sector as a community advocate,
fundraiser and events planner, including
work for Heartkids Qld, Bravehearts
and C&K Kindergarten, Labrador.

His ambitions include delivering
infrastructure that meets and exceeds
the aspirations of the community,
providing exceptional leadership, and
fearless representation of the community.
Cr Young studied government and
public administration, political science,
and human and urban geography at
Flinders University of South Australia
and the University of Sydney.

Kristyn is passionate about seeing her
community prosper and is especially
keen to continue advocating for
better services and facilities for
those she is proud to represent.

ADDRESS

ADDRESS

ADDRESS

Sovereign House
12 Falkinder Avenue
Paradise Point QLD 4216

Labrador Community Hub
57 Billington Street
Labrador QLD 4215

T 07 5581 1680
E division3@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
F fb.com/crcameroncaldwellgc

T
M
E
F

City of Gold Coast
Nerang Administration Centre
833 Southport-Nerang Road
Nerang QLD 4211
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07 5581 6434
0429 772 952
division4@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/CrKristynBoulton

T
M
E
F

07 5582 8400
0414 180 118
division5@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/PeterYoungDiv5
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DIVISION 6
CR DAWN CRICHLOW

OAM

DIVISION 7
CR GARY BAILDON

AM

DIVISION 8
CR BOB L A CASTR A

D.Univ (Griffith)

Term of Office: From 23/03/1991
Enrolled voters: 27,594

Term of Office: 1988–1994; 1995–2004
From 19/03/2016
Enrolled voters: 25,564

Term of Office: From 15/03/1997
Enrolled voters: 24,799

Cr Dawn Crichlow was instrumental in:
the redevelopment of the Broadwater
Parklands; introducing the policing
of disabled parking bays in shopping
centres; the Chinatown Precinct in
Davenport Street, Southport; and
the establishment of Southport as
the CBD of the Gold Coast.

Cr Baildon’s goal has been to see
the progression of the duplication
of the Isle of Capri Bridge to ease
traffic congestion, revitalise Surfers
Paradise with improved car parking
and festive lighting and completing
missing linkages in footpaths with a
focus on areas around schools.

With a strong history in the arts,
Cr Bob La Castra is pleased to see the
substantial city investment in our
cultural precinct.

Priorities for Cr Crichlow include
maintaining a high standard of the area’s
parks and community facilities and
providing a safer division for all to enjoy.

While Cr Baildon is supportive of the
city’s growth and the economic benefits
it brings, he also understands the
importance of protecting our heritage.

Cr Crichlow was awarded an Order of
Australia Medal (OAM) in January 2006
for service to the Gold Coast community,
through local government, health,
ex-service and sporting organisations.
She was also awarded the Australian
Sports Medal, a medal to commemorate
Australian achievement in sport in 2000.

A passionate and knowledgeable
Gold Coaster, serving three terms as
Mayor, he was appointed a Member
of the Order of Australia (AM) in
2010 and an Honorary Doctorate
from Griffith University and Gold
Coast Citizen of the Year in 2016.
Cr Baildon’s overall objective is to
ensure delivery of the high standard of
service expected from our community.

Cr La Castra is a professional singer,
actor, television host and published
children’s author. He developed
and wrote the ABC’s international
sensation, Bananas in Pyjamas.

ADDRESS

ADDRESS

ADDRESS

City of Gold Coast
Southport Office
47 Nerang Street
Southport QLD 4215

City of Gold Coast
Council Chambers
135 Bundall Road
Bundall QLD 4217

City of Gold Coast
Nerang Administration Centre
833 Southport-Nerang Road
Nerang QLD 4211

T 07 5581 6280
M 0414 180 677
E division6@goldcoast.qld.gov.au

T
M
E
F

T 07 5582 8206
M 0414 180 008
E division8@goldcoast.qld.gov.au

07 5581 6760
0407 171 888
division7@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/CrGaryBaildonDivision7

As an ardent sports fan, he is
also excited to see the significant
Commonwealth Games legacy
infrastructure throughout the city
- particularly in Carrara (Division 8),
which is now firmly established as
the city's major sports precinct.
Cr La Castra strongly believes that the
substantial investment in both the arts
and sport will give an enormous boost
to the local economy, and further
diversify employment options for this
- and future generations.
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DIVISION 9
CR GLENN TOZER

D I V I S I O N 10
CR PAUL TAYLOR

D I V I S I O N 11
CR HERMANN VORSTER
B Bus (Information Systems), BCom (Accounting, Strategy)

Term of Office: From 28/04/2012
Enrolled voters: 25,363

Term of Office: From 28/04/2012
Enrolled voters: 23,859

Term of Office: From 19/03/2016
Enrolled voters: 27,234

Cr Glenn Tozer has served the city’s
south-west hinterland in Division 9 since
2012 and remains committed to seeing
the Gold Coast realise its potential as
a premier destination for businesses,
families, students and visitors.

Paul Taylor was elected in 2012 to
represent Division 10. As a passionate
Gold Coaster, he is committed to
delivering the best possible community
outcomes for his constituents.

Cr Hermann Vorster is dedicated to
protecting the lifestyle locals expect and
deserve. Priorities are tackling traffic
congestion, boosting community safety
and looking after the environment.

Cr Taylor’s priorities include improving
local parks, infrastructure and ensuring
the enviable lifestyle of Gold Coasters.

Key local initiatives include: ridding
the area of drug crime; expanding
CCTV; improving lighting; upgrading
busy intersections; addressing neglect
and maintenance issues; investing in
parks and sporting facilities; planting
thousands of trees annually; and
rehabilitating local catchments
and reserves.

Cr Tozer is an advocate for the Gold
Coast’s growing technology and cultural
sectors and as the father of three
sons, Cr Tozer builds on the legacy of
pioneering families who created a strong
community spirit in Mudgeeraba and the
hinterland. With his wife Jude, Cr Tozer
supports local and national charities
through filming short documentaries
for social enterprise, and he is a guest
writer for music and culture magazine
Blank GC.
Cr Tozer has held directorship roles
in the media, agriculture and
tourism industries.

Paul is a keen advocate for his residents
and strongly supports local community
and sporting groups. His ability to bring
people together for better outcomes
has helped him positively engage with
the community.
Before being elected, Paul worked in
the electronics and telecommunications
industry managing a number of
multi-national companies based in
Australia. Moving to the Gold Coast
he established one of the largest fireprotection companies in Queensland
which is still privately owned and
operated by his family company.

As a community activist, he believes
growth must be supported by
better infrastructure and adequate
developer contributions.

ADDRESS

ADDRESS

ADDRESS

4 Swan Lane
Mudgeeraba QLD 4213

City of Gold Coast
Council Chambers
135 Bundall Road
Bundall QLD 4217

196 Robina Town Centre Drive
(Corner San Antonio Court)
Robina QLD 4226

T
M
E
F
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07 5581 1883
0419 558 685
division9@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/glennonthegc

T
M
E
F

07 5581 6171
0439 226 521
division10@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/CrPaulTaylorDivision10

T
M
E
F

07 5581 7282
0405 414 931
division11@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/CrHermannVorster
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D I V I S I O N 12
CR PAULINE YOUNG

D I V I S I O N 13
CR DAPHNE MCDONALD

Registered Nurse

Dip LG (Admin)

Term of Office: From 19/03/2016
Enrolled voters: 25,255

Term of Office: From 23/03/1991
Enrolled voters: 25,698

Term of Office: From 19/03/2016
Enrolled voters: 26,170

Pauline is passionate about the
community and with a proven business
background, she is dedicated to
enhancing local businesses.

Cr Daphne McDonald is passionate
about her community and is actively
involved within Division 13 which has a
strong sense of community and family.

Cr Gail O’Neill is Deputy Chair of the
Lifestyle and Community Committee and
Deputy Chair of the Economy, Planning
and Environment Committee.

Having raised her two children Nicole
and Nathan here, Pauline is proud to
call the Gold Coast her home for
the past 50 years. She is committed
to preserving what is important to
locals but also being progressive
to ensure employment and growth
opportunities for the future of the city.

Cr McDonald believes it is important to
recognise the specific needs of different
groups and allow people to have their
say, no matter what their point of view.

Cr O’Neill represents the City of Gold Coast
on the Board of South East Queensland
Regional Recreational Facilities and is an
observer on the Connecting Southern
Gold Coast Board. Cr O’Neill is also a
standing member of the Southern Gateway
Advisory Committee.

On the weekends, Pauline devotes
herself to surf lifesaving, supporting
our local not for profit groups
and promoting our growing local
arts and cultural festivals.
Prior to Pauline’s career in Council
she was a nurse for over 20 years, a
company director, worked in property
and a small business owner.

Cr McDonald continues to encourage
economic growth within the city
and feels strongly about balanced
development and retention of the
area’s character.
Cr McDonald is a long-standing member
of Council, first elected in 1991 and
serving as Deputy Mayor from 2007
to 2012. She is a life member and
vice president of Australian Local
Government Women’s Association
(Qld) and has been patron and involved
with many community and sporting
organisations throughout the city.

D I V I S I O N 14
CR GAIL O’NEILL

Cr O’Neill is passionate about balancing
progress and lifestyle in the southern
Gold Coast.
Protection of our beaches and creeks
together with upgrades to roads, parks
and drainage infrastructure are high on
her priority list.
Cr O’Neill previously was Manager of
the Beach House Seaside Resort and
Commercial Shopping Plaza in Coolangatta
for 15 years and President of the Southern
Gold Coast Chamber of Commerce.

ADDRESS

ADDRESS

ADDRESS

Corner Ocean Street and Park Avenue
Burleigh Heads QLD 4220

26/11th Avenue
Palm Beach QLD 4221

413 Golden Four Drive
Tugun QLD 4224

T
M
E
F

T 07 5581 6228
M 0414 180 013
E division13@goldcoast.qld.gov.au

T
M
E
F

07 5581 6382
0475 677 181
division12@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/PaulineYoungDiv12

07 5581 5275
0438 810 023
division14@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
fb.com/gailoneilldivision14
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1.8 MAJOR EVENTS

2018

JULY

AUGUST

SEPTEMBER

OCTOBER

NOVEMBER

DECEMBER

Gold Coast Marathon

GLOW

Gold Coast 600

Kokoda Challenge

Seniors Week

SWELL
Sculpture Festival

Pan Pacific
Masters Games

Australian
PGA Championship

VIVA Surfers Paradise

Gold Coast Show

Various Remembrance
Day events

Mayor’s
Christmas Carols

Australian SUP
Championships (stand
up paddleboarding)

New Year’s Eve
Celebrations
and Fireworks

Gold Coast Eisteddfod
Groundwater Country
Music Festival
UniSport Nationals
– Div 2
2018 TV Week
Logie Awards

2018 ITU World
Triathlon Grand Final
Robbie McEwen
Granfondo
UniSport Nationals
– Div 1
Gymnastics
Australia National
Clubs Carnival
Queensland
Triathlon Series

// Main image: GLOW 2018, photographer Sarah Harper.
Left to right: SWELL Sculpture Festival, Currumbin.
Gold Coast Triathlon, Southport.
Gold Coast Show Gogi dancers, Broadwater Parklands.
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Coolangatta Gold
Australian
Transplant Games
World Parachuting
Championships
Tour De Valley
Kirra
Criterium Classic
Buskers by the Creek
Celebrate Gold Coast
Australian Hockey
League Finals

CHAPTER 1 OUR CITY

2019

JANUARY

FEBRUARY

MARCH

APRIL

MAY

JUNE

Magic Millions
Racing Carnival

Sand Safari
Arts Festival

Australian Surf Life
Saving Championships

Surfers Paradise LIVE

Australian Open Lawn
Bowls Championships

Queensland
Triathlon Series

Eurovision
Australia Decides

Queensland Surf Life
Saving Championships

Quiksilver and Boost
Mobile Pro (including
World Surf League
Awards Night)

Australia Day
Celebrations

Chinese New
Year Celebrations

NRL Masters Carnival
Bowlzilla Gold Coast
(skating)

Bleach* Festival
Gold Coast Triathlon
– Luke Harrop
Memorial
Gold Coast
Film Festival
Anzac Day Events,
including Currumbin
RSL Anzac Day
Dawn Service
Gold Coast
Running Festival
Cooly Classic
Ocean Swim

// Left to right: Quiksilver Pro, Coolangatta.
Monster Machinery Day, Broadwater Parklands.
SeaFire, Surfers Paradise.

SportAccord 2019
(world sport and
business summit)
Blues on Broadbeach
Music Festival
Mother’s Day Classic
Sanctuary Cove
International
Boat Show

Cooly Rocks On
Polo by the Sea
Mudgeeraba Show
Squash World Doubles
Championships
2019 TV Week
Logie Awards

Gold Coast Open
(surfing)
Monster
Machinery Day
Australian Corporate
Triathlon Series
SeaFire

Trans Tasman Masters
Hockey Challenge
Gold Coast
Superhero Weekend
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1.9 OUR AWARDS AND RECOGNITION
J U LY 2 018

O C TO B E R 2 0 18

M A R C H 2 019

Transport Planning

Excellence and Innovation

Urban Design

2018 AITPM Excellence Awards

2018 Excellence and Innovation
in Moving People

Gold Coast Regional Commendation

Awarded for
GC2018 Travel Demand Management Program
Awarded by
Australian Institute of Traffic Planning
and Management
Awarded to
Transport and Traffic Branch

Awarded for
GC2018 Travel Demand Management Program
Awarded by
The Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport
Awarded to
Transport and Traffic Branch

Awarded for
The Urban Ground Guideline
Awarded by
Australian Institute of Architects
– Queensland Chapter
Awarded to
Office of the City Architect,
City of Gold Coast

AU G U S T 2 0 18

N OV E M B E R 2 0 18

Web Design

Improving Planning Processes and Practices

A PR I L 2 019

Public Sector User Forum 2018 Award
for Innovation Excellence

Queensland Planning Institute of Australia
2018 Award for Planning Excellence (QLD)

Tourism Industry Award
Best of Queensland Experience Awards

Awarded for
Local Government Platform (LGP) project
Awarded by
Infor
Awarded to
Customer Contact Branch

Awarded for
Simplifying Offset Delivery project
Awarded by
Queensland Planning Institute of Australia
Awarded to
City Planning Branch – Environmental Planning
and Natural Area Management Unit teams

Awarded for
Delivering exceptional visitor experience.
Awarded to:
• Kirra Beach Tourist Park
• Tallebudgera Creek Tourist Park
• Burleigh Beach Tourist Park
• Ocean Beach Tourist Park
• Main Beach Tourist Park
• Broadwater Tourist Park
• Jacobs Well Tourist Park
• South Stradbroke Island Campgrounds
Awarded by
Tourism Events Queensland
Awarded to
Community Venues and Services Branch

S E P T E M B E R 2 0 18
Finalists, Society for Ecological Restoration
Australasia (SERA)– Annual Excellence
Awards 2018
Finalists in SERA Excellence Award for
Large Scale Restoration Project
Awarded for
Restoration Program for the City of Gold Coast
Conservation Estate
Awarded by
Society for Ecological Restoration Australasia
Awarded to
Natural Areas Management Unit, in partnership
with UQ and Griffith Uni

D E C E M B E R 2 018
Tourism Industry Award
Readers’ choice top 10 awards 2018
Awarded for
Readers’ Favourite Holiday Parks in Queensland.
• 5th Tallebudgera Creek Tourist Park
• 6th Broadwater Tourist Park
• 7th Main Beach Tourist Park
• 9th Kirra Beach Tourist Park
• 10th Jacobs Well Tourist Park
Awarded by
Caravan & Camping With Kids
Awarded to
Community Venues and Services Branch

S E P T E M B E R 2 0 18
University of Queensland and Uniquest Research Excellence Awards 2018

M A R C H 2 019

Commendation in the Social enterprise
category UQ Partners in Research
Excellence Award

Minister’s Award for Urban Design 2019

Awarded for
The smart allocation of restoration funds
Awarded by
UQ and Uniquest
Awarded to
Professor Kerrie Wilson and Dr Luke Shoo from
The University of Queensland and Professor
Carla Catterall from Griffith University in
partnership with City of Gold Coast – Natural
Areas Management Unit
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Urban Design
Awarded for
Commendation for Excellence in Urban Design
Awarded by
Queensland Government
Awarded to
OCA City of Gold Coast with Urbis and City of
Gold Coast with Archipelago

M AY 2 019
Caravanning Industry Award
Ray Fitton Award for Innovation
Awarded for
Integration of reservation and banking systems
Awarded by
Caravan Parks Association of Queensland
Awarded to
Community Venues and Services Branch
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M AY 2 019

J U N E 2 019

J U N E 2 019

Improving Planning Processes and Practices

General Award – Gold Award

qldwater Awards

National Planning Institute of
Australia 2019 Award for Planning
Excellence (National)

Gold Award for Distinguished
Achievement in Reporting

Queensland Operator of the Year

Awarded for
Simplifying Offset Delivery project
Awarded by
National Planning Institute of Australia
Awarded to
City Planning – Environmental Planning and
Natural Area Management teams

Awarded for
City of Gold Coast Annual Report 2017–18
Awarded by
Australian Reporting Awards Limited
Awarded to
Corporate Planning and Performance Branch

J U N E 2 019
M AY 2 019
Tourism Industry Award
Trip Advisor Hall of Fame 2019
Awarded for
Provision of excellence in customer service for
five years or longer. Awarded to:
• Kirra Beach Tourist Park
• Tallebudgera Creek Tourist Park
• Ocean Beach Tourist Park
• Main Beach Tourist Park
• Broadwater Tourist Park
• South Stradbroke Island Campgrounds
Awarded by
TripAdvisor
Awarded to
Community Venues and Services Branch

M AY 2 019
Tourism Industry Award
Certificate of Excellence 2019
Awarded for
Provision of consistently great customer service
and experience. Awarded to:
• Kirra Beach Tourist Park
• Tallebudgera Creek Tourist Park
• Burleigh Beach Tourist Park
• Ocean Beach Tourist Park
• Main Beach Tourist Park
• Broadwater Tourist Park
• Jacobs Well Tourist Park
• South Stradbroke Island Campgrounds
Awarded by
TripAdvisor
Awarded to
Community Venues and Services Branch

Tourism
AILA 2019 QLD Regional Achievement
Award Gold Coast
Awarded for
Broadbeach Entry Sign
Awarded by
Australian Institute of Landscape Architects
(AILA)
Awarded to
City Place Making, City of Gold Coast

J U N E 2 019
Infrastructure
AILA 2019 Award of Excellence in the
Infrastructure Category
Awarded for
Arundel Wetlands, within the Coombabah
Lakelands Conservation Area
Awarded by
Australian Institute of Landscape Architecture
Awarded to
Parks and Recreation Services Branch

Awarded for
Civil/All Rounder awards recognising the
outstanding operational performance of
Queensland water industry employees.
Awarded by
Queensland Water
Awarded to
Network Reliability Branch

J U N E 2 019
qldwater Awards
Queensland Mains Tapping Competition
Awarded for
Water Main Tapping Competition
Awarded by
Water Industry Operators Association
Awarded to
Network Reliability Branch

J U N E 2 019
Innovation
2019 Innovation – Highly Commended
Awarded for
Gap Graded Crumb Rubber
Demonstration Project
Awarded by
Australian Asphalt Pavement Association
Awarded to
City Assets Branch
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2.0

OUR
ACHIEVEMENTS

Chapter two presents some of the City’s major achievements under
the three themes of Gold Coast 2022: Place, Prosperity and People.
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Our city vision
Our City Vision ‘Inspired by lifestyle. Driven by opportunity’ guides our city’s future, with implementation supported by
Gold Coast 2022 and the City’s longer term strategies on culture, economic development, transport, ocean beaches,
natural areas and solid waste.

Our Corporate Plan – Gold Coast 2022
Gold Coast 2022 was adopted by Council, effective from 1 July 2017. It supports the delivery of the city vision by providing
direction on priorities to 2022. It is built around three themes:
• The best PLACE to live, visit and stay which describes the development of the city and options for city living.
• PROSPERITY built on a strong diverse economy, which describes the city’s business sector, reputation and
employment opportunities.
• PEOPLE contribute to a strong community spirit, which describes the city’s culture and community.

Figure 11: Gold Coast 2022 – plan structure

CITY VISION
Inspired by lifestyle. Driven by opportunity.
Our Corporate Plan – Gold Coast 2022

PL ACE

PROSPERIT Y

PEOPL E

Our city provides a choice
of liveable places

Our city’s economy is
diverse and innovative

Our city is safe

We live in balance
with nature

We have a thriving cultural
economy

We manage our resources
for a sustainable future

We have infrastructure that
supports productivity and
growth

We can get around the
city easily
We are an active digital city
Our modern centres create
vibrant communities
Everyone can enjoy a
beach experience
Our city is resilient to
natural hazards

We are a city with a strong
and globally competitive
business environment
We are a globally
recognised tourism
destination

We are proud of our city
Our community is
inclusive and supportive
Our city embraces culture
every day
Our city provides a wide
range of job opportunities
We are an active and
healthy community

We have a positive global
reputation

S U P P O R T I N G T H E D E L I V E R Y O F G O L D C OA S T 2 0 2 2
We plan for the future of the city. We manage the city responsibly.
We actively engage residents, customers and visitors.

View Gold Coast 2022
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/corporateplan
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2.1 THE BEST PLACE TO LIVE, VISIT AND STAY
2.1.1 Leading the way towards a water sensitive city

Water is one of our most important
assets. From the hinterland to the
ocean, our beautiful natural areas,
spectacular network of waterways and
clean drinking water entice people to
live, work and play on the Gold Coast.

The draft Strategy seeks to achieve the City’s
vision through implementing key initiatives
across four strategic outcomes:

Rapid urbanisation, ageing
infrastructure, environmental variability,
rapid technological advancement
and challenging economic conditions
create demands and opportunities in
managing the city’s water resources.
The draft Gold Coast Water Strategy
2019–2024 describes the City of Gold
Coast’s commitment to the community
on how the Gold Coast’s water
resources and environments will be
sustainably managed both now and in
the future to ensure the city is liveable,
resilient, sustainable and innovative.
In 2018–19, the draft Strategy was
developed in partnership with the
Gold Coast community. More than
76 leaders and strategic thinkers
in the region from water, planning,
environment, development, community
groups and other related sectors
contributed to developing this collective
vision and transition strategy.

1

2

OUR HEALTHY
WATERS

INNOVATIVE WATER
SOLUTIONS

3

4

WATER-INSPIRED
DESIGN

PARTNERSHIPS
FOR WATER

// Water bug sampling, Syndicate Road, Tallebudgera.
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It proposes a pathway for
the Gold Coast to transition
to a water sensitive city by
establishing and maintaining:
• healthy catchments and waterways
which preserve the Gold Coast’s
international reputation as a city
with a thriving ecology, excellent
outdoor recreation opportunities
and a high level of liveability
• an innovative approach to the
provision of water services to
support efficient, integrated, adaptive
and sustainable outcomes for the
community and the environment
• vibrant water environments and
multifunctional connected green
spaces that are central to the
planning and design of the city’s
growth, supporting a healthy and
active lifestyle and cool the city down
• city-wide resilience to a changing
environment and extreme
events through improving
the city’s preparedness
• a water sensitive community
where the connection to water
and its value is supported through
conservation efforts, sustainable
choices and celebrated through
arts, design and culture
• partnerships with a range of
community, industry, government
and research groups to deliver
collaborative and impactful
water sensitive initiatives
throughout the region.
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In November 2018, the City conducted a three week
community engagement campaign seeking community
and stakeholder sentiment and input on the draft
Strategy. A telemarketing survey was also conducted
to validate the results of the consultation campaign.

Community
engagement
campaign

4940

1262

1791

clicks on social media platforms

video views

responses

Outcomes of the consultation were that community
and visitors:
• are passionate about their iconic Gold Coast water lifestyle
• highly value the city’s natural environment and waterways
and want to see these protected and enhanced
for habitat and enjoyment as our city grows
• desire safe, sustainable and affordable water
services with innovative and efficient water
solutions including water recycling initiatives
• desire robust forward planning and city resilience
to slow and rapid changing environments
• want to see sustainable development with water
as the centrepiece of our city design with more
green (trees) and blue (water) features
• want to see more programs for community
partnerships and engagement.
Strong community support of the proposed strategy is
vital for building ongoing collaborative partnerships with
local communities, state agencies, universities and industry
and critical for successful delivery of the water strategy.
The draft Strategy is set to be adopted by Council in
early 2019–20.

For more information
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/waterstrategy
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// Water sensitive design, Harbour Town.
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1058

2000

283,000

456

written comments

direct engagement interactions

people reached through radio

telemarketing
independent validation

CITY OF GOLD COAST WATER CYCLE:
135 CONSTRUCTED LAKES
260 KM OF NAVIGABLE WATERWAYS
40 PATROLLED BEACHES
1 RAMSAR LISTED WETLAND
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// Construction of stage 1 of the Long Term Recycled Water Release, Southport.

// Community members view the project site and leave a
message on a section of recycled water pipe, Biggera Waters.

2.1.2 Supporting city growth and development

While recycling is a term generally applied to aluminium
cans, glass bottles and paper, water can also be recycled
and re-used. Recycled water is a sustainable and climate
resilient option.

For the past 30 years, excess recycled water has
been released at the Seaway, Nerang River on an
outgoing tide. However, as the city’s population
increases, so does the load on infrastructure.

Each day, the Gold Coast population produces around 155
million litres of sewage – that is almost 26 million toilet flushes
a day. Sewage in its raw state is 99 per cent water. In addition
to toilet flushing, sewage also includes the waste water from
sinks, showers, baths, dishwashers and washing machines.

In the second half of 2018, the City began construction
of stage 1 of the Long Term Recycled Water Release
Plan. Stage 1 will deliver two of the longest marine
pipeline crossings of their type in Australia plus upgraded
pump stations at Coombabah and Benowa.

The City treats sewage to produce recycled water, which
complies with stringent health and environmental standards.
Recycled water is most commonly used for non-drinking
purposes such as dust control on unsealed roads, agriculture,
landscaping, public parks and golf course irrigation.

Existing release points at the Seaway will be upgraded for
more efficient release, while new pipelines across the Nerang
River and Broadwater will cater for increased growth in the City.

The City is currently expanding the recycled water network
so more areas of the Gold Coast can make use of this water.
About 15 per cent of all the recycled water produced was
re-used in 2018–19. The target for 2022 is 25 per cent.

For more information
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/recycledwater
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During 2018–19, construction was underway at seven
locations across the city, the most visible of which were Quota
Park, Biggera Waters and Waterways Drive, Main Beach.
Stage 1 of the plan is due for completion in mid – 2020.

CHAPTER 2 OUR ACHIEVEMENTS

THE CITY IS FOCUSED ON
REDUCING WASTE BY AT LEAST
10 PER CENT PER HOUSEHOLD
BY 2024

// Green waste recycling, Merrimac Waste Recycling Centre.

2.1.3 Green waste drop and go zones

More than half of household waste is organic, which is
mainly food and green (garden) waste.
Currently about 740 kilograms of waste is collected per
Gold Coast household per year, which is about the weight
of a small car.
Increasing green waste recycling will have a large impact
on reducing waste at landfill and it will also benefit the
environment.
When green waste reaches a landfill, it decomposes in
the absence of oxygen. This process produces greenhouse
gases including methane and carbon dioxide.

The City provides a green waste bin collection service to
improve green waste recycling. To make it more convenient
for residents to recycle garden waste, the City has also
introduced new green waste drop and go zones.
In the past year, new green waste drop and go zones opened
at Coomera and Merrimac, giving residents the flexibility to
dispose of large quantities of green waste at their convenience.
Green waste can be directly unloaded off the back of a vehicle
or trailer onto a designated ground level pad, eliminating the
previous practice of lifting and loading the waste into bins.
The green waste collected in these ways, including
garden prunings, grass clippings, leaves and tree
branches is recycled into compost. Some of this compost
is being used on the City’s parks and gardens.
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LANDSCAPE MASTERPLAN INCLUDES TREE PLANTING AND
IMPROVED AMENITIES FOR JOHN FRASER MEMORIAL PARK

// Isle of Capri bridge duplication artist’s impression.

PLANS TO BUILD A NEW FOUR LANE BRIDGE
AND UPGRADE REMEMBRANCE DRIVE
INTERSECTION AND VIA ROMA

2.1.4 Isle of Capri Bridge decongestion project

The City’s plans to upgrade the Gold Coast’s major
east-west road connection at Isle of Capri and support
future growth on the network are in motion.
The $55 million project identifies a new four lane bridge
and upgrade to Via Roma and Remembrance Drive
intersection as key to addressing future traffic congestion.
The Isle of Capri Decongestion Project will address traffic
flow as volume grows from 18,000 cars per day on the
bridge to 25,000 cars per day over the next eight years.
Local residents will enjoy new shared paths and
footpath connectivity and boat enthusiasts will see
increased clearance levels to allow larger vessels
to pass under the bridge on the Nerang River.
The project will implement a significant landscape
masterplan that includes tree planting and improvements
to the John Fraser Memorial Park with new lighting,
pathways and river viewing platforms.

For more information
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/capriproject
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The benefits of the project include:
• improved traffic flow and reduction in congestion
• landscape masterplan including tree planting and
improved amenities for John Fraser Memorial Park
• footpath connectivity and shared pathways including
four metre wide paths on both sides of the bridge
• larger vessels can pass underneath the bridge
• improved accessibility.
The Isle of Capri decongestion project completed
planning in 2018–19 and will start work in 2019 –20.
Work is scheduled for completion in 2021–22.

Commencing: mid – 2019
Completion: mid – 2021
Cost: $55 million
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// Healthy released koala spotted near Tallebudgera Creek
Conservation Park, Tallebudgera.

2.1.5 Working to protect Gold Coast koalas

2.1.6 Looking forward 2019 –20

In 2018–19, the City made national headlines by introducing
an Australia-first $10.85 million koala fund, giving further
protection to the Gold Coast’s significant koala population
through future koala habitat purchases.

2019 –20 key place activities include:

In this first 12 months, the fund raised $800,000 through an
annual $3 per rateable property contribution from ratepayers
with the City planning to borrow the additional $10.05 million.
The City has identified a protected koala habitat network for
the long-term protection of the East Coomera koala population,
with high priority properties expected to be purchased in
2019–20.
The City’s Koala Conservation Plan features 62 actions to
conserve and restore habitat, manage threats from traffic,
bushfire, dogs and feral animals, and support koala welfare.

For more information
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/koala

• Implement a Koala Habitat Acquisition
and Enhancement Program to continue
to support a viable koala population in the
Coomera-Pimpama region.

• Implement Stage 1B Greenbridge,
connecting HOTA, Home of the Arts at
Evandale with Chevron Island.

019-20

The City installed six speed awareness signs, hosted
conservation walks, and kept 860 Koala Friends Program
members up to date. In addition, the crucial sightings database
that helps identify black spots on roads, monitor population
trends, target community education and inform bushfire
planning was maintained.

As one of Australia’s most biodiverse cities, the City
encouraged ratepayers to champion these iconic creatures
by getting involved in planting days, joining the Koala Friends
Program and becoming koala-minded.

• Construct the expansion of Sundale Bridge
to five lanes and a capacity upgrade at
the Waterways Drive and Gold Coast
Highway intersection.

• Implement the Digital City Program including
delivering real-time services through the
One Network fibre optic cabling and Wi-Fi
supporting CCTV networks and Disaster and
Animal Management Systems.

Highlights for 2018–19 included Council’s endorsement of
Parkwood-Coombabah as a new Priority Koala Conservation
Area; hosting four NaturallyGC community tree planting days;
coordinating four Koala Conversation Forums; and providing
new medical equipment to the Currumbin Wildlife Hospital.

In 2018–19, more than 51,000 koala food and habitat trees
were planted across the Gold Coast. In addition, the City
extended its agreement with Currumbin Wildlife Sanctuary
supporting 35,000 trees using recycled water adjacent to the
Merrimac Sewage Treatment Plant which will benefit 500 wild
koalas annually. The plantation feeds the koalas that come into
the hospital.

• Construct an additional bridge across the
Nerang River to Isle of Capri and upgrades
to the intersection of Via Roma with the
Gold Coast Highway, Surfers Paradise.

• Design and commence construction of the
Robina City Parklands to provide picnic
facilities, playgrounds, event space and walking
tracks for residents and visitors.
• Continue to develop a masterplan for
the Greenheart, in the heart of the city, for
residents and visitors.
• Progress the development of the Long Term
Recycled Water Release Plan Stage 1, including
the upgrade of infrastructure to support the
growth of the city and the protection of the
surrounding environment.
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2.2 PROSPERITY
BUILT ON A STRONG
DIVERSE ECONOMY
2.2.1 A lasting legacy

The Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games
(GC2018) created an enduring legacy for the city.

The event held over 12 days in April 2018 united the
community, created jobs, delivered broad ranging infrastructure
projects and put the Gold Coast on the world stage. The focus
from 2018–19 is now on the ongoing legacy that will help
shape the city for the future benefit of residents and visitors.
Post GC2018 reporting published in April 2019,
showed a boost to Queensland’s Gross State Product
of almost $2.5 billion over the nine-year period of 2013
to 2022 – before, during and after GC2018 – with
$1.8 billion (Office of the Commonwealth Games,
2019) of this economic impact on the Gold Coast.
The Games and its legacies will boost visitor numbers to
Queensland by 1.3 million over this nine-year period, with
448,000 of these expected in the four years after the Games.
Trade 2018, the trade and investment program run in
conjunction with the Games, showcased the Gold Coast as
a place to invest and do business. With 2500 attendances at
32 Trade 2018 events, 64 per cent of international delegates
said they were likely to increase investments in Australia
or buy Australian goods or services following the event.
Figures from Trade 2018 show the Games are expected
to generate $840 million in direct foreign expenditure
for Queensland over the four years after the Games.
Since the Games, more than 100 sporting events were
booked at GC2018 venues. This increased demand is likely
to attract an additional 250,000 visitor nights from overseas
and interstate visitors per year as well as an additional 22,500

// University Games, Gold Coast Sports and Leisure Centre, Carrara.
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GC2018 resulted in a boost to Queensland’s Gross State Product
of almost $2.5 billion over the nine-year period 2013–2022
– with $1.8 billion of this economic impact on the Gold Coast

business delegates expected on the Gold Coast for new
business events over the four years post Games. Combined,
these events are estimated to inject a further $90 million
per annum into the Gold Coast economy up to 2022.
Approximately 20,000 sporting items from GC2018 were
gifted to schools, sports organisations and communities
throughout Queensland following the Games.
Another legacy of the Games is 37 kilometres of new highspeed fibre optic cabling throughout the city which is providing
free community Wi-Fi at key locations and enhanced internet
capacity to support local businesses and attract new ones.
Stage 9 at the Village Roadshow studios in Oxenford, built
to host the GC2018 squash competition, has attracted
major film and TV productions including Aquaman, Dora
the Explorer, Godzilla vs Kong and Reef Break, with these
productions injecting millions of dollars into the economy.
The Athletes Village has been transformed into a world
class mixed use precinct. This new precinct provides
1282 new rental apartments and accommodates up to
3000 residents, new retail outlets, a fully developed seven
hectare regional park known as the Village Heart, as well
as over seven hectares of ‘development ready’ land that
will provide new opportunities for health and knowledge
industries and support up to 12,000 new jobs.
Civic pride has also risen with a recent survey of 2500
people conducted in early 2019 which showed that
96 per cent of those surveyed felt proud of their city.

// The Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games Athletes Village has
been transformed into Australia’s first build-to-rent community,
the Smith Collective, Southport.

For more information
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/gc2018
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// Karl S Williams performing at the launch of
the Music Action Plan 2021, Southport.

2.2.2 Live music friendly city

The City acknowledged the cultural and economic
potential and importance of contemporary live music in
November 2018, when Council endorsed the groundbreaking Music Action Plan 2021 designed to support live
music as a key industry on the Gold Coast. Live music
positively contributes to the night time economy as well as
providing rich cultural experiences for the community.
According to peak body Live Performance Australia’s Ticket
Attendance and Revenue Survey 2017, contemporary
music represented the largest category in the performance
industry. In Queensland, contemporary music performances
generated $134.36 million (50.9% of all live performance
revenue) and the highest attendance (1.45 million). Compared
to 2016, revenue increased by 46 per cent and attendance
increased by 27 per cent (Performance Australia, 2017).
The Plan demonstrates the City’s commitment to
building a vibrant live music sector and maps actions
that will continue attracting national and international
acts while supporting homegrown talent and local
music businesses. This innovative plan received
widespread media coverage when it was launched.

For more information
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/musicactionplan
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As an important blueprint for growth for the live music sector,
the Plan includes creating a Special Entertainment Precinct
in the CBD. The City’s investment over three years provides
industry with access to resources, promotion of local music
nationally and internationally, and stronger partnerships across
all tiers of government, peak bodies, and private enterprise.
The Plan's 26 key actions will be achieved through programs
and initiatives that:
• develop the creative and business skills and opportunities
of artists and music industry
• develop a planning framework to support live music venues
• build the Gold Coast’s reputation as a music city
• harness the City's capacity to provide leadership
and investment.
Recognising the immense musical talent that exists on
the Gold Coast, the City will continue to support and
recognise not only the musicians that contribute to shaping
the city’s cultural identity but the venues and professional
service providers that work behind the scenes.

CHAPTER 2 OUR ACHIEVEMENTS

2.2.3 Growing the Gold Coast’s export industry

The most recent data available shows that the export industry
contributed more than $12.28 billion to the Gold Coast
economy in 2017–18.
Recognising the importance of exports to our economy, the
City facilitated a range of export programs, trade missions
and funding assistance during 2018 –19, to encourage
sustainable growth for the local export industry.
The Emerging Exporters Program provided fully funded
training to 45 Gold Coast businesses, developing export
capabilities and accelerating their entry into international
markets. The first set of workshops was delivered
between 12 September and 24 October 2018, and
the second between 30 April and 11 June 2019.
As part of the 2018 –19 International Trade and
Investment Program (ITIP), the City led a series of trade
missions to promote the products and services of
local businesses to global buyers and distributors.
Trade shows are peak export market development activities,
connecting local and overseas businesses. The programs
supported suitable local businesses to become export
ready. The trade shows provide opportunities for businesses
to achieve export sales and drive new revenue into the
Gold Coast economy, stimulating economic growth.

over the four day event. From this trade show, sales to
date generated by the participants exceeded $1 million.
Participants indicate that the event was one of the best
health supply chain trade shows in the world to reaching
pharmacies and hospitals across the wider Middle East.
The METSTRADE Show (Marine Equipment Trade Show) in
Amsterdam held in November is the largest marine supply
chain trade show in the world. The 2018 event had 1591
exhibitors and more than 16,000 marine trade professionals
participated. The City supported seven local businesses to
participate and sell their products and services at the event
which is widely regarded as one of the best marine supply
chain trade shows in the world. Strong commercial outcomes
have resulted from the event including sales partners, and
direct connections with boat builders and shipyards. At the
time of reporting, sales close to the value of $350,000 were
being negotiated as a direct result of attending the show.
The City’s Export Assistance Scheme continued to help
businesses by alleviating a small proportion of the financial
burden of exporting, with a combined total of $55,500
provided to 22 businesses in 2018 –19. This support
has allowed the Gold Coast businesses to increase the
number of return visits to key export markets to strengthen
business ties with distributors and prospective buyers.

The Arab Health trade show held in Dubai in January 2019 is
the second largest health business trade show in the world.
The City supported eight local businesses to participate and
sell their products and services to the region from Australia’s
Gold Coast branded stand in the Australian pavilion. The
2019 event had 4262 exhibitors from 64 countries, and
more than 84,000 health trade professionals attended

Outbound missions designed to encourage continued trade
and investment attraction for the city promoted the Gold
Coast’s film industry in Los Angeles and Beijing, the City’s sport
capability in Port Moresby, smart city initiatives in Taipei and
Chengdu, and tourism, education and health in Chengdu.

// Pharmaceutical labratory, Yatala.

// Boat building, Gold Coast Marine Precinct, Coomera.

For more information
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/export
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IN THE EIGHT MONTHS AFTER THE GAMES,
THE CITY ATTRACTED AND SECURED
46 MAJOR SPORTING EVENTS TO THE GOLD COAST

2.2.4 Gold Coast’s sporting legacy

The city’s reputation as a sports events capital and a
sports training hub continues to thrive following the Gold
Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games, along with community
participation in sport.

Training camps attracted since the Games include:

In the 12 months to 30 June 2018, City-managed major sports
venues hosted 369 events and meetings which generated
$101,085,252 return for the city. Patrons to events at these
venues over this period totalled more than 1.16 million.

• Sheikh Jamal Football Club training camp

At a community level, participation in sports also flourished,
with the City’s Active & Healthy Program attracting 275,954
attendances in 2018–19. Entries for the 2018 Gold Coast
Marathon held in July 2018 surged on the back of the Games,
selling out for the first time in history.

• NRL Women’s Elite Program training camps.

The Gold Coast continues to be a breeding ground for high
level athletes, with 15 high performance training camps held
on the Gold Coast during 2018–19 for a total of 932 athletes,
generating $1.33 million for the economy.

44

• Australian Opals basketball team
• NFL combined training camp

• Richmond Football Club training camp (AFL)
• Perth Glory Football Club training camp

The Gold Coast Aquatic Centre has drawn a significant number
of state, national and international training camps since
GC2018, including swimming, diving and surf lifesaving.
In the eight months after the Games, the City attracted and
secured 46 major sporting events to the Gold Coast including:
• 2018 World Parachuting Championships
• 2019, 2020 and 2021 Mountain Bike Australia Schools
National Championships
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// Left: Gold Coast Aquatic Centre, Southport.
Top to bottom: Active and Healthy activities for all ages,
Gold Coast Sports and Leisure Centre, Carrara.

• 2019, 2020 and 2021 National Surf Life Saving Pool
Rescue Championships
• 2018 FINA Diving Grand Prix
• World Doubles Squash Titles 2019
• World Junior Individual Squash Championships 2020
• Three hockey events: the 2018 Australian Hockey
League Finals; the 2019 Trans-Tasman Masters Hockey
Challenge; and the 2019 Australian Women’s Masters
Hockey Championships
• 2019 SportAccord Conference
• 2019 and 2020 QLD U18 Basketball Championships
• 2019 and 2020 Craig Foster Cup (International Futsal)
• 2020 Australian Drilldance National Championships
• 2019 Australian University Games

• 2020 World Junior Squash Championships
• 2019 and 2020 Australian Taekwondo Championships
• Australian Volleyball Schools Cup (2019 – 2021)
• 2019 and 2020 Gymnastics Queensland Acrobatic
and Trampoline State Championships
• 2019 and 2020 Gymnastics Queensland Aerobic
and Rhythmic State Championships
• Bowls Queensland 2019 State Championships
• 2019 and 2020 Triathlon Australia National
Aquathlon Championships
• 2020 World Masters Ultimate Championship
• 2020 World Underwater Hockey Championships
• 2024 World Lifesaving Championships
• World Bowls Championships 2020.

• 2019 and 2020 Downunder Sports
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// Surf Network provided free high
speed Wi-Fi to over one million
users (residents and visitors)
during 2018–19.

2.2.5 Super-charging the City’s digital network

A year after introducing Australia’s largest council owned carrier
grade fibre optic cabling network, the City has taken the next
step to secure its position as the country’s leading digital city.
Australia’s largest and most diverse council owned Internet
of Things (IoT) Network was launched in April 2019 with the
capability to support more than 600,000 sensors and real-time
management tools. The network is available for commercial
use for deploying IoT applications including home automation,
logistics and wearable technologies.
The City will commence using the network during the second
half of 2019, delivering new capabilities that will provide
services more efficiently, while at the same time, making more
information available to residents and visitors to enhance their
customer experience, and help them make decisions.
In 2018 –19, Council resolved to invest $10 million to extend
the fibre optic cabling network an additional 37 kilometres
creating what is known collectively as the Central Loop,
connecting Broadbeach, Burleigh Heads, Varsity Lakes and

For more information
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/digitalcity
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Robina to the existing network at the Health and Knowledge
Precinct in Southport. Both the existing network and the
Central Loop, known as the City’s One Network, include
surplus fibre optic cabling capacity that can be utilised through
retail agencies, to generate new and ongoing revenues for the
City. Council has also secured contracts worth over $2 million
based on our telecommunications offering.
By the end of June, work was close to completion for
Broadbeach to Miami, with Miami to Varsity and Varsity to
Robina in progress. Approximately $2.1 million of the allocated
$10 million was expended in 2018 –19, with the remainder to
be expended within 2019 – 20 as the full scope of the Central
Loop is completed by December 2019. From 2021, the One
Network is expected to save ratepayers $1 million per year via
reduced operating costs for the City.
The City’s One Network complements the NBN network.
Since October 2018, the network’s surplus capacity has been
generating revenues for the City through its on-selling contract.
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2.2.6 Looking forward 2019 –20
IoT network

Internet speeds of over

devices

being delivered to business
and residential customers

Over
1 million

Central Loop (37kms)
will save Council

users of the Wi-Fi over
the last 12 months

per year from 2021 through
reduced cost of operations

600,000

700Mbps

$1 million

2019–20 key prosperity activities include:
• Plan and progress the Gold Coast Dive
Precinct, with the first stage being a purpose
built dive attraction.
• Implement a range of initiatives to revitalise
Southport as the city's central business district
to diversify the economy, provide high value
jobs for residents and attract new business and
investment to the city.
• Support the Gold Coast Health and Knowledge
Precinct to become a world-class renowned
centre of ideas, research and innovation.
• Implement Stage 1B Art Gallery, at HOTA,
Home of the Arts at Evandale. This will create
a physical and visual connection between
HOTA, Council Chambers and the Versatile
Outdoor Space.
• Deliver the Music Action Plan 2021 to support
live music in the city through artist and industry
development to create a vibrant music sector.

Another component of the City’s One Network was the
extension of the City’s free public Wi-Fi called Surf Network,
which is Australia’s biggest and fastest publicly owned
Wi-Fi network. In addition to the sites connected in 2017–18
a further $1 million was invested in the Surf Network with
connections to the Coomera, Runaway Bay, Palm Beach and
Elanora libraries. The Surf Network was providing up to 4GB
of high-speed Wi-Fi to over one million users (residents and
visitors) during 2018–19.
All remaining City Libraries (Burleigh Heads, Burleigh Waters,
Robina and Nerang), the following tourism precincts (Chevron
Island, Miami, Burleigh foreshore and HOTA) and the following
corporate areas (Nerang, Waterside Precinct and Karp Court)
are scheduled for connection prior to December 2019.

• Commence construction of the new Pimpama
Sports Hub to support the growing population
of the northern Gold Coast.

019-20

Local businesses and connected residents in the Health and
Knowledge Precinct are receiving speeds of up to 700Mbps
upload and download speeds, which are among the fastest
in Australia.
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2.3 PEOPLE CONTRIBUTE
TO A STRONG COMMUNITY SPIRIT
2.3.1 Arts and culture taking centre stage

Building on the City’s investment into arts and culture
in the lead up to the Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth
Games (GC2018) and guided by the Cultural Strategy
2023, the City’s commitment and strategy to develop a
strong cultural economy is gaining attention.
The realisation of the cultural precinct, HOTA, Home
of the Arts, is part of the City’s multimillion dollar
investment in arts and cultural development through
its Culture Strategy 2023. In just over a year since the
Arts Centre’s rebranding, HOTA is one of the most
talked about new cultural precincts in the country. In
the 2018 –19 year, HOTA attracted 685,492 visitors
and sold 276,754 tickets. It was the venue of choice
for over 5181 events of which some 4471 were movie
sessions and 39 events were hosted on the new HOTA
Outdoor Stage.
This year, Stage 1B of the HOTA precinct commenced
with a combined $80 million in construction underway
on the international standard art gallery and the
greenbridge to Chevron Island. In April 2019, the
foundation stone for the gallery was laid, symbolising an
important step in the transition from planning to reality.
The gallery will include more than 2000 square metres
of AAA rated exhibition space; a 1000 square metre
touring exhibition gallery and ground floor retail and
dining spaces. The vertical format gallery will offer a
breathtaking rooftop experience with sweeping Surfers
Paradise skyline and hinterland views, ensuring it
becomes a cultural beacon and must-see destination
for residents and visitors. Work is on schedule for
practical completion by the end of 2020 and public
opening in early 2021.
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In 2018 –19, foundations and piers were laid for the
greenbridge that will connect HOTA to Chevron Island.
The landing over Evandale Lake has added shape to
the emerging structure. By the end of 2019, residents
and visitors will be able to access the precinct via the
greenbridge connecting HOTA to Chevron Island’s retail
and restaurant strip on Thomas Drive.
The City continued to support the Gold Coast’s
most promising local arts organisations by investing
$600,000 in 2018 –19 into its inaugural Arts
Organisational Triennial Funding Program. Nine diverse
and exciting organisations from festivals through to
small collectives were funded from a highly competitive
round of 24 applications. The funding recipients offer
rich and diverse arts and cultural experiences and help
generate awareness that the Gold Coast is evolving
and maturing as a cultural city.
In April, Bleach* Festival 2019 brought 90,000 people
together for its largest ever festival. The $2 million
investment into the City’s signature cultural festival
cemented its commitment to not only continuing but
growing this festival post GC2018 and Festival 2018.
Culturally, the Gold Coast is still a young city. However,
smart and strategic investment is growing the creative
workforce and is attracting and retaining creative
businesses and organisations to the city. The next five
years promises to be an exciting time for the city’s
cultural aspirations and opportunities.
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// Greenbridge artist’s impression.

// Art gallery artist’s impression.

// Greenbridge under construction which will link HOTA to Chevron Island.

For more information
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/HOTAproject
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2.3.2 An accessible city

The Gold Coast is a diverse city
where people of all ages and abilities
can live, visit and do business.
Beautiful beaches are one of the
city’s biggest assets. During 2018–19
equipment became available at 10
locations across the city to improve
accessibility for all residents and
visitors. Beach mats and beach
wheelchairs can be borrowed and four
new or upgraded beach showers were
installed to allow access for everyone.
Mobility maps provide accessibility
information to assist residents and
visitors to move around the city safely
and to help visitors plan their stay.
The maps include the locations of
accessible toilets, change facilities,
accessible car parking spaces, pathway
gradients, location of kerb ramps and
key buildings and services. A new
Burleigh Heads map was developed
during 2018 –19 adding to existing
mobility maps in the key precincts of
Broadbeach, the CBD, Broadwater
Parklands and Surfers Paradise. The
maps are available free of charge in
printed and electronic versions.

Many older residents and visitors enjoy
the city’s colourful arts and culture
scene. Accessibility to HOTA, has been
improved by installing a platform lift
to improve stage access. In addition,
people with impaired hearing can use
a new assistive listening system that
uses Wi-Fi to deliver amplified sound
through headphones for those without
a hearing aid, or via an induction loop
necklace for those with hearing aids.
While the City continues to deliver
accessible infrastructure, between
July 2018 and June 2019 more
than 40 City officers received
technical training to maximise the
accessibility of community facilities.
Through these and other initiatives, we
are continuing to make improvements
creating a city that is genuinely
accessible and inclusive for all.

Mobility Map
Burleigh Heads

// Accessible toilets and change facilities are easily
located using mobility maps.

For more information
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/inclusion
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// Burleigh Mobility Map developed during 2018–19.

1

Burleigh Beach
Tourist Park

Burleigh Beach Tourist Park has an accessible
villa which can accommodate up to four people
and is located close to Burleigh beach.
36 Goodwin Terrace, Burleigh Heads
P 1300 672 750 or 07 5667 2750
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Mobility
maps
provide accessibility information to
assist residents and visitors to move
around the city safely

In 2017, an estimated

The number of Gold Coast residents
with disability is expected to increase to

118,729

191,954 people

Gold Coast residents
(20.1% of the population)
had a disability

by 2036, representing
22.1% of the population

// Beach wheelchairs make the beach accessible for everyone, North Burleigh.
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665 GOLD COASTERS ATTENDED A
LUMINARY LECTURES AT THE
LIBRARY EVENT

// Luminary lectures at the library series.

2.3.3 Expanding minds through luminary lectures

Gold Coast Libraries host a range of free programs and events
for all ages that provide opportunities for lifelong learning,
inspire imaginations and provide a platform to incubate ideas
and inform discussion.
Luminary Lectures at the Library was just one of the exciting
learning programs offered during 2018–19 that provided
the community with the opportunity to access cutting edge
research and information – this time from the world of science.
Hosted by academics from local universities, the monthly
lecture series brought the world of science to the community.
Topics included astrophysics, traumatic brain injury,
venomology, nanomedicine and palaeontology. In 2018–2019,
665 Gold Coasters attended 12 lectures.

For more information
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/lectures
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Building on community enthusiasm for science programs,
Gold Coast Libraries also hosted a visiting National
Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) Exoplanet
scientist during National Science Week 2018, who delivered a
community lecture as part of the series. Community excitement
for this event was shared across social media as Gold
Coasters enjoyed having such a high calibre scientist visit
their local library.
The Luminary Lectures at the Library continues to inspire
critical thinking as well as to give the Gold Coast community
a chance to connect, learn and ask questions about current
research occurring in diverse scientific fields. The program
is supported by dynamic library collections and resources
that can support ongoing interest and curiosity in the
wonders of science.
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Patrolled beaches:
39

34

27

140

39

beaches during school
holiday periods

between November
and April

year round

seasonal staff

permanent lifeguards

2.3.4 Gold Coast lifeguards rescue 1943 beachgoers

From July 2018 to the end of June 2019, Gold Coast lifeguards
performed 1943 ocean rescues, administered 22,297 first aid
treatments and responded to 250,263 enquiries from members
of the public. It is the largest professional lifeguard service
in Australia.
The City’s dedicated men and women in blue and white are
committed to keeping beachgoers safe all year round. With
12 million visitors annually, busy school holiday periods, and
the challenges associated with summer storms, king tides and
strong swells, their professionalism is outstanding.
As Cyclone Oma made landfall in February 2019, it brought
damaging winds, dangerous surf and abnormally high tides.
Prior to its arrival, lifeguards acted quickly, issuing numerous
safety warnings ahead of the severe weather, closing beaches
and cautioning beachgoers to stay out of the surf.

// Lifeguards reinforce the ‘swim between the flags’ message, North Burleigh.

The lifeguards are constantly reviewing their rescue equipment
to keep up with the demanding workplace environment.
They use specially designed equipment such as 4WD vehicles,
jet skis, two seater all terrain vehicles (ATVs), and the recently
introduced single seater ATV. Lifeguards also undertake
proficiency testing twice a year which includes a 750 metre
swim, 1600 metre run and an 800 metre board paddle.
A major part of the service’s role is education and promoting
beach safety. With thousands of visitors enjoying the beaches
during peak season, many of them international visitors,
encouraging people to swim only between the red and yellow
flags is a major focus for lifeguards, as well as having vital
beach safety information made available in several languages.

For more information
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/beachsafety
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20 years of Land for Wildlife

434

62,000

5050+

members as at 30 June 2019

trees planted over 20 years

hectares of habitat was being
managed by 30 June 2019

2.3.5 Enabling the community to contribute to conservation

The Gold Coast is one of Australia’s most biodiverse
and beautiful cities. Most of the habitat supporting
native plants and animals is found on private properties.
As a result, residents play a crucial role in managing
and conserving the city’s natural values.
Each year a growing number of residents donate their
time and resources to help conserve the precious
environment. The City is proud to deliver programs
that support the community’s commitment to
conservation, such as the Land for Wildlife Program.
Land for Wildlife is one of the fastest growing networks
of landholders involved in private land conservation
in Australia. Landholders who sign up to the

For more information
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/conservationpartnerships
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program receive free resources and support to help
manage their properties, but more importantly join a
growing community of like-minded individuals.
On 24 November 2018, the City celebrated 20 years
of the Land for Wildlife program on the Gold Coast
with its members. Over that time Land for Wildlife
members had planted more than 62,000 trees and
restored hundreds of hectares of habitat for wildlife.
In early 2019, the Land for Wildlife habitat area on the Gold
Coast reached the remarkable milestone of more than 5000
hectares for the first time. Across the Gold Coast, 434
members manage more than 5050 hectares of habitat.
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2.3.6 Looking forward 2019 –20

2019–20 key prosperity activities include:
• Deliver accessible infrastructure such as
beach showers, barbeques and playground
equipment for children of all abilities to create
accessible destinations.
• Install security infrastructure, including bollards,
vehicle access controls and enhanced video
surveillance equipment at various urban precinct
sites and areas of significant public gathering
across the city.
• Improve the student experience through student
hubs, a work placement program and a student
ambassador program.
// Conservation partnerships between the City and landholders
help protect our natural heritage, Currumbin Valley.

• Deliver the Accelerate Triennial Grants Program
to ensure support and growth in the arts and
culture industry across the city.
• Deliver a Youth Artist Engagement Program
developing the city’s emerging creative and
artistic practitioners and future cultural leaders.
• Deliver a scoping study and pilot project for an
Indigenous Oral History Program.

019-20

• Improve recreational facility access across
the city to better meet the needs of those
with a disability.

// Celebrating Land for Wildlife program 20th anniversary, Mt Nathan.

55

3.0

GOVERNANCE

Chapter three describes the City’s democratic and corporate
governance arrangements and presents information relating
to the City’s commercialised business units.
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// Southport CBD and Broadwater.

3.1 DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE
Council is empowered by the Local Government Act 2009 (the Act), to make decisions informed by the
priorities of the community. The Act empowers the City to define and enforce local laws, regulations and
policies necessary to effectively manage and govern the local area. The Local Government Regulation
2012 (the Regulation) supports implementation of the Act by providing more detailed guidance.

3.1.1 Role of Council

Councillors represent the interests of the community and
through the City’s decision making processes, translate the
community’s needs and aspirations into the future direction of
our city to ensure that the Gold Coast is the best place to live,
visit, work and conduct business.
The Mayor, Councillors, local government employees and any
other person with a responsibility within local government must
act in accordance with the principles outlined in section 4(2) of
the Act, ensuring:
• transparent and effective processes and decision making in
the public interest
• sustainable development and management of assets and
infrastructure and effective service delivery

• democratic representation, social inclusion and meaningful
community engagement, as well as good governance of
and by local government
• ethical and legal behaviour of Councillors and local
government employees.

Election of Mayor and Councillors
Queensland local government elections are held every four
years, where voters elect Councillors to represent each of the
14 divisions and a Mayor for the City. The most recent election
occurred 19 March 2016 with six newly elected Councillors,
eight re-elected Councillors and the re-election of the
previous Mayor.

View City of Gold Coast Councillors and Divisions
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/councillorsdivisions
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Delegated power and authority
In accordance with the Act, Council has delegated to the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) a broad range of powers that the City has
responsibility to administer and enforce. Under section 259 of the Act, the CEO is able to delegate powers to nominated positions
within the City’s staff establishment, enabling them to efficiently perform the responsibilities of their roles. The Corporate Delegations
Register which records these details is open for public inspection in accordance with section 260 of the Act. Figure 12 provides an
overview of the structure of the City’s functions and operations at 30 June 2019 and presents the links between community, Council
and administration.
Figure 12: Links between the community, Council and administration

Democratic Governance

Local Government Act 2009

Gold Coast Community

(Governing Legislation)

(Provides input to City priorities)

Elected Council
(Decision making)

Standing, Special and Advisory committees
(Provides advice and recommendations on specific matters)

Corporate Governance

Controlled / Funded Entities

Chief Executive Officer

(Perform special functions on
behalf of Council)

(Implementation and administration
of Council decisions)

Audit Committee
(Oversight of Council operations)

Executive Leadership Team

Office of the
Chief Operating
Officer

58

Lifestyle and
Community

Transport and
Infrastructure

Water and
Waste

Corporate Assurance

Organisational
Services

Economy,
Planning and
Environment
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3.1.2 Council meetings and committees

Council conducts its business at open and publicly-advertised meetings. Council’s standing committees and special committee
consider a range of issues and make recommendations to meetings of full Council. All standing committees are held once per
fortnight, with the exception of the Water and Waste Committee which is held on a monthly basis. Full Council meetings are held
fortnightly (outside agreed periods where Councillors are engaged in community consultation and civic duties). Additional Council
meetings may be held throughout the year to consider specific matters.
At 30 June 2019, the City had five standing committees and one special committee. The Mayor is a member of all committees.
All Councillors are members of the Special Budget and Finance Committee and may hold a position on advisory committees that
provide Council with advice on complex matters.
The tables below show Council committees and membership as at 30 June 2019.

Table 1: Economy, Planning and Environment Committee

Economy, Planning and Environment Committee
Director responsible: Director Economy, Planning and Environment
Responsibility

Membership

• Building compliance

Cr Cameron Caldwell (Chairperson)

• Bushfire strategy and assessment

Cr Gail O’Neill (Deputy Chairperson)

• City innovation
• City placemaking

Mayor Tom Tate

• Development assessment

Cr William Owen– Jones

• Development compliance

Cr Peter Young

• Ecological assessment

Cr Gary Baildon

• Economic and industry development
• Economic Development Strategy
• Environment protection and planning
• Export development

QUORUM:
FIVE

Cr Paul Taylor
Cr Hermann Vorster
Cr Glenn Tozer

• Flood policy and mitigation planning
• Industrial diversity
• Landscape strategy and assessment
• Local Government Infrastructure
Plan and operation
• Major city initiatives
• Planning scheme review and amendments
• Plumbing and drainage
• Significant procurement activity
relating to areas of responsibility of this standing committee
• State Government regional planning inputs
• Strategic land use planning
• Tree clearing
• Urban design assessment
• Urban heritage and character

View the City of Gold Coast Register of Membership
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/registerofmembership
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Table 2: Events, Tourism and Governance Committee

Events, Tourism and Governance Committee
QUORUM:
FIVE

Director responsible: Chief Operating Officer
Responsibility

Membership

• Annual Report

Cr Bob La Castra (Chairperson)

• Asset management
• Audit Committee

Cr Pauline Young (Deputy
Chairperson)

• City Contracting Plan

Mayor Tom Tate

• City events
• City reputation and branding

Cr Donna Gates

• Community and corporate/operational planning

Cr William Owen-Jones

• Corporate governance matters

Cr Kristyn Boulton

• Corporate structure

Cr Paul Taylor

• Councillors conferences and training attendance and reporting
• Fleet and plant
• Industrial relations
• Information management
• International connections
• Local law development and review
• Performance reporting of controlled entities: HOTA, Broadbeach
Alliance Ltd, Gold Coast City Insurance Company and Surfers
Paradise Alliance
• Performance reporting of Gold Coast Tourism
• Policy development and review
• Procurement performance
• Property matters
• Rate recovery
• Regional marketing
• Risk management
• Significant procurement activity relating to areas of responsibility
of this standing committee
• Sundry debtors
• Tourism development
• Tourism planning
• Trust fund matters
• Write off accounts
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Cr Daphne McDonald
Cr Gail O'Neill
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Table 3: Lifestyle and Community Committee

Lifestyle and Community Committee
QUORUM:
FIVE

Director responsible: Director Lifestyle and Community
Responsibility

Membership

• Animal control

Cr Hermann Vorster (Chairperson)

• Art and crafts markets

Cr Gail O’Neill (Deputy Chairperson)

• Cemeteries
• Commonwealth Games

Mayor Tom Tate

• Community facilities and youth centres

Cr Donna Gates

• Community safety

Cr Cameron Caldwell

• Cultural Precinct

Cr Kristyn Boulton

• Cultural Strategy and implementation
• Environmental conservation and management
• Health protection e.g. standards of specialised premises,
food, hair, skin, etc.

Cr Gary Baildon
Cr Bob La Castra
Cr Glenn Tozer

• Libraries
• Lifeguard services
• Local Law enforcement
• Off street car parking operations in facilities
(e.g. Bruce Bishop, Mal Burke car parks)
• Older persons
• Parks and recreational services
• Pest management
• Regulated parking
• Significant procurement activity relating to areas of responsibility
of this standing committee
• Social services
• Sport and recreation
• Tourist parks and camping grounds
• Youth development
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Table 4: Transport and Infrastructure Committee

Transport and Infrastructure Committee
QUORUM:
SIX

Director responsible: Director Transport and Infrastructure
Responsibility

Membership

• Beaches and foreshores

Cr Pauline Young (Chairperson)

• Bikeways

Cr Paul Taylor (Deputy Chairperson)

• Bus shelters
• City cleaning

Mayor Tom Tate

• Disaster and emergency management

Cr Donna Gates

• Drainage and stormwater management

Cr William Owen-Jones

• Dredging

Cr Cameron Caldwell

• Flood mitigation works
• Footpaths
• Mowing and parks maintenance

Cr Peter Young
Cr Dawn Crichlow

• Parking planning, policy and operations (except car parks in facilities)

Cr Gary Baildon

• Roads and drainage infrastructure

Cr Hermann Vorster

• Significant procurement activity relating to areas of responsibility
of this standing committee

Cr Daphne McDonald

• Signs – directional
• Stormwater maintenance
• Street lighting
• Streetscaping
• Traffic matters
• Transport planning, policy and operations

Table 5: Water and Waste Committee

Water and Waste Committee
Director responsible: Director Water and Waste
Responsibility

Membership

• Community education and marketing (including demand management)
related to water and waste management

Cr Paul Taylor (Chairperson)

• Customer service, standards and charter related to water and
waste management

Cr Kristyn Boulton
(Deputy Chairperson)

• Sewage treatment, discharge and reuse

Mayor Tom Tate

• Significant procurement activity relating to areas of responsibility
of this standing committee

Cr Peter Young

• Strategy implementation (including Solid Waste Strategy)
• Tariffs, charges, fees and pricing structures for water and
waste services
• Total water cycle management including catchment management;
waterway health; and other activities impacting on water quality
and quantity
• Waste collection, recycling and recovery
• Water and waste management policy
• Water and waste reform, regulation and competition
• Water quality – drinking, recycled, sewage and environmental
• Water, sewerage and waste infrastructure planning
• Water treatment and distribution
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Cr Bob La Castra
Cr Glenn Tozer
Cr Pauline Young

QUORUM:
FOUR
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// Southport Aquatic Centre.

Table 6: Special Budget and Finance Committee

Special Budget and Finance Committee
Director responsible: Chief Operating Officer
Responsibility

Membership

• Discounts and rebates

Mayor Tom Tate (Chairperson)

• Draft Budget

Cr Donna Gates (Deputy Chairperson)

• Financial policies
• Financial reporting

QUORUM:
EIGHT

All Councillors

• Long term financial modelling
• Long term financial planning and modelling
• Quarterly budget reviews
• Rates and utility charges

Advisory Committees
Audit Committee
Mayoral Technical Advisory Committee
Southern Gateway Advisory Committee
World Surfing Reserve Local Stewardship Committee
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3.1.3 Mayor and Councillor meeting attendance

In accordance with section 186(c) of the Regulation, meeting attendance for the financial year is shown in table 7 for Councillors
and tables 8 and 9 for the Mayor.

Table 7: Number of times a Councillor attended meetings, 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019

Councillor

Division

Total
Meetings

Council

Special
Council
(Budget
Adoption)

Transport and
Infrastructure

Water and
Waste

Economy,
Planning and
Environment

Lifestyle and
Community

Events,
Tourism and
Governance

Special
Budget and
Finance

Total

18

1

17

13

17

16

18

5

105

Deputy Mayor
Cr Donna Gates*

1

17

1

17

1

1

16

16

5***

74

Cr William Owen-Jones

2

18

1

15

NA

16

NA

17

5

72

Cr Cameron Caldwell

3

17

1

14

NA

16**

14

NA

5

67

Cr Kristyn Boulton

4

18

1

NA

13***

NA

16

18

5

71

Cr Peter Young

5

18

1

16

13

17

NA

NA

5

70

Cr Dawn Crichlow

6

18

1

17

NA

NA

NA

NA

4

40

Cr Gary Baildon

7

18

1

16

NA

17

15

NA

5

72

Cr Bob La Castra

8

18

1

NA

13

NA

15

18**

5

70

Cr Glenn Tozer

9

18

1

NA

11

17

14

NA

5

66

Cr Paul Taylor

10

17

1

17***

11**

17

NA

16

5

84

Cr Hermann Vorster

11

16

1

13

NA

14

14**

NA

5

63

Cr Pauline Young

12

18

1

17**

12

NA

NA

18***

5

71

Cr Daphne McDonald

13

18

1

14

NA

NA

NA

18

5

56

Cr Gail O’Neill

14

18

1

NA

NA

14***

15***

17

5

70

Note: Councillors attending committee meetings as visitors have not been included in the above figures.
N/A

64

Councillor is not a member of the committee.
*

The Deputy Mayor attends Council meetings in the capacity as Acting Mayor when the Mayor is absent and also participates in the Local Disaster 		
Management Group meetings and is the Alternate Director for the South East Queensland Council of Mayors.

**

Denotes Chairperson

***

Denotes Deputy Chairperson
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Table 8: Mayoral attendance at Council and special meetings, 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019

Meeting

Number held

Number attended

Council

18

18

Special Council (Budget Adoption)

1

1

Special Budget and Finance Committee

5

4*

24

23

Subtotal
Note: *The Mayor was overseas and recorded as an apology for one of the five meeting dates.

Table 9: Mayoral attendance at other committee meetings, 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019

Meeting

Number attended

Transport and Infrastructure Committee

3

Water and Waste Committee

0

Economy, Planning and Environment Committee

1

Lifestyle and Community Committee

0

Events, Tourism and Governance Committee

0

Subtotal

4

Total of all Mayoral attendance

27

Note: While the Mayor is a member of all committees, he will attend only those meetings that specifically require Mayoral attendance.
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3.1.4 Councillor conduct

On 3 December 2018, state government legislative changes came into effect which altered the ways that Councillor conduct and
complaints are managed in Queensland. The annual reporting requirements for Councillor conduct were also changed.

Local Government provisions 1 July 2018 to 2 December 2018
The Local Government Act 2009 (the Act) provides a framework for assessing complaints about Councillor conduct. Each complaint
is assessed to determine whether it is about misconduct, inappropriate conduct, corrupt conduct or another matter. If the complaint
is not frivolous, vexatious or lacking in substance, it is then referred to the appropriate individual, panel or tribunal for further action.
Complaints and orders about Councillors during the financial year are shown in the table below as required by sections 186(e) and
(f) of the Local Government Regulation 2012 (the Regulation). Section 186(e) of the Regulation requires that the annual report must
include the name of each Councillor for whom an order was made, a description and a summary of the order or recommendation
made for the misconduct or inappropriate conduct engaged in.

Table 10: Orders and complaints about Councillors made 1 July 2018 to 2 December 2018

Section of the Local Government Act

Type of order/complaint

Number (1)

180(2) and (4)

Orders and recommendations made about misconduct

1

181

Orders made for inappropriate conduct

0

176C(2)

Complaints about councillor conduct or performance for which no further action was taken

0

176C(3)(a)(i)

Complaints referred to the department’s Chief Executive about inappropriate conduct by
the Mayor or Deputy Mayor

1

176C(3)(a)(ii) or (b)(i)

Complaints referred to the Mayor about inappropriate conduct by a councillor other than
the Mayor or Deputy Mayor

0

176C(4)(a)

Complaints about misconduct referred to the department's Chief Executive Officer

0

176C(4)(b)

Complaints about misconduct referred to the regional conduct review panel or the tribunal

1

176C(5)

Complaints assessed by the Chief Executive Officer as being about corrupt conduct

0

176C(6)

Complaints about another matter

0

(1) The table above refers to one complaint for the specified period. The Council’s preliminary assessment determined the complaint against Mayor Tom Tate was about
inappropriate conduct. The Council’s Acting Chief Executive Officer referred the complaint to the Department of Local Government, Racing and Multicultural Affairs (the
Department) as being about inappropriate conduct. The Department’s Chief Executive, on further assessment, determined the complaint was about misconduct rather
than inappropriate conduct, and referred the complaint to the Local Government Remuneration and Discipline Tribunal (the Tribunal).

Table 11: Summary of Councillor Conduct decisions, orders and recommendations 1 July 2018 to 2 December 2018

Name of Councillor

Description of conduct

Summary of the decision, orders and recommendations

Mayor Tom Tate

It was alleged that the Councillor
engaged in misconduct when
the conduct was, or involved, the
performance of the Councillor’s
responsibilities or the exercise
of the Councillor’s powers in a
way that was not honest or was
not impartial when he posted
comments on his Facebook page
on 1 March 2018 and 2 March 2018
about the Council’s funding of
another Councillor’s MBA
study program.

That the allegation that on a date or dates between 26
February 2018 and 7 March 2018, Cr Tom Tate, the Mayor and
Councillor of the City of Gold Coast, engaged in misconduct as
defined in section 176(3)(b) of the Act in that his conduct was,
or involved, the performance of the Councillor’s responsibilities
or the exercise of the Councillor’s powers in a way that was not
honest or was not impartial when he posted comments on his
Facebook page on 1 March 2018 and 2 March 2018 about the
Council’s funding of Cr Glenn Tozer’s MBA study program has
been sustained.
Pursuant to section 180(5)(a) of the Act that Cr Tate attend
counselling conducted by Departmental Capacity Building
Officers, about his misconduct and how not to repeat it,
with a specific focus on the appropriate use of social media
by Councillors.
Pursuant to section 180(5)(j) of the Act that Cr Tate pay to the
local council an amount of $1,250 to be paid within 30 days of
receipt of advice of the Order.
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Local Government provisions 3 December 2018 to 30 June 2019
The City is required, in accordance with section 186(1)(d) to (f) of the Regulation, to record the Councillor conduct complaints,
referrals, decisions, orders and recommendations during the financial year. This information is provided in the below tables. Chapter
5A of the Act provides a framework for the conduct of Councillors, including their conduct at local government meetings that does
not meet appropriate standards of behaviour, which is generally to be dealt with by the chairpersons of the meeting. Complaints
about the conduct of Councillors are to be made, or referred, to the Independent Assessor for investigation. The Assessor, after
investigating a Councillor’s conduct, may refer the suspected inappropriate conduct of a Councillor to the local government to be
dealt with, or may apply to the conduct tribunal to decide whether the Councillor engaged in misconduct. If the Conduct Tribunal
decides the Councillor engaged in misconduct, they must determine the action to be taken, if any, to discipline the Councillor.
Where the complaint about Councillor conduct is about suspected corrupt conduct, under the Crime and Corruption Act 2001, the
assessor is to notify the Crime and Corruption Commission about the suspected corrupt conduct.

Table 12: Number of Councillor Conduct orders and disciplinary actions 3 December 2018 to 30 June 2019

Subsection of the Local Government Act

Description

Number

150I(2)

Chairperson makes an order for unsuitable meeting conduct

0

150AH(1)

Disciplinary action against a councillor for inappropriate conduct

0

150AR(1)

Disciplinary action against a councillor for misconduct

0

Table 13: Summary of Councillor Conduct decisions, orders and recommendations 3 December 2018 to 30 June 2019

Name of Councillor

Description of conduct

Nil

Nil

Summary of the decision, orders and
recommendations
Nil

Table 14: Number of Councillor Conduct complaints, notices and referrals 3 December 2018 to 30 June 2019

Subsection of the Local Government Act

Description

Number

150P(2)(a)

Complaints referred to the assessor by the local government

1

150P(3)

Matters referred to the Crime and Corruption Commission by the local government

0

150R(2)

Notices given by the CEO or a Councillor to the assessor about a
councillor’s conduct (1)

9

150S(2)(a)

Notices of misconduct given to the assessor by the local government

0

150W(a),(b),(d)

Decisions by the assessor to dismiss, refer to the local government or take no
further action (2)

150AC(3)(a)

Occasions where referral notices from the assessor recommend conduct should be
referred to another agency for consideration

3

150AF(4)(a)

Occasions where information about misconduct is obtained by the local government
during investigation that is given to the assessor

0

Chapter 5A, part 3, division 5

Occasions where the local government asked another entity to investigate suspected
inappropriate conduct of a councillor

4

Chapter 5A, part 3, division 6

Applications heard by the conduct tribunal about the alleged misconduct of
a councillor

0

83

(1) The number of Councillor conduct notices given by local government officials to the assessor that are known to the local government.
(2) Some matters have been investigated as a single complaint, and recorded in the Councillor Conduct Register as a single decision, although, the complaint may
have been made.
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3.1.5 Mayor and Councillor remuneration

As required by section 186(a) of the Regulation, the total remuneration paid to the Mayor and Councillors for the financial year is
shown in the table below. This remuneration is determined independently by the Local Government Remuneration and Discipline
Tribunal (the Tribunal). Superannuation contributions of up to 12 per cent are made on behalf of Councillors in accordance with the
terms of the Local Government Investment Australia (LGIA) Superannuation Scheme. Under this scheme, Councillors may elect not
to make an after tax contribution to superannuation. In such cases, they receive a basic contribution of 9.5%.

Table 15: Mayor and Councillor remuneration

Councillor

Division

Annual salary ($)

Superannuation ($)

Total $

Mayor Tom Tate

-

247,802.00

29,731.00

277,533.00

Deputy Mayor Cr Donna Gates

1

171,863.00

20,620.00

192,483.00

Cr William Owen-Jones

2

147,881.00

17,743.00

165,624.00

Cr Cameron Caldwell

3

147,881.00

17,743.00

165,624.00

Cr Kristyn Boulton

4

147,881.00

14,046.45

161,927.45

Cr Peter Young

5

147,881.00

17,743.00

165,624.00

Cr Dawn Crichlow

6

147,881.00

14,046.00

161,927.00

Cr Gary Baildon

7

147,881.00

14,046.00

161,927.00

Cr Bob La Castra

8

147,881.00

17,743.00

165,624.00

Cr Glenn Tozer

9

147,881.00

17,743.00

165,624.00

Cr Paul Taylor

10

147,881.00

17,743.00

165,624.00

Cr Hermann Vorster

11

147,881.00

17,743.00

165,624.00

Cr Pauline Young

12

147,881.00

17,743.00

165,624.00

Cr Daphne McDonald

13

147,881.00

17,743.00

165,624.00

Cr Gail O’Neill

14

147,881.00

17,743.00

165,624.00

2,342,118.00

269,919.45

2,612,037.45

Total
Note: Cr Boulton, Cr Crichlow and Cr Baildon received superannuation of 9.5%.
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3.1.6 Mayor and Councillor expenses and facilities

The City has an Expenses Reimbursement and Provision of Facilities for Mayor and Councillors Policy as required by section 250
of the Regulation. This policy details the facilities to be provided to Councillors and how the reasonable expenses incurred or to be
incurred, by Councillors discharging their duties and responsibilities are reimbursed. The policy is published under the Publication
Scheme on the City website. This policy was reviewed and amendments were made and adopted by Council on 7 December 2018.

Table 16: Mayor and Councillor expenses and facilities

Conferences
and training ($)

Printing and
stationery ($)

Mobile phone ($)

Total $

-

0.00

2,836.17

3,284.81

6,120.98

Deputy Mayor Cr Donna Gates

1

0.00

3,891.71

783.56

4,675.27

Cr William Owen-Jones

2

0.00

3,936.40

0.00*

3,936.40

Cr Cameron Caldwell

3

0.00

3,978.49

640.63**

4,619.12

Cr Kristyn Boulton

4

0.00

3,944.78

911.59

4,856.37

Cr Peter Young

5

0.00

554.37

995.81

1,550.18

Cr Dawn Crichlow

6

0.00

2,992.44

1,055.65

4,048.09

Cr Gary Baildon

7

0.00

3,258.60

879.05

4,137.65

Cr Bob La Castra

8

0.00

232.73

903.94

1,136.67

Cr Glenn Tozer

9

0.00

1,089.37

767.64

1,857.01

Cr Paul Taylor

10

0.00

3,462.66

763.56

4,226.22

Cr Hermann Vorster

11

0.00

2,126.35

845.78

2,972.13

Cr Pauline Young

12

0.00

3,875.09

763.56

4,638.65

Cr Daphne McDonald

13

3,520.00

4,080.00

764.24

8,364.24

Cr Gail O’Neill

14

0.00

2,952.33

871.06

3,823.39

3,520.00

43,211.49

14,230.88

60,962.37

Councillor

Division

Mayor Tom Tate

Total
Note: Mobile phone expenses are excluding GST.

*Cr Owen-Jones claimed no reimbursement for a personally owned mobile device.
**Cr Caldwell opted for a personally owned mobile device with 50 per cent of the costs reimbursed.

View the City of Gold Coast Expenses Reimbursement and
Provision of Facilities for Mayor and Councillors Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/reimbursementpolicy
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3.1.7 Mayor and Councillor incidental expenses

The City provides an allocation to the Mayor and Councillors for incidental expenses incurred in performing their role. Incidental
expenses are governed by the Expenses Reimbursement and Provision of Facilities for Mayor and Councillors Policy. Alternatively,
Councillors can choose to seek reimbursement for each incidental expense as the expense is incurred. Any expenditure over and
above the annual allocation of $5500 for Councillors, $9000 for the Deputy Mayor, $8000 for the Committee Chairs and $23,000
for the Mayor is personally funded.

Table 17: Mayor and Councillor incidental expenses

Councillor

Division

Allocation $

Spent $

Reimbursed

Mayor Tom Tate

-

23,000.00

15,296.57

7,703.43

Deputy Mayor Cr Donna Gates

1

9,000.00

4,725.21

4,274.79

Cr William Owen-Jones

2

5,500.00

0.00

5,500.00

Cr Cameron Caldwell

3

8,000.00

6,865.95

1,134.05

Cr Kristyn Boulton

4

5,500.00

5,396.80

103.20

Cr Peter Young

5

5,500.00

2,386.10

3,113.90

Cr Dawn Crichlow

6

5,000.00

5,000.00

0.00

Cr Gary Baildon*

7

0.00

1,452.98

0.00

Cr Bob La Castra

8

8,000.00

1,602.92

6,397.08

Cr Glenn Tozer

9

5,500.00

5,500.00

0.00

Cr Paul Taylor

10

8,000.00

3,665.54

4,334.46

Cr Hermann Vorster*

11

0.00

6,973.76

0.00

Cr Pauline Young

12

8,000.00

5,787.90

2,212.10

Cr Daphne McDonald

13

5,500.00

4,828.43

671.57

Cr Gail O’Neill

14

5,500.00

4,884.31

615.69

102,000.00

74,366.47

36,060.27

Total

Note: *Cr Baildon and Cr Vorster elected to be reimbursed for each incidental expense as the expense was incurred; therefore the allocation amount was not placed into
their account.
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3.1.8 Mayor and Councillor travel

Domestic travel
Domestic travel expenses were incurred by Councillors in an official capacity, during the financial year. The details are shown in the
table below.
Table 18: Mayor and Councillor domestic travel details

Councillor
Cr Daphne McDonald

Date From
5/09/18

Date To
8/09/18

Destination

Purpose

Ingham

Australian Local Government Women’s Association
(ALGWA) QLD State Conference

1,512

1,784

2,008

Mayor Tom Tate

22/10/18

23/10/18

Sydney

Business meetings with Greenland (Australia)
Investment and Westfield. Market sounding to
further investigate low wash capability ferries
currently operating from Circular Quay

Cr Daphne McDonald

15/05/19

19/05/19

Blacktown

2019 National ALGWA Conference

Total

Total $

5,304

Note: Total cost includes car hire, taxis, flights, accommodation and conference fees.

Overseas travel
International travel expenses were incurred by Councillors in an official capacity, during the financial year. As prescribed by
section 188 of the Regulation, the details are shown in the table below.
Table 19: Mayor and Councillor overseas travel details

Councillor

Date From

Date To

Destination

Purpose

Total $

Mayor Tom Tate

2/09/18

17/09/18

China/
Thailand/
Vietnam/
Hong Kong

Mayoral Mission to Asia including Taipei, Chengdu,
Phuket, Ho Chi Minh City, Hanoi and Hong Kong

14,046

Business meetings in Bangkok to support Gold
Coast Airport's efforts in securing additional direct
flights. Government meeting in Vientiane.
Note: Flights self-funded

1,833

Mayor Tom Tate

9/12/18

13/12/18

Thailand/
Laos

Mayor Tom Tate

27/02/19

10/03/19

Singapore/
Indonesia

Trade 2018 follow up meetings in Singapore and
keynote speaker at Australian-Eastern Indonesia
Tourism Forum in Makassar

9,384

Mayor Tom Tate

16/05/19

22/05/19

China/
Vietnam

Mayoral Mission to Chengdu, Ho Chi Minh City
and Da Nang

9,536

Total

34,799
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3.1.9 Community assistance

The City actively assists not-for-profit community based organisations to implement projects and activities which benefit Gold Coast
residents. In 2018–19 Council allocated a total of $4,051,737 to support community-based organisations and activities.
In accordance with section 189(a) and (b) of the Regulation a summary of all allocations to community organisations for the financial
year is shown in the table below.

Table 20: Community assistance program allocations

Program

Number of allocations

Amount allocated $

Mayor and divisional donations 2018 –19*

462

616,012

Community Grants Program

149

780,250

Local community events

210

874,444

1

5,000

Community Facility Contributions Program

55

1,515,684

One-off donations

35

260,347

912

4,051,737

Local promotions

Total
Note: * Recipients and purpose of Mayoral and Divisional Donations are listed in Appendix 5.1.

3.1.10 Beneficial enterprises

The City actively engages with entities through partnering or collaborative arrangements to achieve mutually beneficial outcomes for
the Gold Coast. In accordance with section 41 of the Act, a list of beneficial enterprises conducted during the financial year is shown
in Appendix 5.2.
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3.1.11 Discounts and concessions

Council of the City of Gold Coast grants a range of discounts and concessions for rates and charges to assist the community
(subject to conditions). In accordance with section 190 of the Regulation the concessions available for rates and charges during the
financial year are shown below.
Debt Recovery Policy: Concessions may be granted to ratepayers in the form of a deferral for payment of rates through a payment
arrangement facility. Information is available about appropriate government concession programs for ratepayers who are unable to
enter into any form of payment arrangement.
Deferral of Rates Policy: Eligible pensioner ratepayers and Queensland Seniors Card holders can defer payment of part of their
general rates for their principal place of residence, provided the general rate is more than the set minimum amount. Ratepayers can
apply to pay their rates and charges by instalment, on terms consistent with the Council policy.
Pensioner Rates Rebate Policy: Eligible pensioners receive a rates rebate for their principal place of residence. A range of
concessions, including the registration of dogs and entry to City owned swimming pools, is also provided for eligible pensioners.
Rate Donation, Infrastructure Charges and Development Application Fee Discount Policy: Eligible non-profit community-based
entities receive a rates concession and infrastructure charges and development application fee discounts when within
approved categories.
Voluntary Conservation Agreement Policy: Eligible ratepayers receive a rates concession for that part of their property reserved for
the preservation of significant native flora and fauna and ecological communities.
Waste Disposal Fee Concession Policy: This policy provides guidance on eligibility for waste disposal fee concessions at City
waste and recycling centres.
Water and Sewage Leakage Relief Policy: Ratepayers can apply for relief from water consumption charges and volumetric
sewage charges attributable to a concealed leak.
Concession for Water Consumption Charges due to Renal Dialysis Patients Dialysing at Home Policy: Relief from water
consumption charges is provided for renal dialysis patients dialysing at home.
Water Usage for Genuine Fire Emergencies Policy: Ratepayers can apply for relief from water consumption charges and
volumetric sewage charges attributable to responding to a genuine fire emergency.

Find a full list of policies
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/ourpolicies
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// SWELL Sculpture Festival, Currumbin Beach.
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3.2 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

• effective performance management to support
responsible, transparent and accountable government

Community
value and
outcomes
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• efficient resource allocation to ensure the best use is
made of limited resources
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• robust organisational foundations (internal control
mechanisms) to ensure legislative compliance and to
support the delivery of priorities.
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so
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• the integration of organisational planning to support the
delivery of organisational objectives and financial stability
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The City’s Corporate Governance Framework provides the
foundation for effective decision making, sound management
and clear accountability through continuous improvement
across four areas:

al

Figure 13: The Corporate Governance Framework
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Corporate governance involves the control and management
of an organisation to achieve its objectives. It encompasses
decision making and implementation, optimisation of
performance and how the organisation is directed, reviewed
and held to account.
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Key elements of the City’s corporate governance arrangements are included in the table below.
Table 21: Key elements of the City’s corporate governance arrangements

Element

Description

Executive Leadership Team (ELT)

Provides leadership and support for delivery of strategic priorities and direction of operational business

Business Improvement
Governance Committee

Coordinates the City’s business improvements across functional and organisational boundaries ensuring
a whole of organisation view is taken on business change

Corporate Activity Framework

Provides a consistent approach to the management of corporate activities, including strategies,
infrastructure, policies and programs and projects as well as associated benefits

Effective management and
development of the workforce

Supported by ‘Our Shared Values’ that guide day-to-day working

Active community engagement

To inform city direction and decision making

Commitment to the health and
safety of the workforce

Ensures that ‘Work, Health and Safety is everyone’s business’

A robust control environment

Supported by key functions including Workplace Health and Safety, Risk Management,
Legal Services, Complaints, Performance Management, Cyber Resilience, Integrity and
Ethical Standards and Corporate Assurance

City’s Audit Committee

To promote good corporate governance through the provision of independent assurance,
oversight and advice

Council policies to
ensure compliance with
statutory obligations

Including the following policies: Code of Conduct; Work Health and Safety; Fraud and Corruption
Control; Whistleblowers (Public Interest Disclosure); Information Management and Information Privacy;
Right to Information and Information Provision and Information Security

The City’s Corporate Plan – Gold Coast 2022, identifies the key role of effective corporate governance in the implementation of the
plan through three supporting themes:

PLAN

MANAGE

ENGAGE

A We plan for the future of the city:
this describes the functions and
activities that support short, medium
and longer term planning for the city.

B We manage the city responsibly:
this describes the functions and
activities that support day to day
City management and the delivery
of City services to the community.

C We actively engage residents,
customers and visitors:
this describes the City’s principles
and approach to engagement.
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3.2.1 Planning for the future of the City
3.2.1.1 City Vision
Our City Vision ‘Inspired by lifestyle, Driven by opportunity’ informs all strategic planning for the city supported by Gold Coast 2022
which provides clear direction on our City priorities and programs of work.
Key influences and contributors to city planning are shown in the figure below.

Figure 14: Key influences on planning for the city

Queensland Plan
Providing a 30-year
vision, where Queensland
will be home to vibrant
and prosperous
communities.

City Plan
Innovating to manage
long-term growth and
support local economic
foundations for the city.

Gold Coast 2022
Supporting the delivery
of the City Vision
through three themes
– Place, Prosperity and
People.

Gold Coast
Effective 1 July 2017

Community
Engagement
Engaging the community
to generate ideas and
opportunities to inform
the city’s future.

The Queensland Plan
Queenslanders’ 30-year vision

Culture Strategy 2023
Fostering the energy
and vision of local artists
and creative industries to
promote the Gold Coast’s
distinct and enviable cultural
identity and lifestyle.

OUR CITY VISION

Inspired by
lifestyle.
Driven by
opportunity.

Culture Strategy 2023

Our Natural City Strategy

Our Natural City Strategy
Protecting our natural
environment and
recognising its significant
value to our economy
and lifestyle.

Solid Waste Strategy 2024
Gold Coast City
Transport Strategy
2031•
Technical Report

Solid Waste Strategy 2024
Engaging the city in positive
waste behaviours, such
as waste avoidance,
re-use and recycling to
minimise the impact on the
environment.
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Ocean Beaches Strategy
2013–2023
Version 1.0 August 2013

Ocean Beaches
Strategy 2013–2023
Managing the city’s
spectacular ocean
beaches and their
importance to the city’s
economy and liveability.

Economic Development
Strategy 2013–2023
Creating a city recognised
for its talented people and
innovation, making it an
international location of
choice for businesses
and residents.

Gold Coast City
Transport Strategy 2031
Changing the way we move
around the city by managing
road space, investing in
cycling and walking, and
improving public transport.
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The City’s Corporate Planning and Budget process aims to increase the integration of strategic and operational annual planning;
improve information available for resource allocation decisions and optimise investment. An integrated approach to planning for the
City considers the development of long, medium and short term strategies and plans as shown in the figure below.

Figure 15: Integrated planning for the city

City Strategies

Gold Coast 2020

City Plan

Total Asset
Management Plan

Long Term
Financial Forecast

City Contracting
Plan

Annual Plan

City Operational
Plan

City Budget

3.2.1.2 Gold Coast 2022 and City strategies
Gold Coast 2022 was adopted by Council, effective from 1 July 2017. It recognises that our wellbeing depends on a combination
of economic, social and environmental factors.
Gold Coast 2022 is built around three themes:
• The best PLACE to live, visit and stay which describes the development of the city and options for city living.
• PROSPERITY built on a strong diverse economy which describes the city’s business sector, reputation
and employment opportunities.
• PEOPLE contribute to a strong community spirit which describes the city’s culture and community.
Key City strategies have been identified by the City to support the implementation of the City Vision and Gold Coast 2022.
These support the transformation of the city in key areas such as transport and economic development over the medium to longer
term (see Figure 14 for details of current strategies).
Gold Coast 2022 also supports the implementation of the Queensland Plan (2014), which provides a 30-year vision for Queensland,
see section 3.2.2.20.

View Gold Coast 2022
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/goldcoast2022
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// Surfers Paradise to Main Beach.

// G:Link, Sundale Bridge, Southport.

3.2.1.3 City Plan

3.2.1.4 Asset management

The City Plan (commenced 2 February 2016) sets out a fresh
and innovative approach to managing and supporting long
term growth and is a crucial tool in shaping the Gold Coast into
a mature, world class city.

The City has a large and diverse infrastructure asset base
that enables delivery of a wide range of infrastructure based
services to the community. Asset management planning has
highlighted that most of our assets are in good condition as
we are a young city and have invested in infrastructure renewal
over many years.

The City Plan continues to represent a major shift from
development on the city’s fringe to redevelopment of urban
centres and key inner city neighbourhoods. This will achieve
an orderly and economically efficient settlement pattern and
ensure our existing non urban areas, places like the hinterland
ranges and foothills are protected.
To ensure the City Plan continues to reflect community
aspirations and responds to emerging opportunities a rolling
program of updates has commenced with the first major
planning scheme update package taking effect in
September 2018.
On 27 June 2018, the City also adopted a Local Government
Infrastructure Plan (LGIP), which is a component of the City
Plan. The LGIP outlines the City’s vision for trunk infrastructure
services including water supply, sewerage, public parks and
land for community facilities, and transport networks, which will
meet the needs of our growing community. The LGIP identifies
where required trunk infrastructure will be delivered, when it
will be delivered and how it will be delivered over the next 15
years to ensure that infrastructure is provided in an efficient,
coordinated and financially sustainable way that protects
our enviable lifestyle. Following approval from the State
Government during 2018–19, the LGIP Stormwater quality
amendment has been included in the LGIP and commenced
on 1 July 2019.

View the City Plan
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/cityplan
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While legislative requirements of section 104 of the Act have
been one driver for having asset management plans, the City
recognises that it is good management practice to use asset
management plans to sustainably manage infrastructure
assets, supporting the longer term financial sustainability
of the city.
Asset management plans are updated annually in order
to inform the budget process and are integrated with
the long term financial forecast. The outputs of the asset
management plans are summarised into the overarching
Total Asset Management Plan, which Council adopts
annually in conjunction with adoption of the budget. The Total
Asset Management Plan provides information on the City’s
infrastructure assets, including the scale of the asset base
and the types of assets managed by the City.
An Asset Management Improvement Program also continues
to drive incremental improvements in asset management
practices across the organisation.
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// The City's Modern Workspace Program will support a modern, mobile
and ICT enabled workforce.

3.2.1.5 Information and communication technology
The City’s major Information and Communication Technology
(ICT) Transformation Program is close to completion. Approved
by Council in October 2015 it has delivered a wide range of
benefits to the City and the city’s residents, including online
customer self-service and electronic application lodgement.
The ICT Transformation Program also completed outsourcing
management of the ICT environment to a managed service
provider in June 2016. Having completed three years of the
five year outsourcing contract arrangement by the conclusion
of 2018–19, the City will undertake a review in 2019–20 that
will consider the level of services received with the current
ICT managed service provider, as well as changes in the ICT
industry and market place, to shape future sourcing options
to get the best value ICT services for the City and residents
going forward.
Phase two of the Cyber Resilience Program began delivery
in 2018–19 and when completed early in 2019–20 will
have delivered: cloud application and cloud email security;
extended cyber threat monitoring and detection to cover the
City’s industrial networks; cyber specific governance and
architectures; and inter-network security. Phase three will
commence in 2019–20 and will deliver further improvements to
the City’s ICT environment including ICT Firewall replacement,
enhanced user and application (machine) remote access
security. The program will also commission a third party review
of the City’s Cyber Security posture and maturity to help plan
future investment.
Planning for the City’s Modern Workplace Program was close
to completion at the end of 2018–19. The Program’s objective
is to deliver capabilities that support a modern, mobile and
ICT enabled workforce. The 2019–20 year will see the Modern
Workplace Program implement Windows 10 and Office 365
across the City’s entire PC fleet. This will offer opportunities to
enable the City’s employees and service providers to operate
more collaboratively and securely through these technology
improvements and will also facilitate increased flexibility in
future accommodation and facilities options. The Modern
Workspace Program will also commence detailed planning and
implementation of a new electronic Document and Records

// Gold Coast Innovation Hub, Robina.

Management system (eDRMs) including migration of in excess
of 74 million records and make much needed improvements to
the tools used for information management and record keeping
of these and future records.
The City’s ICT Portfolio for 2019–20 will include planning for
future investment in key enterprise platforms including SAP
(procurement, finance and asset management); water billing
and management and the City’s website.

3.2.1.6 Digital city
In 2017–18 the Digital City Program completed the delivery
of the fibre optic cabling network connecting Helensvale to
Coolangatta (utilising the light rail corridor from Helensvale
to Broadbeach) and providing fast free public Wi-Fi at a
number of libraries and parks along the route. In August 2018,
Council approved an additional $10 million for the expansion
of the fibre optic cabling network via the Central Loop, which
will establish a 10Gbps network for over half of the City’s
operations centres and offices.
In 2018–19 contracts have been executed to the value of
$1,736,701 and savings of $1 million have been defined, for
realisation from May 2021. In addition, the fibre optic cabling
and Wi-Fi networks have been expanded to connect all City
libraries, and support over 8000 Wi-Fi users a day, including
many students and international visitors.
Australia’s largest Internet of Things (IoT) network has been
built, and the deployment of the first 500 smart water meters,
using this network, is in delivery. Process automation trials
have realised an immediate two per cent efficiency dividend,
freeing up over 14 days per month in the Corporate Finance
Branch. A detailed business case is being developed for further
deployment of automation tools.
The cloud computing platform is being used to deliver new
car parking and flood modelling systems. The platform is
also being developed to deliver complex systems and data
integration projects across land-use planning, water and
a number of other City branches, realising financial and
operational benefits worth millions of dollars.
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3.2.1.7 Risk management
Enterprise risk management
The City’s risk management vision is ‘creating excellence in
risk, work health and safety, corporate security and business
continuity management’. The objectives are managing
risk exposure, consistently and systematically to maximise
community outcomes. This effectively leverages the benefit
of opportunities, manages uncertainty, builds organisational
resilience and minimises the impact of adverse events.
Key goals include identifying and managing risk exposures
and opportunities and implementing risk management process
improvements; achieving the highest levels of Work Health
and Safety (WHS) performance through the systematic
elimination or reduction of risks; providing safeguards across
the organisation that are consistent and appropriate to the
level of security threats; and building and maintaining
organisational resilience.
Risk management at the City is governed by the Enterprise
Risk Management Framework which is integral to the City’s
overarching Corporate Governance Framework. The City’s
approach is aligned with AS/NZS ISO 31000:2018 Risk
Management and is tailored to the specific business and the
organisational context of the City.

The framework provides procedures, systems, policies and
strategies that focus on effective risk management leadership
through engagement and consultation.
In addition to ongoing risk reviews at an organisational and
local level, the Executive Leadership Team participates in
an annual Emerging Issues and Risk Workshop to review
the corporate risk profiles and ensure risks are managed
effectively to a level as low as is reasonably practicable taking
into consideration emerging issues, global trends, threats
and opportunities. Risks are also reviewed regularly through
engagement of the Risk Management Advisory Committee,
the Work Health and Safety Advisory Committee and the Audit
Committee. These committees support good governance
through consultation and engagement with independent
external advisory committee members, Councillors, directors,
managers and personnel throughout the City.
By identifying and actively managing key enterprise risks and
with the implementation of numerous risk mitigation strategies,
business continuity plans, incident management protocols,
inspections and audits, security plans and work health and
safety initiatives, the City is well equipped to ensure that risks
are managed to a level as low as is reasonably practicable
while optimising opportunities.

Figure 16: Risk management corporate alignment

Risk Reporting Structure

Executive Leadership Team

Corporate Safety and
Risk Branch

Corporate Governance Framework

Audit Committee
Enterprise Risk
Management Framework

Work Health and Safety
Advisory Committee
Risk Management
Advisory Committee

Enterprise Risk
Management Policy

Work Health and
Safety Policy

[AS/NZS 31000:2018]

[AS/NZS 4804:2001]

Corporate Security Policy
[Australian Government Protective
Security Policy Framework 2016]

Enterprise Risk Management Manual
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Business Continuity and Internal
Incident Management Policy
[AS/NZS 5050:2010]
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Corporate security
The Corporate Security Framework and Policy have been developed to provide safeguards across the organisation that are
consistent and appropriate to the nature and level of security threats, to protect the City's people, assets, information, image,
infrastructure, facilities and continuity of business.
The framework aligns to the Australian Government Attorney-General’s ‘Protective Security Policy Framework’ for government
organisations and the resulting Corporate Security Policy and standards have been established to ensure a consistent risk-based
level of governance and protection for the City's people, assets and information including cyber threats.
In order to achieve effective protection of people, assets and information, the City has developed a comprehensive understanding
of the organisation and security risks. Key elements have included an increase in awareness through the City's General Security
Awareness eLearning program plus establishing closer relationships with the Queensland Police Service and its Security and Counter
Terrorism Command. During 2018–19, the City increased its capacity to undertake vulnerability assessments of assets including
places of mass gathering and active armed offender risks, protective security risk reviews and the development and implementation
of strategies that promote the most effective and efficient mechanisms to secure the continued delivery of the City’s business while
maintaining a high level of confidence that security risks are effectively managed. The City also engages external expert security
consultants to ensure that the approach to security risk management is both effective and consistent with current knowledge and
practices while considering emerging risks.

3.2.1.8 Procurement
City Contracting Plan
The City Contracting Plan identifies all contracting activities (contract type, principles and strategies for performing the contract,
market assessment for each type of contract, significant contracts, sourcing method, time to market and contract duration) for the
current financial year. It is developed as part of the annual planning and budget process and supports the strategic objectives of the
City. The City Contracting Plan is a legislative requirement (section 220 of the Regulation) and is adopted by Council following
budget adoption.

Invitation to change tenders
Section 190(e) of the Regulation requires details to be provided on the number of invitations to change tenders under section 228(7).
Council resolved (ex Minute GA16.0602.007) that from 1 July 2016 it will operate under Part 2 Chapter 6 of the Regulation (Strategic
Contracting Procedures), where there is no longer a requirement to invite changes to tenders under section 228(7).

View the 2018–19 City Contracting Plan
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/contractingplan
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3.2.1.9 Annual Plan
The Annual Plan supports the implementation of Gold Coast 2022 and is adopted by Council in June of each year. This plan is
developed via the City’s Corporate Planning and Budget process, which supports the development of key investment portfolios
(such as infrastructure and business improvement) which are finalised as part of the delivery of the Annual Plan.
The Annual Plan provides an overview of the City Budget, the City Operational Plan (including the performance plans for the City’s
two commercialised business units – Gold Coast Water and Gold Coast Waste Management) and the priorities for the year ahead.
It is presented in three parts, as shown in the figure below.
A review of performance of the City Operational Plan can be found in section 3.2.2.20. A review of performance plans are located
in the Annual Operations Reports for each commercialised business unit (section 3.3 Gold Coast Water and section 3.4 Gold Coast
Waste Management).

Figure 17: The Annual Plan structure

Annual Plan

Supporting documents
City Budget

City Operational Plan

A balanced budget with a sustainable
long term financial outlook.

Delivering the City Vision through
our programs and services.

View the 2018–19 Annual Plan and City Budget
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/annualplan
82

including:
financial statements and policies.
Performance plans for
commercialised business units.
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3.2.2 Managing the City responsibly
3.2.2.1 Our organisation
The organisational structure is shown in the figure below and supports the City to make responsible, accountable decisions,
supported by expert advice, with assurance provided by internal and external audit services. This supports the City to meet its
responsibilities for service delivery to the community and provide value for money to ratepayers.
The organisational structure of the City is the responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and is endorsed by Council. The CEO
is responsible directly to the Council for the administration of the organisation. The City’s organisational functions and associated
services are delivered through seven directorates.

Figure 18: Organisational structure, 30 June 2019

Office of the Chief Executive Officer
Office of the CEO

Chief Executive Officer
Dale Dickson

Office of the City Architect

Chief Operating Officer
Joe McCabe
Office of the Chief Operating Officer
City Solicitor (Legal Services)
Corporate Asset Management
Corporate Assurance (Internal Audit)
Corporate Communication
Corporate Finance
Corporate Planning and Performance
Corporate Safety and Risk
City Events
Office of the Mayor

Director
Lifestyle and
Community

Director
Transport and
Infrastructure

Director
Water and
Waste

Director
Organisational
Services

Director
Economy, Planning
and Environment

Alison Ewens

Alton Twine

Paul Heaton

Glen Potter

Alisha Swain

Arts and Culture

Business and Program
Management

Asset Solutions

Business Innovation and
Technology Services

Business Support

Business Performance

Community Venues and
Services

City Assets

Customer Engagement

City Procurement

City Planning

City Maintenance

Network Reliability

Customer Contact

Health, Regulatory and
Lifeguard Services

Infrastructure Delivery

Service Sustainability

Fleet

Office of Innovation
and Economy

Transport and Traffic

Strategy and Innovation

People and Culture

System Control

Property Services

City Libraries

Parks and Recreational
Services
Safe and Liveable
Communities

City Development

Revenue Services

3.2.2.2 Organisational changes
No changes to the organisational structure were adopted during 2018–19.

83

CITY OF GOLD COAST ANNUAL REPORT 2018–19

// Whale passing by Snapper Rocks, Coolangatta.
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3.2.2.3 Executive Leadership Team
The Executive Leadership Team (ELT) provides clear and consistent leadership and decision making, which supports the delivery of
the strategic priorities and direction of operational business for the City. This team is led by the Chief Executive Officer, and includes
the Chief Operating Officer and five directors. Details on each director and key areas of responsibility are as follows:

CHIEF E XECUTIVE OFFICER
DALE DICKSON PSM
BBus, GradDipMgt, MPPM

Appointed: July 2003

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for managing the
City’s administration, focusing on:
• effective, efficient and economical management of
public resources and excellence in service delivery and
continuous improvement
• managing employees and promoting equal employment
opportunity and work health and safety
• providing the Mayor and Councillors with advice to assist
them in carrying out their duties and implementing Council
decisions and priorities.

In practical terms, this involves:
• leading the development of the annual draft City Budget
and financial overview for presentation to the Mayor
• driving key strategic agendas
• the ongoing review of City functions and services
• meeting with key City stakeholders and government
partners to negotiate and progress significant
City opportunities
• the identification and mitigation of major strategic risks
• representing the City on the City of Gold Coast
Insurance Company Board
• ensuring the City’s Corporate Governance Framework
and components are fit-for-purpose and effective.
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CHIEF
O PE R AT I N G
OFFICER

D I R E C TO R ,
LIFEST YLE
AND COMMUNIT Y

D I R E C TO R ,
TRANSPORT
AND INFR ASTRUCTURE

JOE MCCABE

ALISON E WENS

ALTON T WINE

BBus (Public Administration), GAICD

MSc, BSocWk, PGCert (Disaster
Mgmt), PGDip (HSC Mgmt)

BA, BEd, CTP, MCILT, MAITPM, MIPWEAQ

Appointed: October 2012

Appointed: July 2016

Appointed: April 2014

The Office of the Chief Operating Officer
works with Council and the organisation
to achieve sound governance, long term
sustainability and the delivery of our
City Vision.

The Lifestyle and Community Directorate
provides the City’s primary interface with
the community through the delivery of a
diverse range of services and facilities.

The Transport and Infrastructure
Directorate has a diverse and highly
skilled mix of personnel, with a broad
range of capabilities and a collective
desire to deliver progressive outcomes
for the City. Transport and Infrastructure
delivers and maintains quality
infrastructure and services to meet the
city’s current and future needs.

Key areas of responsibility include:
financial management; corporate asset
management; corporate safety and
risk; corporate assurance; corporate
planning and performance; corporate
communication and legal services.
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Key areas of responsibility include:
arts and culture development; library
services; major sporting venues
and aquatic centres; tourist parks;
community safety; natural areas
management; community development;
environment and public health services;
lifeguard services; youth and community
centres; regulatory services; sports and
recreation; CCTV network and local
disaster recovery.

Key areas of responsibility include:
emergency and disaster management;
municipal infrastructure and local area
works delivery; transport planning
network management and maintenance;
city cleaning; ocean beach and
waterways management and
flood management.

CHAPTER 3 GOVERNANCE

D I R E C TO R ,
O R G A N I S AT I O N A L
SERVICES

D I R E C TO R ,
E C O N O M Y, PL A N N I N G
AND ENVIRONMENT

D I R E C TO R ,
WAT E R
A N D WA S T E

GLEN POT TER PSM

ALISHA SWAIN

PAUL HE ATON

BBlt Env (Arch), GDURP, MEcST (EcDev),
DipPM, MPIA, MAICD

BE, DipNatRes, MEngSc, GAICD

Appointed: April 2010

Appointed: March 2018

Appointed: July 2012

The Organisational Services
Directorate delivers internal services
to the organisation.

The Economy, Planning and Environment
Directorate supports sustainable living
for the Gold Coast community, now
and into the future through land use
and infrastructure planning,
development control, innovation
and economic development.

The Water and Waste Directorate
provides management of integrated
water and waste services
and infrastructure.

Key areas of responsibility include:
customer contact; people and culture;
property and facilities management;
fleet; information technology and
management; procurement; revenue
services and records management.

Key areas of responsibility include:
strategic land-use planning; urban
design; regional planning; development
assessment; development compliance;
infrastructure charging; growth
management; environmental planning;
nature conservation; place making;
business investment and development;
innovation and digital cities and
economic value management.

Key areas of responsibility include:
catchment management; drinking water
distribution; recycled water treatment
and delivery; sewage collection and
treatment; solid waste management;
infrastructure planning and delivery;
customer connections; metering and
laboratory services.
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3.2.2.4 Senior executive remuneration

3.2.2.5 Our shared values

Remuneration levels for our senior executives take into account
many factors including work value, the complexity of their
jobs and external independent market related benchmarks.
This ensures remuneration levels for senior executives are
appropriate and that we are well placed to retain and attract
executives with the skills necessary to help deliver value for
money services to the community.

Our shared values help shape 'how we do things'
– our decisions, actions and behaviours towards achieving
the City Vision and City priorities.

Members of our senior executive staff are engaged under
fixed-term contracts which outline their remuneration
packages. As per section 201 of the Act, the remuneration
ranges for senior executives are as follows:

Our four shared values are:

WE AIM HIGH
We are courageous in the pursuit
of excellence for our community.

WE ADD VALUE
We are adaptable and innovative.

Table 22: Senior executive remuneration

Remuneration range ($)

Number of executives

WE TAKE RESPONSIBILITY
We are committed to working safely,
being trustworthy and owning our actions.

300,001 – 400,000

5

400,001 – 500,000

1

600,001 – 700,000

1

WE WORK AS A TEAM

Total

7

We are great individually,
but unstoppable together.

The total remuneration packages payable in 2018–19 to senior
management was $2,981,803.87.

These values define what success looks like and support the
growth of the organisation and the city.
The City has a People Plan which commits to supporting
each person in being successful in their role. The People Plan
is focused on investing in our people and is driven by three
key themes:
• realising employee potential
• partnering for high performance
• creating meaningful career pathways.
Through the People Plan, the City will implement a broad
suite of integrated programs that focus on delivering better
outcomes for our people. The deep embedding of Our Shared
Values across the organisation complements and supports the
People Plan. Support activities include:
• Corporate embedding of our shared values commences
at the point of recruitment where candidates are assessed
against our shared values through behavioural questions.
• At corporate induction, we introduce new employees
to the values through a series of exercises to gain an
understanding of the associated behaviours and how the
values may align to or be reflective of their own personal
values. All employees undertake a variety of eLearning
including policy related training such as ‘Good Working
Relationships’ to further enhance their understanding of our
corporate values and expected behaviours.
• Branches and directorates across the City also embed the
values by grounding project deliverables against the values
and using visual management tools to promote the values as
well as through various reward and recognition programs.
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3.2.2.6 Our workforce
As one of the Gold Coast’s largest employers, the City offers
a diverse range of employment opportunities. Our workforce
includes engineers, town planners, graphic designers,
tradespeople, environmental scientists and social planners, as
well as specialists in disciplines such as information technology,
accounting, corporate planning, public administration, human
resource management and asset management.
The City’s position establishment is comprised of permanent
Approved Staff Establishment (ASE) and temporary Above
Approved Staff Establishment (AASE) positions. Occupancy of
positions (people Full Time Equivalent (FTE)) varies from day to
day as people commence with and leave the organisation.

New positions are approved by the CEO when appropriate
business justification is provided while the status of the position
is determined by the type of activity to be undertaken, whether
it is ongoing (permanent) or for a set period or specified
task (temporary).
During 2018–19, there were 29.56 permanent (ASE) positions
closed and 66.64 permanent (ASE) positions approved to be
created. This equates to an overall increase of 37.08 permanent
FTE or 1.09% since 30 June 2018. It compares to a 2.6%
increase in the city’s estimated resident population from 1 July
2017 to 30 June 2018 (Profile id, 2018). Of these new positions
42 per cent were converted from existing temporary positions
indicating the ongoing nature of the activities.

Table 23: Full time equivalent positions

30 June 2019
Directorate

Permanent (ASE)

Temporary (AASE)

Total

Office of the Chief Executive Officer

55.5

17.7

73.2

Office of the Chief Operating Officer

201.0

40.0

241.0

Lifestyle and Community

634.9

54.0

688.9

1049.0

29.1

1078.2

Water and Waste

516.8

55.1

571.9

Organisational Services

633.6

175.0

808.6

Economy, Planning and Environment

365.8

94.1

459.8

3456.6

465.0

3921.6

Transport and Infrastructure

Economy, Planning and Environment
Note: Total figures may be impacted by rounding.

The turnover rate for the City increased by 0.8% compared to 2017–18.
Of the 251 permanent employees who left the organisation, 41 per cent were 55 years or older and the majority of these referenced
‘retirement’ as their reason for leaving.
Table 24: Permanent employee turnover rate

Turnover rate (%)

2014 –15

2015 –16

2016 –17

2017–18

2018 –19

6.8

6.5

9.4

7.2

8.0

The ratio of females in the overall permanent workforce has increased by 0.5 per cent since 2015.
Table 25: Permanent employee gender ratio (%)

30 Jun 15

30 Jun 16

30 Jun 17

30 Jun 18

30 Jun 19

Female (%)

37.0

37.0

37.4

37.7

37.5

Male (%)

63.0

63.0

62.6

62.3

62.5

The City continues to report an increase in the percentage of employees aged 55 years and older, resulting in a 2.9% increase over
the past five years.
Table 26: Permanent employees aged 55 years and older (%)

Employees 55 years and older (%)

30 Jun 15

30 Jun 16

30 Jun 17

30 Jun 18

30 Jun 19

25.7

26.6

27.5

27.9

28.6
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Inclusion and diversity
Embracing diversity and equal employment opportunity is
integral to the City achieving its goal of creating equity in
the workplace and in recognising that all employees make
a valuable contribution to the organisation through the
implementation of the Inclusion and Diversity Plan (I and
D Plan) 2018–2020. The City is committed to providing a
workplace that is free from discrimination and harassment
and provides equal employment opportunities for current and
prospective employees. By removing barriers to participation,
it is envisaged that employees will better be able to achieve
their full potential thereby improving the City’s efficiency and
service delivery.
The objectives in the 2018–2020 I and D Plan include:
1) Promoting gender equality – the City promotes gender
equality particularly around building the number of female
apprentices in trade positions across council with 25 per
cent of our current apprentices being female. Our current
traineeship program has offered opportunity to nine
female and one male trainee across various vocational
qualifications including in the areas of pest management,
water operations and business administration. International
Women’s Day 2019 was promoted and celebrated with
a focus on education on domestic and family violence
with keynote speaker Jacque Lachmund, CEO of CEO
Challenge, at our City Leaders Breakfast event held on 8
March 2019.
2) Indigenous employment – based on recruitment data from
January to June 2019, 1.56% of all applicants opted to
disclose that they are Indigenous Australians. At 30 June
2019, 45 employees identify as Indigenous Australians
being 1.18% of our total employees. A total of 5 per cent of
our City apprentices identify as Indigenous Australians. Our
current trainee program reported that 80 per cent of City
trainees identify as Indigenous Australians.
3) Removing barriers to access for persons with a disability
– the City has registered as an employer of choice for
persons with a disability with JobAccess and advertises
City vacancies via the Australian Government JobAccess
website. JobAccess distributes vacancies to all Disability
Employment Service (DES) providers registered with the
Australian Government. The City has hosted disability
access and awareness training for hiring managers
and worked closely with the Lifestyle and Community
Directorate during 2018 –19 on the review of the Accessible
and Inclusive City Action Plan (AICAP) 2014–2019 to inform
the development of actions for the next five years (AICAP
2020–2025).
4) Promoting and attracting youth as future generation
employees – the City has engaged in a partnership with
Nerang State High School, where students completing
a trade qualification through the school’s Gold Coast
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Resource Industry Trade Skills Centre undertake five
days’ work placement with the City. From the program’s
conception in July 2018, to 30 June 2019, 22 students
have shadowed a construction supervisor within the
City’s Infrastructure Delivery Branch. A similar program
is under way with students from the Australian Industry
Trade College (AITC). The goal is to progress the program
to develop School Based Traineeships across the City to
provide an opportunity for youth to be exposed to real life
industry experience and prepare for potential employment
with the City.
5) Engaging ex defence force personnel – the City has
registered as an employer of choice with the RSL
Queensland Employment Program, Veterans Onboard,
which directs veterans to advertised vacancies with the
City. In addition, the City has partnered with three external
organisations to promote access to existing vacancies:
• Young Veterans
• Australian Student Veterans Association and
• 3D Mind Solutions (who specialise in placing veterans who
have been medically discharged).
A recruitment portal has been established to create a talent
pool where these organisations can upload their clients’ details,
showcasing the broad range of ability, experience and skills for
this cohort. City staff will be directed to the talent pool as an
option to source suitable applicants for relevant vacancies as
they arise.

3.2.2.7 Employee overseas travel
Expenses were incurred to enable City employees to travel
overseas in an official capacity. As prescribed in section 188 of
the Regulation, the details of employee overseas travel can be
found in Appendix 5.3.

3.2.2.8 Our volunteers
The City values and acknowledges the important contribution
of our volunteers to the community. Volunteers participate
in City programs to support the community, meet people,
and learn new skills. Each year, the City provides regular
volunteering opportunities for more than 400 Gold Coast
residents to assist with programs such as library services and
caring for the local environment. More than 2000 residents
assist each year by participating in our tree planting days.
The City also supports partner organisations to deliver a range
of volunteer programs, including catchment management,
foreshore protection, beach and waterway clean-ups, and
supporting the botanic gardens.
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3.2.2.9 Work health and safety
The City manages the health and safety risks associated
with work activities through its Work Health and Safety
Management System (WHSMS) that follows the principles
and framework of AS/NZS 4804:2001 Occupational Health
and Safety Management Systems and the requirements of
the National self insurer OHS management system audit tool.
Preparation has commenced to migrate to ISO 45001. The
WHSMS is reliant on and supported through demonstrated
leadership and commitment by the City’s senior management
team, to ensure the system is effectively implemented
throughout the organisation and that health and safety risks are
eliminated or controlled so far as reasonably practicable.
Target Zero provides a road map for the City to proactively
manage the hazards and critical safety risks associated with its
operations and strives to provide a safe and healthy workplace
by outlining the key initiatives that contribute to reinforcing
safety leadership and building a positive safety culture.
Throughout the year a risk based approach was applied to
Target Zero initiatives to address the current risk picture and
adjust the priority of various initiatives.
One such initiative was the Task Safety Assessment which
works in conjunction with existing safe systems of work with
more of a focus on local hazards and changing site conditions.
Communication and consultation is essential to achieving a
positive safety culture, which in turn is integral to successful
management of health and safety. Based upon feedback from
City employees and to ensure a more inclusive decision making
process, various WHS committees and forums have been
involved in the development of future Target Zero initiatives to
assist with decision making and create greater buy in.

Safety leadership
To reinforce senior leader’s commitment to the safety
and health of the City’s employees, the CEO’s Stop Work
Authority was introduced whereby workers have the CEO’s full
support to stop work on any activity that they believe places
themselves or others at risk.

Continual improvement of Work Health
and Safety management system
As part of the measurement and evaluation of the City’s safety
management system, 11 full system audits, coupled with two
full Internal National Self-Insurance Audits, occurred in the
2018-2019 financial year. The findings have been applied to
address areas of improvement across the organisation.

Work Health and Safety
performance monitoring
Ongoing enhancements to improve the Safety Management
Software ‘HandS’ include updating the investigation of
incidents, management of actions and hazards, along with

recording of workplace safety inspections and various other
positive performance indicators that are used as business
intelligence to improve the City’s safety performance and
prevent injuries and incidents.

Improving the wellbeing and support of
injured employees
The City’s Immediate Injury Management Program, which
includes a 24 hour Injury Hotline, has been fully implemented
across all directorates. The City appointed medical services of
two local occupational medical clinics and five physiotherapy
clinics, to provide high quality care for City employees. This
program has seen a significant reduction in the amount of
time injured employees are away from work through applying
the stay at work rehabilitation principles and benefits, leading
to improved team productivity and better health outcomes.
Prevention strategies to target a reduction in musculoskeletal
injuries have been initiated and piloted in key areas within
the City, with plans to further develop and implement these
across the wider organisation. A mental health strategy has
been developed for the City which focuses on prevention,
early intervention and support for psychological injuries. Initial
pilot training for line leaders has been delivered and will be fully
implemented across all directorates.
The ongoing program of legislated medical assessments for
exposure to hazardous substances, environment and also preemployment screening was successfully completed throughout
the year. This includes the audiometric (hearing) testing which
was brought in-house in 2017. In addition, commercial driver
medicals have been introduced as part of the Fleet verification
of competency program.
Following a successful pilot program delivered in late 2016,
the Health Check Program was officially launched in July
2017. This program is a free voluntary 20 minute health check
delivered by the City's occupational health nurse aimed at
encouraging workers to become more aware of and engaged
in their health and wellbeing. The assessment provides workers
with a snapshot of their current state of health and provides
recommendations for any issues identified, so workers can
follow up with their GP.

Alcohol and other Drugs Program
The City’s Alcohol and Other Drug (AOD) Program started
in December 2016 and is aimed at addressing risks associated
with alcohol and/or other drugs in the workplace while
providing education, awareness and support services
where required.
During 2018–19, 2449 tests were conducted during the
random testing program utilising breath alcohol and oral mouth
swab testing methods.
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3.2.2.10 Assurance framework

Audit Committee

The City’s assurance framework includes a range of
independent and management assurance activities designed
to review and oversee the effectiveness and efficiency of City
financial reporting and operations, including:

The City’s Audit Committee operated throughout 2018 –19 in
accordance with the Act, the Regulation, and the City’s Audit
Committee Policy and Charter. The primary objective of the
Audit Committee is to promote good corporate governance
through the provision of independent assurance, oversight and
advice to the City and the Chief Executive Officer on matters
relating to:

• external audit – conducted annually by
the Queensland Audit Office (QAO)
• audit committee – comprising four independent and
two Councillor members
• internal audit – independent assurance and advice by
the City’s Internal Audit Unit
• executive management oversight – by executive and senior
management officers
• ethical standards – monitored by the City’s Integrity and
Ethical Standards Unit.

• financial reporting
• financial statement preparation
• internal control
• governance
• internal and external audit
• risk management
• compliance

External audit
The Auditor-General of Queensland, an independent Officer
of Parliament, is the external auditor of all state and local
government public sector entities in Queensland. The
independence of the position, enshrined in law, means the
Auditor-General and staff of the QAO have unfettered access
to all government entities and can examine and report to
Parliament on the efficiency and effectiveness of any aspect of
public sector finances and administration.
The QAO has conducted its annual independent assessment
of the City and concluded that the general purpose financial
statements contained in this annual report present a true and
fair view of the City's financial position as at 30 June 2019,
and comply with the Local Government Act 2009, the Local
Government Regulation 2012 and are in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards. Refer to Chapter 4.

• fraud and corruption.
Throughout 2018–19 the Audit Committee consisted of two
Councillors and four external, independent members appointed
by the City, with one of the external, independent members
also appointed Chairperson. The appointment of external,
independent members is based on a publicly advertised, merit
based selection process which aims to ensure the committee
has an appropriate mix of financial management, governance,
risk management and local government skills and experience.
The City remunerates external, independent members of the
Audit Committee to attract highly experienced professionals
capable of fulfilling the Audit Committee Charter and adding
value to the City. At 30 June 2019, the Audit Committee
membership comprised of:
• Mr Bill Turner (independent chairperson)

In order to reach this conclusion, QAO officers conduct
regular reviews and assessments of the City’s internal control
environment, particularly in relation to financial management.
Implementation of recommendations by the QAO targeting
improvements to our financial and related processes and
systems are monitored continuously by the Audit Committee
and Executive Leadership Team.

• Mr Geoff King (independent member)

QAO representatives regularly attend meetings of the City’s
Audit Committee to provide updates on areas of audit
significance and changes to accounting standards, and to
keep the committee informed on progress of the annual
external audit.

Mr Turner has extensive senior financial, audit, probity and risk
management experience within the public service particularly
in infrastructure and being a resident of the Gold Coast
brings valuable local knowledge and insights to
Committee discussions.

Our Corporate Assurance and Corporate Finance branches
also work closely with the QAO to ensure that audit
activities are planned and scheduled to maximise efficiency
and minimise any duplication of audit effort. The City also
maintains regular contact with the QAO in relation to broader
local government and public sector financial management,
administration, financial reporting and audit matters.
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• Mr Mitchell Petrie (independent member)
• Mrs Kerry Phillips (independent member)
• Councillor William Owen-Jones (Councillor member)
• Councillor Glenn Tozer (Councillor member).
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Messrs King and Petrie have substantial experience in, and
knowledge of, accounting, auditing and risk management.
Mr King has extensive experience in audit, risk management
and governance, with particular emphasis on information
and communication technology, across a diverse range of
industries in the public and private sector including local
governments. Mr Petrie was previously an audit assurance
partner with KPMG and has extensive audit, risk management
and governance experience and knowledge with a wide range
of organisations including state and local government bodies.
Mrs Kerry Phillips was appointed to the Committee effective
from 1 July 2018. Mrs Phillips has highly relevant experience
with a wide range of local government bodies both as an
employee and audit committee member and has had extensive
involvement with professional accounting bodies.
Councillor William Owen-Jones and Councillor Glenn Tozer
contribute to the Committee’s understanding and appreciation
of the Council’s objectives and perspectives. Both Councillors
also have significant financial accounting and financial
management experience which contributes to the work of
the Committee.
The Audit Committee holds ordinary meetings on a quarterly
basis, with additional meetings convened to consider the
annual financial statements and annual planning matters.
During the course of 2018–19 the committee met formally
on six occasions.
The Chief Executive Officer, Manager Corporate Assurance,
Manager Corporate Finance and representatives of the
QAO attend Committee meetings as standing invitees. City
officers regularly present written reports and attend meetings
to respond to Audit Committee requests for information on
particular matters of relevance to the Committee’s role.
The Audit Committee formally reviews the City’s draft annual
financial statements prior to their release to the QAO. The
Committee also considers management representations from
senior executives, the Chief Executive Officer and Manager
Corporate Finance.
Following each committee meeting, a formal report is
presented to Council. The Audit Committee Chairperson also
delivers an annual report and presentation to Council on the
operations, achievements and recommendations of the
Audit Committee.

Internal audit
The City’s Internal Audit Unit within the Corporate Assurance
Branch independently examines and evaluates the risks and
controls associated with City activities, operations
and systems.
It operates in accordance with the City’s Internal Audit
Policy and Charter which sets out the mandate, roles and
responsibilities of the internal audit function. The unit is led by
the Manager Corporate Assurance who is directly responsible
to the Audit Committee and Chief Executive Officer, and
maintains professional independence from operational
decision making.
Internal audit activity over the medium term is managed via
a Strategic Internal Audit Plan, while the specific internal
audit activities performed each year are outlined in the
Annual Internal Audit Plan. These plans are reviewed and
recommended by the Audit Committee annually and adopted
by Council.
The Internal Audit Unit provides a broad range of assurance
and advisory services, in accordance with applicable internal
audit standards and better practices, including:
• compliance reviews
• continuous improvement reviews
• data analytics
• financial reviews
• information systems and technology reviews
• management advice and consultations
• operational reviews
• project assurance and advice
• strategic risk reviews.
The scope of internal audit activities is determined through
a risk based strategic and annual planning cycle that
involves consultation with executive management, Audit
Committee members and the QAO to ensure appropriate
audit coverage. Performance of the Internal Audit Unit
and the Manager Corporate Assurance is monitored by
the Audit Committee and Chief Executive Officer.
The City is fully compliant with State Government
legislation relating to the activities and reporting of our
internal audit function. The Internal Audit Unit continued
to be staffed by highly experienced officers with a mix
of financial management, business systems and audit
experience. Staff members are encouraged and supported
to maintain relevant professional qualifications and form
associations with relevant professional bodies.
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Executive management
The City’s Executive Leadership Team, consisting of the Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer and five directors,
is accountable for establishing and maintaining appropriate
systems of internal control, risk management and compliance
within the organisation. Monthly, quarterly and annual cycles of
directorate management representations, covering significant
organisation-wide risk and control matters, are undertaken to
support the annual representations to the Audit Committee and
Auditor-General by the Chief Executive Officer and Manager
Corporate Finance.
The Internal Audit Unit meets regularly with the Chief Executive
Officer, directors and managers to ensure emerging risks,
issues and systemic audit matters are discussed and actioned
in a timely manner. Directors are also scheduled to attend
at least one Audit Committee meeting during the Audit
Committee’s term, to discuss risk and control matters affecting
their directorate.
Management’s performance in implementing internal and
external audit recommendations is measured and reported
quarterly to the Audit Committee.

Ethical standards
The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) has statutory obligations
for managing the City of Gold Coast under the Crime
and Corruption Act 2001 (the CC Act) to deal with any
inappropriate behaviour on the part of City employees.
The Integrity and Ethical Standards Unit provides assistance
to the CEO and is responsible for managing all complaints,
information or matters which involve, or may involve, corrupt
conduct pursuant to section 15 of the CC Act.

3.2.2.11 Code of Conduct for Employees
In accordance with the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994, City
employees are bound by the standards of behaviour set out
in the City’s Code of Conduct for Employees. The Code of
Conduct for Employees, along with related policies, defines the
standards and behaviours that are required of all employees.
The Local Government Act 2009 sets out the way in which
a local government is constituted and the nature and extent
of its responsibilities and powers. The Act requires that a
council’s actions are consistent with the following local
government principles:
• transparent and effective processes, and decision making in
the public interest
• sustainable development and management of assets and
infrastructure, and delivery of effective services
• democratic representation, social inclusion and meaningful
community engagement
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• good governance of, and by, local government ethical
and legal behaviour of Councillors and local
government employees.
These legislated principles, together with Council’s corporate
values, form the basis of the Code of Conduct for Employees.
They apply to all employees and guide our thinking, actions
and decision making.
The objective of the City's Code of Conduct for Employees is
to provide a set of standards and behaviours related to the way
we do our work. It aims to deliver best practice by ensuring
those standards are clear and guided by sound ethics. By
consistently applying these standards, we enhance public trust
and confidence.
The Code of Conduct for Employees is explained to
employees as part of the corporate induction process and
employees must acknowledge they have read and understood
the code and related policies. Refresher training and
awareness sessions are provided at appropriate intervals
for our longer serving employees.
View the City of Gold Coast Code of Conduct
for Employees Policy
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/codeofconductforstaff

3.2.2.12 Reporting public interest disclosures
As a major employer, the City understands and values the
importance of the Public Interest Disclosure Act 2010 (the
PID Act). In accordance with section 28 there are reasonable
procedures to ensure that City employees and members of the
public are encouraged to report conduct and/or matters that
they believe to be unethical conduct within the organisation.
If a member of the public were to make a complaint regarding
significant environmental risks (for example unsafe asbestos
practices by City officers) or a City employee made disclosures
about corrupt conduct these matters would be assessed by
the Crime and Corruption Commission and are usually referred
back to the City to manage through to the closure stage by the
City’s Integrity and Ethical Standards Unit.
Under the PID Act, the Ombudsman’s office is responsible for
overseeing public interest disclosures and managing public
interest disclosures in accordance with the principles of the
Public Interest Disclosure Standards.
The City has a Whistleblowers (Public Interest Disclosure)
Policy which complies with the PID Act. The City’s Integrity
and Ethical Standards Unit has drafted new procedures and
practices that support the new three new Public Interest
Disclosure Standards that came into effect 1 March 2019.
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3.2.2.13 Complaints
Administrative action complaints
The Complaints (Administrative Actions) Policy and Procedures
provide a process for managing complaints about the City’s
actions and decisions. All complaints are assessed, including
anonymous complaints. The City is committed to ensuring that
information obtained via the complaints process is used to
improve our overall service delivery.
The complaints process consists of three steps. The first
step is to attempt to resolve the complaint at the first point
of contact. If that is not possible, the complainant may wish
to proceed to the second step, which is a preliminary review.
The third step of the process occurs if the complainant is
dissatisfied with the outcome of the preliminary review,
and chooses to request a final review by a designated
complaints officer.

If a complainant is dissatisfied at the conclusion of the
complaints process, he or she is advised of organisations
which may provide an external review such as the Queensland
Ombudsman, the Energy and Water Ombudsman Queensland,
the Office of the Information Commissioner, or the Queensland
Civil and Administrative Tribunal (QCAT). In accordance with
section 187 of the Regulation, the City is required to report on
the performance of the organisation in dealing with complaints
in its Annual Report.
View the City of Gold Coast Complaints
(Administrative Actions) Policy and Procedures
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/
complaints(administraiveactions)policyandprocedures

The following table provides a summary of the administrative action complaints received and finalised by the City this year.
Table 27: Administrative action complaints

Number of complaints
Complaints outstanding
at 01/07/2018

Complaints received

Complaints finalised

Complaints outstanding
at 30/06/2019

Office of the CEO

5

19

21

3

Office of the Chief Operating Officer

0

0

0

0

Economy, Planning and Environment

5

11

10

6

Lifestyle and Community

1

23

23

1

Organisational Services

1

21

22

0

Transport and Infrastructure

1

19

20

0

Water and Waste

7

27

30

4

20

120

126

14

Directorate

Total

Queensland Ombudsman complaints
The Queensland Ombudsman investigates complaints about the administrative actions and decisions of Queensland public sector
agencies that may be unlawful, unreasonable, unfair, improperly discriminatory or otherwise wrong. The Queensland Ombudsman
aims to give people a timely, effective, independent and just means of investigating public sector agencies and to improve the quality
of decision making and administrative practice of these agencies.
The 2018–19 year represents the ninth consecutive year that there have been no findings of maladministration against the City by
the Queensland Ombudsman. Feedback received this year from the Queensland Ombudsman about the quality of the City’s internal
review process was positive. A downward trend in complaints per capita received by the Ombudsman about the City in recent years
has been noted.
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Penalty Infringement Notice review
A Penalty Infringement Notice (PIN) may be issued for non-compliance with certain laws and regulations; for example, a PIN may
be issued for breach of a parking regulation. All requests received by the City to review PINs are assessed and determined in
accordance with the City’s PIN Review Policy.
The City continues to use PINs efficiently and effectively as one of a number of mechanisms to achieve compliance outcomes.
The following table summarises the PINs issued, reviewed, and waived during the last year.
Table 28: Penalty Infringement Notices

Number of PINs
Issued
2018 –19

Review requests

Involving officer
complaints

Waived
2018 –19

1,048

288

0

98

171,275

21,984

0

7,613

70

26

0

2

557

118

2

65

Water and Waste

10

0

0

0

Plumbing

15

2

0

2

172,975

22,418

2

7,780

Type of PIN
Animal Management
City Parking
Development Compliance
Environmental Health Compliance

Total number of PINs

View the City of Gold Coast Penalty Infringement Notice review
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/complaints(administraiveactions)policyandprocedures

Competitive neutrality complaints
The competitive neutrality principle is applied to each of the City’s significant business activities. The application of the principle has
been achieved through the commercialisation of Gold Coast Water and Gold Coast Waste Management and through the application
of full-cost pricing to our tourist park activities.
The City conducts proactive auditing and monitoring of the City’s business activities and the market environment in order to ensure
ongoing compliance with the requirement for competitive neutrality.
A competitive neutrality complaint is about the alleged failure of a local government to conduct a business activity in accordance with
the competitive neutrality principle and must be made by an affected person. Section 48 of the Act provides that a local government
must adopt a process for resolving competitive neutrality complaints.
Section 44 of the Regulation sets out the minimum requirements of the process. There must be the ability to resolve the matter
before a formal complaint is made, such as allowing an affected person to raise concerns about the alleged failure of a business
activity to comply with the competitive neutrality principle. The process must provide for a way to record all complaints, decisions,
and recommendations.
If the matter cannot be resolved, the complaint must be referred to the Queensland Productivity Commission (the QPC). The QPC
assesses the complaint and carries out an investigation if required. The QPC is obliged to give an investigation notice to the City prior
to any investigation.
In the financial year ending 30 June 2019, the City had one investigation notice, dated 11 March 2019.
Table 29: Investigation notices given by the Queensland Productivity Commission

Date

Summary

11 March 2019

Council organisations conducting live music events have a competitive advantage over events run by the private
sector, as the organisations have financial and regulatory advantages by virtue of being council owned.

As at 30 June 2019, the QPC investigation was still in progress. Council will respond to the QPC's report once the investigation
has been completed.
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Privacy complaints
The Information Privacy Act 2009 (Qld) (the IP Act) regulates how the City manages an individual’s personal information. The City’s
Legal Services Branch investigates complaints from individuals who consider that the City has failed to fulfil its legislative obligations.
During 2018-19, the City investigated 11 new privacy complaints, and two complaints were carried over from June 2018. Of the 11
new complaints, nine complaints were resolved and two complaints were carried over for investigation in 2019–20.
Where an individual has reason to believe their personal information has been used in a way that is contrary to the IP Act, they
may make a complaint to the City to have the breach investigated. Where the complainant is dissatisfied with the response to
their complaint, they may refer the matter to the Queensland Office of the Information Commissioner (OIC). During 2018–19 one
information privacy complaint was referred by a complainant to the OIC for review. Following review, the OIC was satisfied that no
breach of the Information Privacy Act 2009 (Qld) had occurred.
Table 30: Privacy complaints

Number of complaints
Outstanding at
30/06/2015

Outstanding at
30/06/2016

Outstanding at
30/06/2017

Outstanding at
30/06/2018

Received

Finalised

Outstanding at
30/06/2019

1

1

0

2

11

11

2

Privacy complaints

Water services complaints
The Energy and Water Ombudsman Queensland (EWOQ) provides an independent dispute resolution service for customers of
Queensland’s energy and water providers. There are two types of referrals the City receives from the EWOQ:
1. Referral to Higher Level (RHL)
The EWOQ may choose to refer a complaint to the Office of the Chief Executive Officer. The referral gives the City the opportunity to
investigate and resolve the customer’s complaint without the need for an EWOQ investigation.
2. Notice of Investigation (NOI)
If the EWOQ decides to carry out its own investigation of a complaint, a NOI is sent to the City. The NOI contains a brief description
of the customer’s complaint, accompanied by an information request to assist the EWOQ in their investigation. At the conclusion of
the investigation, the EWOQ issues a decision notice and may make orders if the complaint is upheld.
The City of Gold Coast joined the EWOQ scheme in January 2011. Since that time, there have not been any complaints upheld, nor
orders issued, against the City.
Table 31: Energy and Water Ombudsman complaints

Number of complaints
Outstanding at
30/06/2016

Outstanding at
30/06/2017

Outstanding at
30/06/2018

Received

Finalised

Outstanding at
30/06/2019

Refer to Higher Level

0

0

0

9

9

0

Notice of Investigation

0

1

2

15

15

2

Type

Telecommunications services complaints
The Telecommunications (Consumer Protection and Service Standards) Act 1999 states that certain carriers and carriage service
providers (CSPs) must enter into the Telecommunications Industry Ombudsman (TIO) scheme. As City of Gold Coast became a
telecommunications carrier in July 2017, there is a requirement to be a member of the TIO scheme.
The TIO collects and reviews information about complaints provided by consumers and service providers; and provides analysis to
the community, regulators, government and the telecommunications industry about matters that impact consumers. The TIO also
analyse this information to identify trends and systemic issues, to inform areas for improvement and to assist with addressing the
root causes of consumer complaints.
City of Gold Coast did not receive any TIO complaints for the 2018–19 year.
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3.2.2.14 Access to information

Other registers kept by the City:

The Right to Information Act 2009 (the RTI Act) and the IP Act
provide the community with access to City held information
balanced by appropriate protection for an individual’s privacy.
The public can apply for access to documents held by a
Council, subject to statutory exemptions, unless it is contrary
to the public interest to provide that information. The legislation
allows individuals to apply for amendments to be made to
documents concerning their personal affairs, where it is
believed the information is incomplete, out of date, inaccurate
or misleading.

• administrative action
complaints

• environmentally
relevant activities

• backflow devices

• flora and fauna

• beneficial enterprises
business activities

• food businesses

The Right to Information and Information Privacy Unit dealt
with 172 requests in 2018–19. Applicants dissatisfied with
the response to their requests can have matters referred to a
person independent of the Right to Information and Information
Privacy Unit. During 2018–19, three applications were made
for independent review.

3.2.2.15 City registers
In accordance with section 190 of the Regulation, the following
is a list of the registers kept by the City:
Registers prescribed in the Act and the Regulation:
• asset register non-current physical assets
• business activities to which the competitive neutrality
principle applies
• city contracting plan
• conflicts of interest
• contracts worth $200,000 or more
• corporate risk register (includes controls)
• cost recovery fees
• delegations and authorisations (by Council and by CEO)
• electoral gifts
• group agents
• infrastructure charges
• interests
– Councillors
– senior executive employees
– a person who is related to a Councillor or senior
executive employee
• land record
• local heritage
• local laws
• pre-qualified suppliers
• regulatory fees and charges
• roads map and register
• transferred assets.
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• contacts with lobbyists

• membership of standing,
special and advisory
committees and delegates
to external organisations

• controlled entities

• open datasets

• council divisional donations

• personal
information holdings.

• community engagements
and consultations

• dogs

3.2.2.16 City insurance
The City of Gold Coast Insurance Company Limited is a wholly
owned subsidiary of the City. Its primary function is the cost
effective financing of our selected risks. A key component
of our risk management framework is to retain value for the
city by reducing or eliminating insurance premiums paid to
unrelated or third party insurers and to avoid or mitigate the
disadvantages of the conventional insurance market.
City of Gold Coast Insurance Company Limited was established
in 2007 in Guernsey, British Isles. Its board comprises of:
• Chairperson, Ms Diane Colton (independent non-executive)
• Mr Kevin Rye, of Artex Risk Solutions
• Mr Nick Heys, of Artex Risk Solutions
• Mr Dale Dickson, City of Gold Coast, Chief Executive Officer
• Mr David Montgomery, City of Gold Coast.
City of Gold Coast Insurance Company Limited’s manager and
compliance officer are employed by Artex Risk Solutions, a
global insurance management organisation with representation
in 20 of the world’s most popular insurance domiciles.
Arthur J Gallagher, one of the world’s largest insurance
brokerage and risk management service firms, in consultation
with the Australian brokerage company GSA Insurance Brokers
Pty Ltd in Sydney, is employed to review and scrutinise
insurance options in the various available markets and
negotiate insurance coverage for both the City of Gold Coast
Insurance Company and the City.
Section 107 of the Act requires councils to have public liability
and professional indemnity insurance. Section 214 of the
Regulation stipulates the required amounts for public liability
insurance and for professional indemnity insurance.
The City’s insurance cover exceeds the amount stipulated by
the Regulation.
View the current City of Gold Coast Captive Insurance
– public statement cityofgoldcoast.com.au/
captiveinsurance-publicstatement
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3.2.2.17 Valuation of non-current physical assets
Section 185(b) of the Regulation requires that the Annual
Report contain a list of any resolutions made during the year
which relate to the value of non-current physical assets
(noting that the City’s capitalisation threshold is specified in
the Non-Current Asset Accounting Policy).
There were no resolutions made during the year to amend the
financial threshold for recognising non-current physical assets.
All amounts below the financial threshold were treated as
an expense.

3.2.2.18 Cooperation between local governments
Section 190(1)(d)(i)–(ii) of the Regulation requires the
Annual Report to contain details of any action taken for, and
expenditure on a service, facility or activity:
(i) supplied by another local government, under an agreement
for conducting a joint government activity, and

Key benefits of the new system include information timeliness,
consistency and accuracy, improved project management
functionality and mobility capability. As all directorates
transition, this system will provide a single source of truth
and improved enterprise performance reporting capability
for portfolio, program and project management for
the organisation.

3.2.2.20 Performance management
The City’s annual corporate planning and budget process
aims to increase the integration of strategic and operational
planning, improve the information provided for resource
allocation decisions and optimise investment.
This annual process results in the development of key
investment portfolios which are finalised as part of the delivery
of the Annual Plan. During 2018–19 the key corporate
portfolios were:
• Gold Coast 2022 (Corporate Plan)

(ii) for which the local government levied special rates or
charges for the financial year.

• City strategies (6)

There are no details to report under this section for 2018–19.

• business improvement

• City Operational Plan
• infrastructure

3.2.2.19 Program and project management

• community engagement and

The City plans and delivers a significant number of programs
and projects on an annual basis, supporting the delivery of
City priorities, key strategic plans and operational plans which
support business as usual City services.

• corporate policy.

The importance of program and project delivery to the City
is demonstrated through the scale of key portfolios, such as
the Infrastructure Portfolio for 2018–19 (investment in 404
initiatives worth $317.4 million in 2018–19) and the Business
Improvement Portfolio 2018–19 (investment in 62 significant
initiatives worth $26.14 million in 2018–19).
The City’s Organisational Capability Framework includes
portfolio, program and project management as staff
competencies (where relevant to roles) and training
and development activities take place to support
organisational capability.
In 2018–19, the implementation of the single Enterprise
Portfolio, Program and Project Management System for the
City continued. This has been designed to support cradle to
grave project management and meet the needs of the whole
organisation. The system went live in 2017–18 and the Water
and Waste Directorate transitioned their projects in both
planning and delivery onto the system in early 2018 –19. Work
has continued through 2018–19 to finalise changes to support
the transition of infrastructure projects across the City onto the
solution in 2019–20.

The active assessment and management of the performance
of initiatives within these portfolios is an essential component
of performance management. The result of the performance
evaluation of each portfolio is reviewed by the relevant
governance committee.
The core elements of the City’s annual planning and
performance management and reporting arrangements are
shown in the figure below.

Figure 19: Annual planning and reporting context

Annual Plan

City Budget

Context

City Operational Plan

Direction

Council
Monthly Reporting
Quaterly Reviews

Quarterly
Performance
Reporting

Annual Report

Monitoring

Accountability
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The City continues to ensure effective performance
management through:
• developing robust outcomes and performance measures for
the corporate plan and City strategies
• profiling the initiatives in the portfolios and reporting by
exception, enabling the relevant governance committee
to focus on the most important initiatives and those that
require attention
• developing, reviewing and comparing the whole of
portfolio performance
• reviewing the performance of approved benefit
management plans, where benefits are identified for
realisation during the year
• evaluating performance, lessons learned, assurance
and internal audit reviews and implementing a
process of continual improvement in portfolio and
performance management
• evaluating performance through benchmarking,
where possible
• working collaboratively with staff across the organisation to
build knowledge and skills on outcome and performance
measure development and performance management.
During 2018–19, work continued to improve portfolio, program
and project management business processes across the
organisation, recognising that the City Operational Plan is
delivering a significant program by number and value of
initiatives on an annual basis (including infrastructure, business
improvement, Digital City and ICT initiatives).

Key performance reports
There are three key performance reports required under the
Act, the City Operational Plan, the Corporate Plan and the
Annual Report.

City Operational Plan
A performance report on the City Operational Plan is provided
on a quarterly basis to both the Executive Leadership Team
and Council. The performance of the City Operational Plan
portfolio is assessed by reviewing initiative performance.
The City Operational Plan 2018–19 consisted of 63 reported
initiatives with a total budget of $150.3 million. At the end of
June 2019:
• $113.8 million (76 per cent) of the total budget had
been spent
• 49 (78 per cent) of the initiatives were either on track
or completed.
An overview of City Operational Plan performance and
highlights can be found in section 1.4.
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Corporate Plan – Gold Coast 2022
Gold Coast 2022 is structured around three themes – Place,
Prosperity and People. A performance report on the Corporate
Plan is provided on a quarterly basis on initiatives (Corporate
Plan signature actions) and on an annual basis for initiatives
and outcomes to both the Executive Leadership Team
and Council.
Gold Coast 2022 included 41 reported initiatives with a total
budget of $110.7 million. At the end of June 2019:
• $87.9 million (79 per cent) of the total budget
had been spent
• 34 (83 per cent) of the initiatives were either on track
or completed.
In relation to Gold Coast 2022 outcome performance, 10 of
the 23 outcomes were rated as on track with 12 identified as
monitor and one as review at the end of 2018–19. Work will
be undertaken in 2019–20 to consider what action may be
required to improve performance against these outcomes.
A detailed review of outcome performance measures and
exception based commentary can be found on the following
pages. An overview of Gold Coast 2022 performance and
highlights can be found in section 1.4.
The Performance Legend for the Corporate Plan can be
found below.
Figure 20: Legend – Corporate Plan performance measure status and
outcome measure status

Legend – Corporate Plan
Performance
measure status

Definition

On track

Results reflect the desired trend measure
result is better than the baseline and better
than the previous result OR is the baseline.

Monitor

Measure result is the same as the baseline
and better than the previous result. This
result requires monitoring.

Review

Measure result is worse than the baseline.
This result requires review.

Not reported

Expected data was unavailable at the time
of reporting.

Outcome status

Definition

On track

The average score of the performance
measure results assigned to that outcome,
indicating a trend toward the desired results.

Monitor

The average score of the performance
measure results assigned to that outcome,
indicating no new progress toward the
desired results. This outcome
requires monitoring.

Review

The average score of the performance
measure results assigned to that outcome,
indicating a trend away from the desired
results. This outcome requires review.

Note: A single performance outcome measure may be used to support the
assessment of more than one Gold Coast 2022 outcome, however, it is reported
under the primary outcome only.
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// World Heritage Rainforest, Purling Brook Falls, Springbrook National Park.
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The best PLACE to live, visit and stay
Table 32: Progress towards PLACE outcomes

Outcomes – what we
will see in 2022

Outcome
status

Performance measure

Measure
status

1.1

Our city provides
a choice of
liveable places

Monitor

Percentage of city dwellings that are detached

Review

Rating for ‘appealing environment’

On track

We live in balance
with nature

Review

Condition of native vegetation cover

Review

Total native vegetation cover

Review

We manage our
resources for a
sustainable future

Monitor

Percentage of total waste recycled

Review

Average annual grading of waterways across the city

On track

Water system losses (%)

Monitor

Average water use per person per day (litres)

On track

Percentage of water recycled

On track

Percentage of daily trips using public transport

Not reported

Percentage of people who are satisfied with public transport

On track

Percentage of daily trips taken by private motor vehicle

Not reported

Average vehicle travel time along key road corridors within the city during peak hours

Not reported

Improved traffic flows and reduced accident rates on key road corridors and key
intersections throughout the city

Not reported

Average broadband speed

On track

Number of City services using Internet of Things (IoT) systems/networks

Monitor

Number of neighbourhood/local centres

Monitor

Percentage of people who live within 800m of public transport

On track

Percentage of residents who live within 400m of a recreational park

On track

Percentage of people who are satisfied with public transport

On track

Parking occupancy rates within key city centres

On track

Community satisfaction with services for beach facilities and safety

Review

Sufficient sand volumes along Gold Coast beaches

Not reported

Percentage of coastal public beachfront requiring protection with a
certified seawall – public

On track

Percentage of properties that are exposed to unacceptable natural hazard risks

Not reported

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

We can get around
the city easily

Monitor

We are an active
digital city

On track

Our modern
centres create
vibrant
communities

On track

1.7

Everyone can
enjoy a beach
experience

Monitor

1.8

Our city is resilient
to natural hazards

On track

102

CHAPTER 3 GOVERNANCE

Exception based commentary on the outcome performance against this theme is below.

Outcome 1.1 Our city provides a choice of liveable places
The City Plan provides for a choice of different housing types consistent with a city having a compact urban structure of well
planned communities. As the city population grows, the proportion of detached dwellings is expected to reduce over time, reflecting
diversity of housing choice supported by improvements in city connectivity. While the percentage of detached dwellings reduced
since 2013 from 50 per cent to 46.3 per cent in 2017–18, the result for 2018–19 increased to 49.3 per cent, which is above the
desired checkpoint for 2019 of 42 per cent. This fluctuation of market conditions, evident over recent years, was contributed to by
the northern growth corridor having a significant increase in sales for house and land packages in mid–2017 to late 2018 and by an
increase in the number of secondary dwelling approvals in response to planning scheme changes. This will be closely monitored to
determine whether there is an established trend before any amendments to the City Plan are proposed.

Outcome 1.2 We live in balance with nature
The Gold Coast is a biodiverse city which understands the importance of natural assets to lifestyle. This is reflected in the Our
Natural City Strategy, adopted in 2017, which encourages nature based recreation while at the same time safeguarding our beaches,
wetlands, waterways, rainforests, bushland, coastal and marine environments and the wildlife these habitats support.
The results this year demonstrate a decline in the total native vegetation cover and condition of native vegetation across the city.
Between 2005–15 there has been a net decrease in native vegetation cover of 0.37 per cent (489 ha) and the latest data identifies
the City’s total native vegetation cover at 50.22 per cent (64,950 ha). The condition of the city’s native vegetation cover (includes
native high quality vegetation, disturbed remnant vegetation and the regrowth remnant vegetation) has also declined from the 2013
baseline, with a decrease in both high quality and disturbed remnant vegetation recorded.
Our Natural City Strategy includes a range of actions to address improvement in 2019–20, including commencing a native
vegetation restoration project, designed to support the condition of native vegetation and vegetation cover.

Outcome 1.3 We manage our resources for a sustainable future
The Solid Waste Strategy 2024, adopted in 2015 seeks to engage the city in positive waste behaviours such as waste avoidance,
re-use and recycling.
During 2018–19 the percentage of total waste recycled was 37.4 per cent which is below the desired 2019 checkpoint of 45 per
cent. This result, though similar to 2017–18, included an increase in construction and demolition recycling and decrease in domestic
waste recycling.
The Solid Waste Strategy has a number of actions planned in 2019 –20 which are expected to improve this position, including the
expansion and promotion of the green waste service city wide and the promotion of waste recycling centres such as recycle street
and green waste drop and go zones.

Outcome 1.7 Everyone can enjoy a beach experience
The City delivers a variety of services to support beach safety, and maintains strong relationships with other organisations, such as
Surf Lifesaving Queensland, the Department of Agriculture and Fisheries, and Maritime Safety Queensland to enhance the reputation
of the Gold Coast as a safe place to enjoy the beach. The City also delivers and maintains a variety of beach facility infrastructure to
enhance users’ ability to enjoy our coastline.
The 2019 survey result for community satisfaction with services for beach facilities and safety of 86.69 per cent is a decrease from
2017–18 result of 95.38 per cent. This decrease may be attributed to a change in the survey response form, which adjusted the
range of scoring compared to previous years. This adjustment was made through the Corporate Communication Branch to align
the survey with standard industry survey practices. This result, while a decrease from previous years, continues to reflect high
satisfaction with City beach facilities and safety. The survey responses will be used to inform future actions of the Ocean Beaches
Strategy 2013–2023.
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PROSPERITY built on a strong diverse economy
Table 33: Progress towards PROSPERITY outcomes

Outcomes – what we
will see in 2022

Outcome
status

Performance measure

Measure
status

2.1

Monitor

Increase in the number of businesses employing in the city

On track

Growth in the number of knowledge based jobs (non-population serving
employment)

Not reported

Increase in international students

Not reported

Attract national sporting organisations to relocate to the city

Review

Growth in the number of people employed in creative industries

On track

Rating for ‘Culture’

On track

Increase GDP related to creative industries

Not reported

Increase in the value of film productions

Review

Percentage business growth in key economic zones

Not reported

Productive value add per worker

Review

Rating for ‘Adequate infrastructure’

On track

Standard of living (Gross Regional Product per capita)

On track

Business confidence in the economy

Not reported

Number of people employed in the city

On track

Standard of living (Gross Regional Product per capita)

On track

Rating for ‘Favourable environment for business’

On track

Value of Gold Coast exports

Not reported

The amount of money spent by international visitors each year

On track

The amount of money spent by domestic visitors each year

On track

Rating for ‘Appealing Experiences’

On track

Rating for ‘City ranking’

On track

Percentage increase in favourable environment for doing business

On track

Global media reach

On track

Visitor sentiment

Not reported

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6
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Our city’s
economy is diverse
and innovative

We have a thriving
cultural economy

We have
infrastructure that
supports productivity
and growth

We are a city with a
strong and globally
competitive business
environment

We are a globally
recognised tourism
destination

We have a positive
global reputation

Monitor

Monitor

On track

On track

On track
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Exception based commentary on the outcome performance against this theme is below.

Outcome 2.1 Our city’s economy is diverse and innovative
The City aims to attract two new national sporting organisations a year to relocate to the Gold Coast, to support job creation and
increase the capability and capacity of the local Gold Coast sports industry. Since 2015, the City has facilitated the attraction of four
sporting organisations to relocate their offices to the Gold Coast (Squash Australia, Triathlon Australia, Mountain Bike Australia and
FIBA Oceania). While there were no new organisations attracted to the Gold Coast during 2018 –19, the City will continue to target a
range of sporting organisations to establish their headquarters on the Gold Coast in the coming year.

Outcome 2.2 We have a thriving cultural economy
The City is striving to attract and retain creative skills, talent and investment in order to build a strong cultural economy. A key
segment of the cultural economy is the city’s film industry. The City’s Film Attraction Program provides financial incentives and
support to film, television and related productions who are considering the Gold Coast as a film location. Success is measured
through the value of film and television productions that generate benefits for the local economy. This year, while the result was below
the 2016 baseline of $135 million and desired 2019 target of $149 million, the value of film production increased from $42.8 million
to $133.4 million due to the filming of three international feature films including: Dora The Explorer; Godzilla vs Kong; and Monster
Problems; and the television series, Reef Break.

Outcome 2.3 We have infrastructure that supports productivity and growth
The productivity of the workforce is an important economic indicator and monitoring change supports City advocacy for future
funding and resources.
The results this year demonstrate a slight decrease in the productive value add per worker from the 2015 baseline of $96,613 to
$95,135 in 2018–19. This is primarily due to a reduction in productivity relating to agriculture, forestry and fishing and mining.
These results will be used to inform future actions of the Economic Development Strategy.

// Behind the scenes on the set of Dora and the Lost City of Gold at Village Roadshow Studios, Oxenford.
Photo credit: Mick Mayhew, Paramount Pictures © Paramount Pictures Corporation.
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PEOPLE contribute to a strong community spirit
Table 34: Progress towards PEOPLE outcomes

Outcomes – what we
will see in 2022

Outcome
status

Performance measure

Measure
status

3.1

Monitor

Percentage of residents who feel safe in their neighbourhood

Not reported

Rating for ‘Safe environment for visitors and residents’

On track

Percentage of residents who indicated that they had an emergency plan

Review

Percentage of residents who have one place where emergency items are
stored in case they are impacted by severe weather

Review

Percentage of community who feel proud of the Gold Coast

Monitor

Percentage of the community engaged in volunteering

Monitor

Percentage of residents who feel a sense of belonging to their community

Not reported

Percentage increase in attendance at events celebrating national cultures

Not reported

Percentage of bus stops that comply with DSAPT (Disability Standards for
Accessible Public Transport)

On track

Increase in the number of people participating in arts and culture in the city

On track

Growth in the number of people employed in creative industries

On track

Number of heritage places protected

On track

Percentage increase in residents with a bachelor/tertiary degree or above

Review

Number of people employed in the city

On track

Increase in jobs in the education and training sector

On track

Growth in the number of knowledge based jobs
(non-population serving employment)

Not reported

Percentage of people who make daily trips by walking

Not reported

Percentage of people who make daily trips by cycling

Not reported

Percentage of Gold Coast City adult residents who meet the
National Physical Activity Guidelines

Review

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6
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Our city is safe

We are proud of
our city

Monitor

Our community
is inclusive and
supportive

Monitor

Our city embraces
culture every day

Our city provides a
wide range of job
opportunities

We are an active
and healthy
community

On track

Monitor

Monitor
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Exception based commentary on the outcome performance against this theme is below.

Outcome 3.1 Our city is safe
While the Gold Coast is renowned for its sunny weather, the city is still vulnerable to floods, storms, bushfires, cyclones and heat
waves. The City supports community resilience by providing advice, emergency checklists and kits and disaster coordination and
recovery services.
The community survey for 2018–19 identifies that 46 per cent of Gold Coast residents have an emergency kit or one place where
emergency items are stored in case of severe weather or disaster compared with 35.8% in 2017–18. While this represents a 10 per
cent increase since the previous year, this result falls below the desired 2019 checkpoint of 65 per cent. With regard to emergency
plans, 40 per cent of residents indicated that they have an emergency plan for their household, compared with 43.1% in 2017–18.
This represents a slight decrease since the previous year and is below the desired checkpoint of 45 per cent for 2019.
While these measures did not reach the intended target this is likely to be a result of inadequate survey techniques and unrealistic
increase percentages within current targets.
Current research indicates that disaster preparedness can be measured through the following elements:
• understanding and awareness of risks
• perception of roles and responsibilities in a disaster/emergency
• means of accessing disaster related information
• motivating factors and barriers for disaster preparedness
• preparedness actions taken.
Moving to these measures, conducting a baseline survey to determine current preparedness levels will enhance our current
understanding of community disaster preparedness. Once implemented, a targeted increase of 5 per cent of preparedness levels is a
goal which is specific, measurable, achievable, realistic and timely.
The current survey responses will be used to inform future actions to improve resident preparedness for emergencies.
The City will continue to engage local residents through the ‘Get Ready Gold Coast’ campaign that aims to educate, raise awareness
and encourage action to build resilience against future disaster events.

Outcome 3.5 Our city provides a wide range of job opportunities
City of Gold Coast supports lifelong learning, recognising that anyone, at any age, can make a positive contribution to the life and
future of our city. A key indicator, which supports the growth of the city’s economy is the percentage of residents with a bachelor/
tertiary degree or above.
The latest result reported in 2018–19 was that 23.2% of residents had a bachelor/tertiary degree or above compared with the
national average of 30.2%, which was the desired checkpoint for 2019. While this result is lower than desired, the result of 23.2%
reflects a significant increase on the original baseline of 14.3% in 2011. These results will be used to inform future actions of the
Economic Development Strategy.

Outcome 3.6 We are an active and healthy community
City of Gold Coast encourages residents to lead active and healthy lives and provides sporting facilities and recreation opportunities
for both residents and visitors.
While the percentage of City of Gold Coast adult residents undertaking sufficient activity to meet the National Physical Activity
Guidelines has improved since 2009–10 (57.6%), the results for 2018–19 were 63 per cent, which is below the baseline of 64.1%
(2014) and the desired checkpoint of 68.26% (2019). However, the proportion of adults on the Gold Coast undertaking sufficient
physical activity for a health benefit is still higher than most other regional areas.
A more targeted approach is needed towards inactive people to re-engage them with physical activity as they are less likely to
engage in traditional sports.
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SUPPORTING the delivery of Gold Coast 2022
Table 35: Progress towards SUPPORTING outcomes

Outcomes – what we
will see in 2022

We plan for the future
of the city

We manage the city
responsibly

We actively engage
residents, customers
and visitors

Outcome
status

Monitor

On track

On track

Performance measure

Measure
status

Rating for leadership

On track

Asset renewal funding ratio

On track

Leverage ratio

On track

Operating surplus ratio

On track

Debt service coverage

On track

Lost time injury frequency rate (LTIF)

On track

Partnering for performance participation rate (%)

Not reported

Domestic collected waste disposed per household (kg per household per year)

On track

Average duration of unplanned interruption – water (minutes)

On track

Average Residential Rate Rise (ARRR)

On track

Overall rating of customer service experience rated good or excellent

On track

Level of participation in City community engagement

On track

Online submission of customer requests via forms and apps

On track

Percentage of notices (rates and water) provided to ratepayers online

On track

Note: *Refer to Chapter 4 Community Financial Report for information.

Exception based commentary on the outcome performance against this theme is not required.

Annual Report
The Annual Report is a legislative accountability document adopted annually by Council. It provides a comprehensive annual
review of the activity of the City of Gold Coast and includes a performance report on the City Operational Plan, Corporate Plan
and Community Financial Report (including the audited financial statements).
The City was recognised for its Annual Report 2017–18 at the 2018 Australasian Reporting Awards, winning the Gold Award for
Excellence in Reporting.
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Other performance reports
Other City performance reports include:

Value for Money Report
The Value for Money Report is an annual report provided to Council which provides a progress report against initiatives identified in
the Value for Money Program as well as identifying the plan for the year ahead.
The City continued to progress a program of work to deliver better value for money outcomes. The Value for Money Program
includes initiatives providing value for money as a result of customer service improvements, business efficiency, risk mitigation,
revenue generation and cost savings. A summary of some of the key actions progressed and results are shown in the table below.
Table 36: Value for Money

Category

Progress 2018 –19

Service
Strategy

• Introduction of the Immediate Injury Management Program with a 24 hour hotline for reporting injuries, access to
medical treatment for work-related injuries and a dedicated team to provide immediate and ongoing support to facilitate
rehabilitation and recovery at work.
• Significant reduction in the cost and time associated with workplace injuries since 2015–16.

Governance
and
Structure

• Implementation of a review of City maintenance services which resulted in a 37 per cent reduction in staff injuries, a
reduction of overtime hours and improved fleet utilisation.
• Review of Insurance Unit structure and operations, resulting in a significant decrease in legal costs in relation to
in-house claims handling; operational savings in relation to GST Input Tax Credits and improvements to City
insurance arrangements.
• Implementation of a review of the Business Support Branch, Economy, Planning and Environment Directorate, resulting
in changes to the branch structure and increased efficiency of business processes.

Service
Delivery
Model

• Surf Network (Wi-Fi) analytics implemented providing real-time data to support visitor, event and economic analysis,
avoiding vendor costs of $18,000 in 2018–19.
• Data storage optimisation and reporting for parking services, leading to avoided costs of over $250,000 over two years.
• Variable school signs proof of concept successful. This will provide remote system management and bankable benefits
as the change is rolled out across the fleet of 80 signs in 2019–20.
• Successful field trials of smart water meters, providing real time analytics and network management (including leak
detection). This is expected to result in a reduction in devices and licence costs following roll-out.
• Review of the Scientific Services delivery model, resulting in a reduction of 30 per cent in average service turnaround
times, National Association of Testing Authorities, Australia (NATA) accreditation for Legionella testing and
$43,000 savings.

Revenue

• Replacement of 29,000 water meters since 2017–18 resulting in an estimated increase in revenue of $967,000
over this period.
• Implemented new charging regime for telecommunications companies using City assets, with revenue of $184,000
secured in 2018–19.

Assets

• Advocacy activity to reduce network changes within the current regulatory period for public lighting has achieved costs
avoidance in 2018–19 of approximately $1.586 million.
• Continued advocacy presence throughout 2018–19 has resulted in retaining network reductions of approx.
$1.4 million in 2019 –20 and each year thereafter in the regulatory period of 2020–25 (approximately $7 million).
• Advocacy activities in public lighting have achieved accumulated savings of approximately $6.4 million since
2015 –16 to 2018 –19.
• Reduction of the City’s energy expenditure through category and vendor management of over $470,000.
• Solar installations on City assets achieved savings of $195,000.
• Completed installation of fibre optic cabling network from Helensvale to Broadbeach, providing improved service at
libraries and public facilities and support for the CCTV network.
• Developed a low power wide area network to support the connection of thousands of devices. The network will reduce
costs for energy management, water metering, smart parks, bin sensors, people counting and flood sensors by around
60 per cent on market-priced network costs, with benefits commencing in 2019–20.
• Integration of the Sustainable Pavement Management Plan (SPMP) into the City Transport Asset Management Plan,
resulting in the gap graded crumbed rubber trials in 2018–19, reducing the total rehabilitation cost for projects
by 30 per cent.
• Completed SEQ Water Demand Validation Study which has resulted in an improved understanding of customer water
use, demand forecasts and leakage.
• Collaborative Schools Water Conservation Program implemented across 96 schools in the city, working with Griffith
University. This program provides schools with access to an online portal providing real-time daily water consumption,
and has resulted in savings of around $432,000 per annum on volumetric water consumption charges for schools.

State of the Organisation Report
The State of the Organisation Report is an annual report provided to Council which provides an analysis of organisational
performance in key management areas supporting effective corporate governance.
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Supporting the Queensland Plan
Gold Coast 2022 provides support for the Queensland Plan at a local level.
Details of how Gold Coast 2022 outcomes support the Queensland Plan are shown below.
Figure 21: Gold Coast 2022 outcomes supporting the Queensland Plan

The Queensland Plan Foundations

Economy

1.5
2.1
2.2
2.4
2.5
2.6

We are an active digital city
Our City’s economy is diverse and innovative
We have a thriving cultural economy
We are a city with a strong and globally competitive business environment
We are globally recognised tourism destination
We have a positive global reputation

Environment

1.2
1.3
1.7
1.8

We live in balance with nature
We manage our resources for a sustainable future
Everyone can enjoy a beach experience
Our city is resilient to natural hazards

Regions

Infrastructure

Education

Governance

Health and Wellbeing

People

Community
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Gold Coast 2022 Outcome

1.6 Our modern centres create vibrant communities

1.1 Our city provides a choice of liveable places
1.4 We can get around the city easily
2.3 We have infrastructure that supports productivity and growth

3.5 Our city provides a wide range of job opportunities

A
B

We plan for the future of the city
We manage the city responsibly

3.6 We are an active and healthy community

3.2 We are proud of our city
3.3 Our community is inclusive and supportive
C We actively engage residents, customers and visitors

3.1 Our city is safe
3.4 Our city embraces culture everyday
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3.2.3 Engaging residents, customers and visitors
Engaging with the community

Community Engagements 2018–19

Community engagement refers to any process that involves
the community or stakeholder groups in problem solving or
decision making affecting the community.

The City seeks to actively engage the community, enabling
residents, customers and visitors to help shape important
decisions affecting the city. During 2018–19, the City engaged
residents in 23 formal engagements.

Engaging the community in decision making enables better
outcomes for both the community and the City. It offers
different perspectives on a project and allows for concerns,
risks, opportunities and potential solutions to be identified
which leads to more informed decision making and mutual
benefits. Decisions and actions are enhanced as a result of
community engagement.
The City is committed to:
• actively engaging the community in building a sustainable city
• improving understanding of community’s needs
• improving response to community’s needs
• providing the community with the opportunity to have a say
about decisions that affect their lives.
The City undertakes community engagement that is guided
by the International Association of Public Participation (IAP2)
core values and principles. The following five principles guide
community engagement activities:
Working together for the city – residents will understand how
and when to provide ideas, views and feedback to the City.
A continual city dialogue is encouraged where all members of
the Gold Coast community work together for the benefit of the
city, shared outcomes and desired future.
Providing good information – residents will be informed
about issues, services, plans, strategies and decisions
that may affect them or the future development of the city.
Information will be provided in an objective, relevant and
accessible way so everyone has the opportunity to be
meaningfully engaged.
Listening carefully – community views and feedback are
respected and will be considered when decisions are being
made about city issues or future direction.
Ensuring transparency – the community’s role in the
community engagement process, the outcome of the
community engagement and how this has shaped the city’s
future and informed decision making will be transparent with
information and engagement evaluation published in a timely
manner and easily accessible to residents.
Maintaining personal privacy – all personal information held
by the City or under the control of the City will be collected and
managed in accordance with the Information Privacy Principles
prescribed by the Information Privacy Act 2009.

Major city engagements during the year included the following:
Draft Water Strategy – of the 1791 responses to this
engagement, the top priorities included clean waterways for
recreational activity, healthy waterways to support a variety
of plant and animal life, protection of high quality drinking
water through good management and use of innovative
technology and a city with more trees and water features to
support a more comfortable living environment (Draft Water
Strategy, 2018).
City of Gold Coast Libraries user and non user surveys
– of the 5787 responses to this engagement, approximately 80
per cent believed the Gold Coast libraries are vital for enriching
the Gold Coast Gold Coast library user and non user, 2019).
Culture Counts – of the 2491 responses to this engagement,
the average score was 90 per cent in agreement that it’s
important that arts and cultural activity happens on the Gold
Coast (Cultural Impact Public Perception Survey, 2018).
City Budget 2019–20 – of the 1957 participants engaged
with the City Budget consultation, the greatest satisfaction for
local amenities included the signage of parks and reserves,
street signs and landscaping of parks and reserves. The top
priorities for the local community included roads, responsible
development, crime and safety and public transport
(City Budget Consultation, 2019). There was a 51 per cent
increase in the number of responses from the City Budget
2018 –19 consultation.
Other engagements included Your City, Ocean Beaches,
Investigation Areas, Local Law Animal Management,
Coolangatta and Kirra Master Plan, City Plan update,
Eggersdorf Rd and Draft Biosecurity Plan.
The City Panel was launched in 2015–16 to provide an easy,
online mechanism which supports city engagement. It consists
of an open, online group of Gold Coast residents and visitors
who have registered to provide views on a wide range of
topics and decisions that affect the community. City Panel
membership had grown to over 26,700 members by June
2019 up from 21,800 members in June 2018.

Join the City Panel today by visiting ‘GC have your say’
on the City website or in person at one of
our Customer Service Centres
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/gchaveyoursay
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Engaging with stakeholders
The City has a broad range of stakeholders who we engage with in a variety of ways.
Stakeholders

When do we engage?

How do we engage?
• Rates notices
• Community meetings

Residents and ratepayers

Community wide issues such as major projects
and city strategies.

• Social and traditional media
• Information sessions
• Surveys
• City channels (e.g. websites)
• Newsletters and flyers

Groups and committees

Relevant groups or committees (including
volunteers) with an interest or particular
connection to the project/issue.

• Focus/working groups
• Meetings
• Discussion forums (face to face and online)
• Interviews
• Discussion forums (face to face and online)

Specific target groups

Segments of local residents that may be
targeted based on characteristics that are
connected to or important for the project (e.g.
expertise, age, background or location).

• Focus/working groups
• Interviews
• Newsletters and flyers
• Surveys
• Focus/working groups

Local businesses

Projects regarding the business needs
of the community or issues that may
impact local businesses.

• Social media
• City channels (e.g. websites)
• Interviews
• Newsletters and flyers
• Surveys
• Social and traditional media

Service users

School parents, park and recreational
users, travelling public, contractors or suppliers,
visitors, library and sport facilities.

• Local events
• Feedback forums
• Newsletters and flyers
• Information sessions
• Surveys

Cultural and religious groups

City Panel

Governments and partner
organisations
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Projects regarding cultural/religious
beliefs of the community, matters of significance
and/or sensitivities.
A registered panel of engaged
community-wide residents. The panel can be
segmented for targeted engagements.
Projects related to state and national services,
legislation, funding, economies of scale, or the
operations of partner organisations/entities
(e.g. strategies).

• Discussion forums (face to face and online)
• Focus/working groups
• Interviews
• Surveys
• Electronic direct mail
• Online discussion forums
• GC have your say
• Partnerships
• Formal information sessions/briefings
(group and one-to-one)
• Networking events
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Customer services
The City is continuing to actively develop and evolve the service
channels it offers, supporting customers to engage with the
City through their preferred channel of choice. Current channels
include telephone, email, letter, face to face (nine Customer
Service Centres), website and mobile app. We will continue
to make improvements to customer service. In 2018–19 our
Customer Experience Strategy project included a review of
potential future service channels such as Web Chat and SMS.
Through the actions outlined in the draft Strategy the City aims
to make life easier for residents, businesses and visitors by
focussing on service design, service channels, technology, data
(information) and people. Formal community consultation on the
draft Strategy is to occur early in 2019–20 with the final strategy
to be endorsed by Council by the end of 2019.
The peak periods in the last year occurred during the issue of
rates and water notices (rates and water in January, water in
April, rates and water in July, and water in October). This drove
high volumes of customer demand via telephone, email, and via
the City’s Customer Service Centres, which placed additional
pressure on customer wait times during these periods.
Customers were offered a call back option rather than waiting
in a queue during these periods.
The 2018–19 year saw the continued upward trend of total
customer interactions year on year, in line with the growth of
the city as a whole and the support of additional services.
Customers continued to show their preference for using the
City’s digital services as the website and eServices functions
evolved and the importance of search engine optimisation
(such as our ranking order in Google) was realised. Notably
the Events page overtook the Home page as the most visited
webpage by customers.

// In 2018–19, customers continued to show their preference for using the City's
digital services.

During the year:
• The City continued to expand online service functionality,
launching My Account with over 68,000 customers
registering and opting into using digital services. As a result,
almost a third of all rates notices are now being sent via email.
• The annual volume of phone enquiries received did not
increase for the first time since the creation of the centralised
customer contact centre in 2011 while face to face visits
continued to decline by approximately eight per cent year
on year. Customers are clearly shifting to online channels,
with over three million different customers visiting the City’s
website in the past year, which is a 19 per cent increase from
the previous year.
• The City expanded the ability for customers to opt in for
a call back rather than wait on hold for phone enquiries,
particularly during peak periods. This resulted in more than
one in 10 customers using this functionality.
The City also continues to ensure that all customer
information is managed in a way that respects and secures all
personal information.

Access ‘My Account’ using the link below
cityofgoldcoast.com.au/myaccount
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GOLD
COAST
WATER

// Water refill station, Southport.
114

CHAPTER 03 GOVERNANCE

3.3 GOLD COAST WATER
ANNUAL OPERATIONS REPORT 2018 –19
Commercial business activity
Gold Coast Water provides customers with water and
sewerage services in the Gold Coast region and operates
as a Commercial Business Unit (CBU) within the Water and
Waste Directorate in accordance with the Local Government
Regulations 2012 and Council Resolution No. G11.1031.026.
A CBU conducts business by adhering to the key principles of
commercialisation, namely having:
• clarity of objectives
• management autonomy and authority (governance)
• accountability for performance
• competitive neutrality.

Managing the city’s water
In accordance with the South East Queensland Water
(Distribution and Retail Restructuring) Act 2009, the primary
functions of Gold Coast Water are to:
• purchase and distribute water
• provide water and sewerage services to customers

Pimpama to Coombabah Sewage Treatment Plant
release main
This project includes design and construction of the first stage
of works required to upgrade the transfer of excess recycled
water from Pimpama Sewage Treatment Plant to Coombabah
Sewage Treatment Plant. The proposed infrastructure includes
upgrade of a section of pipeline approximately 1.8km in length
discharging to the Coombabah Sewage Treatment Plant
recycled water storage lagoon.
This multi-year project is being delivered. Detailed design
work, various approvals, final construction contract award,
commencement of preliminary construction works and
procurement of pipes were completed throughout 2018 –19.
This multi-year project is in delivery phase with completion
scheduled for 30 June 2020.
Recycled water network expansion
Infrastructure works required for the expansion of the recycled
water network to implement improved utilisation of recycled
water across the city.

• perform functions relating to trade waste and seepage
water as a sewerage service provider

As at the 30 June 2019, this multi-year project was in its
planning phase. Alignment drawings have been completed for
all new infrastructure and contact has been made with recycled
water customers and other stakeholders associated with the
project. Early works for delivery of infrastructure to Sanctuary
Cove and Hope Island Golf courses is scheduled to commence
upon signing of recycled water agreements during 2019 –20.

• perform planning and development assessment functions
under the Planning Act 2016

This project will continue into 2019 –20, with completion
scheduled for 30 June 2023.

• charge customers for relevant services
• manage customer enquiries, service requests
and complaints

• anything else likely to complement or enhance a function
mentioned above – specifically, analytical laboratory services
directly to external customers.

Assessment of operations
The following summarises the major investments undertaken
in the 2018–19 financial year in line with the 2018–19 Annual
Performance Plan.
Long Term Recycled Water Release Plan stage 1
The Long Term Recycled Water Release Plan is required to
support continued growth and economic development of the
city. Stage 1 consists of infrastructure upgrades that increases
capacity and allows incremental staging of the ultimate solution
to cater for both average and peak excess recycled water for
the whole of the city.

Potable water filling stations
This project will upgrade 11 existing potable water filling
stations to address safety concerns. It will mitigate existing
risks associated with metered standpipe users connecting
to hydrant points that are not located in safe areas from a
traffic perspective and reduce the risk of contamination of the
drinking water supply.
The construction contract has been awarded in 2018 –19 and
works have commenced.
This project will carry over into 2019–20, with completion
scheduled for October 2019.

This multi-year project is being delivered with completion
scheduled by 30 June 2020.
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// Long Term Recycled Water Release, Southport.

Coombabah Sewage Treatment Plant stage 6 upgrade
Upgrade of Coombabah Sewage Treatment Plant to provide
additional treatment capacity to cater for growth and meet
licence requirements. Coombabah catchment is expected to
experience significant growth over the coming years. The light
rail corridor and Southport Priority Development Area are some
of the major developments in this catchment.
Preliminary geotechnical site investigations and site ecological
studies were completed early in 2019. In March 2019 the
design consultancy contract was awarded. Preliminary design
will be finalised prior to issuing the design development and
construct tender in late 2019.
This multi-year project will continue into 2019–20, with
completion scheduled for 30 June 2023.
New water mains in Coomera
Installation of approximately 2,000 meters of water main to
accommodate future growth in the Coomera area as identified
through the Local Government Infrastructure Plan process.
This is developer delivered infrastructure and construction
has not yet commenced.
Elanora Sewage Treatment Plant digester A sludge
heater refurbishment
Refurbishment of digester A and replacement of gas
pipework, railings, roof seal and digester heaters at Elanora
Sewage Treatment Plant including cleaning and opportunistic
replacement of internal mechanical, electrical and
civil components.
This multi-year project is currently being delivered. This project
will continue into 2019–20, with completion scheduled for
March 2020.
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Coombabah Sewage Treatment Plant digesters
cogeneration unit
Supply and install a 500kW Cogeneration Unit at
Coombabah Sewage Treatment Plant along with a
pre-gas treatment system.
This multi-year project is in the procurement phase, with the
design and construction specification for the works nearing
completion. It is expected that tenders for the works will
be released in mid–2019 with the project scheduled to be
completed by 30 June 2020.
Stapylton Jacobs Well Road water main
Construct approximately 2,000 meters of water main in the
Stapylton/Jacobs Well area to accommodate future growth
as identified through the Local Government Infrastructure
Plan process.
This project is in the procurement phase, with design works
planned for completion by December 2019. Construction
is scheduled to commence early in 2020 with completion by
30 June 2020.
Sewage treatment plant process tank
refurbishment 2018 – 21
Refurbish sewage treatment plant tanks as part of a three year
program including mechanical, electrical and civil components,
protective coating and other asset renewal activities.
This project will continue into 2019–20, with completion
scheduled for 30 June 2021.
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Table 37: Gold Coast Water Key performance indicators

On track

Monitor
Annual target

Actual 2018 –19

We ensure zero harm
Water quality complaints (number per 1000 properties)

<3

1.2

0

0.4

<7

5

Number of zones microbiological compliance achieved (%)

18 (100%)

18 (100%)

Number of zones chemical compliance achieved (%)

18 (100%)

18 (100%)

Yes

Yes

100%

100%

Total water and sewerage complaints to include water quality, water service and sewerage
service: (number per 1000 properties)

<6

3.15

Percentage of priority one response time is achieved for water incidents (% of priority one
jobs responded to within two hours)

100%

94.3%

Percentage of priority one response time is achieved for sewerage incidents (% of priority
one jobs responded to within two hours)

100%

93.9%

5 mins

1min 38sec

Percentage of Energy Water Ombudsman Queensland requests responded to within 20
business days

100%

95%

Percentage of matters directed to the Ombudsman that are resolved in Council’s favour

100%

86%

<75

69

Within 10%

-19%

Within 5%

2% (102%)

Sewerage mains breaks and chokes (per 100km sewer main)

<15

4.95

Average duration of unplanned interruption – water (minutes)

<120

126

Incidence of unplanned interruptions – water (per 1000 properties)

<80

86.84

Total water main breaks per 100km of main – water

<12

9.2

Sewer overflows reported to the regulator (>10,000L spills per 100km of main)
Number of Lost Time Injuries (count)

Compliance with drinking water management plan
Sewage treatment plant compliance (greater than 99.5% of the time)

We strive for satisfied customers

Average wait time (minutes)

We manage finances responsibly
Water system losses (litres/connection/day)
Percentage of initial capital works program budget delivered
Percentage of initial controllable expenditure budget spent

We deliver reliable services

Changes made to Annual Performance
Plan 2018–19
No changes were made to the Annual Performance Plan
during 2018–19.

Council directions to Gold Coast Water
during 2018–19
Council made the following directions to Gold Coast Water
during 2018 –19:
• Council resolution G14.0916.004 – that the adopted
infrastructure charges are adjusted so that there is a 100
per cent discount for family accommodation dwellings of
100m² Gross Floor Area (GFA) or less for any approvals
issued on or after 1 July 2014 through the remainder of this
Council’s term.

Permanent changes to Adopted Infrastructure Charges
Resolution (AICR):
1. Existing building – no infrastructure charges levied for any
change in non-residential land use (ongoing).
2. Expansion – for non-residential land uses, up to an
additional 50 per cent of GFA or a maximum of 500m²,
whichever is the lower, will be exempt from infrastructure
charges (ongoing).
3. Family accommodation – no charge for family
accommodation dwellings of 100m² GFA or less. Family
accommodation dwellings greater than 100m² GFA will be
charged at 40 per cent of the relevant AICR charge (ongoing).
4. Not-for-profit community groups – rebates for the water and
wastewater networks will be restored, following the return of
responsibility to the City (ongoing).
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GOLD
COAST
WASTE
MANAGEMENT

// Recycle Street, Helensvale.
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3.4 GOLD COAST WASTE MANAGEMENT
ANNUAL OPERATIONS REPORT 2018–19
Commercial business activity

Assessment of operations

Gold Coast Waste Management provides customers with solid
waste collection and management services in the Gold Coast
region and operates as a Commercial Business Unit (CBU)
within the Water and Waste Directorate in accordance with the
Local Government Regulation 2012 and Council Resolution
No. G97.1110.010.

The following summarises the major investments undertaken
in the 2018–19 financial year in line with the 2018 –19 Annual
Performance Plan.

A CBU conducts business by adhering to the following key
principles of commercialisation:
• clarity of objectives
• management autonomy and authority (governance)

Reedy Creek Landfill cells 3 and 4
The Environmental Regulator requires liners to be placed
beneath all waste disposed of at landfills. Reedy Creek Landfill
cell 3 and 4 construction is programed in order to maintain
availability of landfill void space as existing landfill cells come
to the end of their useful life.

• accountability for performance

Design of the works has been completed. Construction
timing is being finalised.

• competitive neutrality.

Stapylton Landfill main access upgrade

Managing the city’s solid waste
In accordance with the Waste Reduction and Recycling
Act 2011, the primary functions of Gold Coast Waste
Management are to:
• promote waste avoidance and reduction, and resource
recovery and efficiency actions

Enhanced site road infrastructure at entry and exit of the
Staplyton Landfill site inclusive of provision of new wheel
wash. The road and enhanced wheel wash infrastructure will
enable improved traffic management and compliance with
environmental regulation requiring a landfill wheel wash and
the prevention of tracking vehicle mud and dirt off site and
onto public roads.

• reduce the consumption of natural resources and minimise
the disposal of waste by encouraging waste avoidance and
the recovery, re-use and recycling of waste

This multi-year project will continue into 2019 – 20, with
completion scheduled for 30 June 2020.

• minimise the overall impact of waste generation
and disposal

Implementation of key initiatives outlined in the Solid Waste
Strategy 2024, including (but not limited to):

• ensure a shared responsibility between government,
business and industry and the community in waste
management resource recovery
• support and implement national frameworks, objectives and
priorities for waste management and resource recovery.

Solid Waste Strategy 2024

• Waste and Recycling Centre review.
• Assessment of Organic Waste Program.
• Commercial Food Waste Service Trial.
These key initiatives have been delivered and assessment
of recommendations are currently underway to determine
strategy moving forward.
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// Reedy Creek Community Waste and Recycling Market.

Waste and Recycling Centre bin bay upgrades
Upgrade bin bays at Reedy Creek, Helensvale, Merrimac, Jacobs Well and Springbrook Waste and Recycling Centres to
address operational and safety issues.
Consultancy design was completed in June 2019. Budget for delivery of the works is to be reviewed prior to construction
tenders being called.
This multi-year project will continue into 2019–20, with completion scheduled for 30 June 2020.
Stapylton Landfill cell 7
The Environmental Regulator requires liners to be placed beneath all waste disposed of at landfills. Stapylton Landfill cell 7
construction is programmed in order to maintain availability of landfill void space as existing landfill cells come to the end of
their useful life.
A review of landfill filling rates has resulted in these works have being deferred until 2022–23 with final completion scheduled
for 30 June 2024.
Reedy Creek Landfill internal road and stormwater upgrade
Upgrade to the internal road network, stormwater catchment systems and road entrance at Reedy Creek Landfill to improve
safety and environmental outcomes.
These works have been placed on hold pending the outcome of further planning related to the future M1 upgrade and
heavy rail extension.

120

CHAPTER 3 GOVERNANCE

Table 38: Gold Coast Waste Management Key performance indicators

On track

Monitor
Annual target

Actual 2018–19

We ensure zero harm
Number of Lost Time Injuries
Landfill gas capture efficiency (%)
Number of reportable environmental incidents to the regulator
Number of Enviromental Authority exceedances

<6

6

>20%

13.2%

<5

1

0

39

<0.5

0.053

Within 10%

- 65%

Within 5%

0% (100%)

>45%

37.4%

<0.07%

0.059%

<12

11

We strive for satisfied customers
Valid litter, odour, dust and noise complaints (number per 1000 households)

We manage finances responsibly
Percentage of initial capital works program budget delivered
Percentage of initial controllable expenditure budget spent
(includes all operating expenses except waste collection payments)

We deliver reliable services
Percentage of total waste recycled or recovered
Percentage of missed collections from total services
Number of days landfill or waste and recycling centre closures occurred during normal
operational hours.
N.B. – Any closure for any length of time is counted as 1 day

Changes made to Annual Performance Plan 2018–19
No changes were made to the Annual Performance Plan during 2018 –19.

Council directions to Gold Coast Waste Management 2018–19
There were no Council directions for Gold Coast Waste Management in 2018 –19.
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Chapter four provides the Community Financial Report and audited
Financial Statements of Council for the year ended 30 June 2019.
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4.1 REPORT BY THE MANAGER CORPORATE FINANCE
The Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth Games (GC2018) was
a major turning point for the Gold Coast, helping generate
significant momentum for the city’s future growth. This
momentum continued in 2018 –19 with the commencement or
continuation of a number of major new initiatives in the areas of:
• roads and transport

• parks and recreation

• water and sewerage

• economic development

• beaches and waterways

• digital network

• arts and culture

• events

• community/sporting hubs
These initiatives have been made possible at the same time
as the Queensland Treasury Corporation’s credit rating for the
City of Gold Coast (City) in 2018 improved from ‘sound’ with a
‘neutral’ outlook to ‘sound’ with a ‘positive’ outlook.

Key financial outcome
Council’s financial strength continued to grow in 2018–19, as
evidenced by:
• The average owner occupied residential rates and charges
increase was held at CPI.
• Debt reduced by $37.7 million while cash, primarily set
aside for infrastructure projects, increased by $127.6 million.
• Employee costs reduced by 0.54%.
• Delivered infrastructure asset renewals to the value of
$118.5 million compared with $104.5 million identified in the
asset management plans.
• Community equity grew by $877 million.
• Overall, the financial sustainability indicators are strong in
most categories when compared against approved targets.
• Queensland Treasury Corporation’s credit rating for the City
in 2018 improved. The City is now rated as ‘sound’ with a
‘positive’ outlook.

Key initiatives
The City has delivered on the key initiatives identified in the
Annual Plan for 2018–19, including:
• Finalisation of its commitments to Light Rail Stage 2 from
the Gold Coast University Hospital to Helensvale.

• Commenced construction of the Pimpama Sporting Hub.
• Commenced work at Robina Parklands.
• Set aside funding for the acquisition of land for use as
koala habitat.

Financial performance
The City continues to have in place a comprehensive 10 year
financial plan that outlines the funding proposals for the delivery
of key strategies and asset management requirements over the
next 10 year horizon and beyond for major infrastructure.
In addition to the prescribed indicators for local government,
Council evaluates its financial performance against the
following four key pillars:
1. Competitive rating levels and user pay charges
The City spends within its means and prioritises spending
to provide value for money to its ratepayers and keep rate
increases to a minimum.
The Corporate Plan, Gold Coast 2022, provides the following
undertaking to ratepayers of the Gold Coast:
“Deliver prudent financial management which supports
high quality city services and provides value for money
and continues to deliver average rises for residential nonCommunity Title Property (CTP) dwellings being principal
place of residence under or as near to CPI as possible
while employing fiscal restraint in other fees, charges and
rate categories”.
The City has kept the average increase in owner occupied
residential rates and charges for 2019 –20 at 1.68%.
The Brisbane CPI for June 2019 was 1.7%.
2. Debt levels and capacity to service debt
The City operates a balanced budget and only borrows where
necessary for major infrastructure projects. The City does not
borrow to fund operational costs.
Debt was reduced by $37.7 million to $603.8 million
in 2018–19 and the City continues to have a strong
capacity to service debt, as reflected by the following key
financial indicators:
Table 39: Debt service indicator

Financial Indicator

Target

Actual

• Continued planning for Light Rail Stage 3A.

Net Financial Liabilities

Max 60%

-31.1%

• Commenced work on the HOTA Art Gallery and pedestrian
bridge link to Chevron Island.

Debt Service Coverage

Min 2.2

2.6

Max 20%

9%

• Stabilisation of Palm Beach shoreline.
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3. Condition of the City's infrastructure assets

Looking ahead

The City has developed Asset Management Plans (AMPs) to
ensure that community assets are maintained and continually
renewed to provide the level of service expected now, and for
future generations. AMPs are a key component in maintaining
the City’s long term financial sustainability.

After GC2018, work has begun on the next phase of
developing the city. Some key initiatives identified in the
Annual Plan for 2019 –20 include:

The renewal of infrastructure assets is given priority when
developing the annual budget and the City funded renewals
of $118.5 million in 2018–19 compared to the required
$104.5 million, as stated in the AMPs.
Overall, the majority of the City’s infrastructure is in very good
or good condition and, based on comparative information, is in
much better condition than the national average.
4. The scope and standard of services
The City continues to review the scope and standard
of services to ensure that they protect and support the
unique lifestyle enjoyed by residents of the city and deliver
opportunities for those wishing to work, visit and conduct
business on the Gold Coast.
The City focuses on value for money services rather than the
lowest cost option. To assist this, the City is embarking on
innovative new digital projects that will markedly improve the
efficiency of City services and customer experience.
The City’s planning and budget process also ensures these
standards will be maintained in the longer term by prioritising
the renewal of assets and providing sufficient funding to
adequately cover operating and maintenance costs for new
infrastructure and services.

• Continue planning for Light Rail Stage 3A.
• Construction of HOTA Art Gallery with completion
due in 2020 –21.
• Construction of the HOTA pedestrian bridge to Chevron
Island due for completion in 2019.
• Duplication of the Isle of Capri bridge.
• Expansion of Sundale Bridge and capacity upgrade at the
Waterways Drive/Gold Coast Highway intersection.
• Completion of the Palm Beach reef.
• Construction of the Pimpama Sports Hub.
• Renew and upgrade Miami Aquatic Centre.
• Major upgrades to the entire sewerage network, including
treatment plants, pump stations and mains.
• Progress the development of the Long Term Recycled
Water Release project.
• Digital City initiatives to transform the city with a high speed
wide area network and provide improved Council services
and customer experience.
• Development of the Gold Coast Health
and Knowledge precinct.
• Funding to attract major new events.

Key financial risks:
Growth and Delivery of Trunk Infrastructure – The City has
implemented detailed planning and monitoring to forecast the
city’s growth and trunk infrastructure requirements. This will be
closely monitored and managed to ensure that the impact on
ratepayers is minimised.

JOHN BLAIR
Manager Corporate Finance

Economic Outlook – While there is concern in the wider
community about the international and national economic
outlook, the outlook for the Gold Coast has been improving
due to significant efforts by the City to diversify and strengthen
the local economy. The city’s unemployment rate is evidence of
this, running well below the national and state average.
The financial strength of the City will also enable it to continue
to implement initiatives that will assist the local economy to be
more resilient to fluctuations in the external environment.
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4.2 COMMUNITY FINANCIAL REPORT
The Community Financial Report is produced to enable our community, business partners, customers and employees to better
understand how we performed financially.
The following is a summary of our Financial Statements for 2018 –19 which are found in section 4.3.

$20.1 million
operating surplus was
achieved through careful
financial management

Our credit rating

$1.1
billion

has been maintained as
sound while the
outlook has changed
from neutral

raised in rates
and utilities

$37.7 million
was reduced
from our debt to
$603.8 million

to positive

$268.8 million spent
on capital investment including

$118.5 million on the renewal
of city infrastructure assets

$39.1
million

$15.8
billion

$877.5
million

received in grants
and subsidies

in infrastructure
and other assets
are managed

increase in our
community wealth

4.2.1 Overview of the 2018 –19 Community Financial Report

The Community Financial Report is a plain English explanation of our financial statements and covers the following five components:
1. Statement of Comprehensive Income: shows information on our financial performance including our revenue,
expenses and net profit or loss.
2. Statement of Financial Position (Balance Sheet): shows the monetary value of our assets, liabilities and equity.
3. Statement of Changes in Equity: shows the changes in our net wealth.
4. Statement of Cash Flows: shows movements of cash and cash equivalents (highly liquid investments that can be readily
converted into cash).
5. Financial Ratios: shows common comparisons between financial statement amounts to allow readers to compare our results
with other organisations.
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4.2.2 Statement of Comprehensive Income

The Statement of Comprehensive Income (refer page 137) shows our Net Result for the 2018 –19 financial year,
calculated using the formula:

Total Revenue – Total Expenses = Net Result
The Net Result shows a surplus of $268 million. This surplus is largely a result of the cash ($113.9 million) and physical assets
($157.6 million) contributed by developers throughout the year associated with new development in the city.
Developers construct local roads, parks, water pipes and many other assets that are handed over to Council at the completion of the
development. They also provide cash contributions towards shared infrastructure that services new development such as sewerage
treatment plants, major roads, sporting grounds and more. These contributions are restricted in use and are therefore not available to
fund day to day operations of the city.
The Net Result also shows some expenditure that does not contribute toward the daily running of the City. When assets are
decommissioned or disposed of, the remaining net value of those assets shows as an expense, but does not need to be funded by
revenue raised through rates and levies. A net loss on disposal of $27.1 million was recorded in 2018–19 (0.2% of total assets).

Expenses against revenue: five-year trend
The graph and table below show the trend in our revenue, expenses and net result for the past five years.

Revenue
Expenses ($'000)

Figure 22: Expenses against revenue trend

Net Result ($'000)

AMOUNT ($'000)

2,000,000

1,500,000

1,000,000

500,000

0
2014–15

2015–16

2016–17

2017–18*

2018–19

Table 40: Expenses against revenue trend

2014 –15
$’000

2015 –16
$’000

2016 –17
$’000

2017–18*
$’000

2018 –19
$’000

Revenue

1,349,505

1,571,486

1,710,130

1,667,853

1,607,522

Expenses

1,194,401

1,242,264

1,263,935

1,353,836

1,339,626

Net Result

155,104

329,222

446,195

314,017

267,896

* As outlined in note 35(C) to the 2018 –19 Financial Statements, a retrospective adjustment has been made to 2017–18 to reduce revenue recognised for contributed
infrastructure assets.
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Sourcing our revenue – where our money came from
The following graph shows the various sources of our $1.6 billion in revenue during 2018–19.

Figure 23: Sources of revenue

2017–18*

2018–19
Water and Sewerage
Utility Charges
29%

Water and Sewerage
Utility Charges
31%

General Rates
26%

General Rates
30%

Contributions and
Donations
23%

Contributions and
Donations
17%

Fees and Charges
7%

Fees and Charges
6%

Waste Management
Utility Charge
5%

Waste Management
Utility Charge
5%

Other Rates and
Charges
4%

Other Rates and
Charges
4%

Grants and Subsidies
3%

Grants and Subsidies
3%

Interest
2%

Interest
2%

Other Revenue
1%

Other Revenue
2%

Note: General rates are net of discounts, water rebates and pensioner remissions.
* As outlined in note 35(C) to the 2018–19 Financial Statements, a retrospective adjustment has been made to 2017–18 to reduce revenue recognised for contributed
infrastructure assets by $17.8 million.

Revenue decreases
Council’s total revenue decreased by $60 million or 3.6%
from 2017–18. Revenue from contributions and donations
decreased by $102 million while fees and charges revenue
decreased by $9.8 million and grants and subsidy revenue also
decreased by $7.5 million from 2017–18.
Building and development fee revenue decreased by $5.6
million from 2017–18. Building and development fee revenue
is driven by development applications and fluctuates with the
market from year to year. Refuse tipping fee revenue decreased
by $2.6 million from 2017–18.
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Developer cash contributions decreased by 13.6% to
$113.9 million and assets contributed by developers have also
decreased by $75.4 million to $157.6 million (32 per cent).
Revenue from all rates increased by $51.8 million or 4.8% from
2017–18. This increase included revenue generated as a result
of rate increases and growth in the city.
Interest revenue has also increased by $3.9 million or 12.2%
which is due to an increase in interest charges on outstanding
debtor accounts as well as increased interest on invested
cash funds.
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Identifying our expenses – where our money was spent
The following graph shows the allocation of $1.34 billion of operating expenditure.

Figure 24: Breakdown of operating expenditure

2017–18

2018–19

Materials and Services*
36%

Materials and Services*
36%

Employee Costs*
32%

Employee Costs*
31%

Depreciation and
Amortisation
18%

Depreciation and
Amortisation
19%

Other
9%

Other
9%

Borrowing Costs
3%

Borrowing Costs
3%

Loss on Disposal of
Non-Current Assets
2%

Loss on Disposal of
Non-Current Assets
2%

Note: * For the purposes of the Community Financial Report, contractor and consultants expenses of $85.8 million have been reported under employee costs rather than
materials and services as per note 10 to the 2018 –19 Financial Statements.
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4.2.3 Statement of Financial Position (Balance Sheet)

Calculating our net worth

Assets: what we own

The Statement of Financial Position (refer page 138) shows
what we own (our assets), what we owe (our liabilities) and
our net worth.

The major components of our assets include:
• property, plant and equipment (land, buildings, roads,
storm water drainage)
• capital works in progress
• cash assets (mainly short-term investments).
As at 30 June 2019, we held $15.8 billion of assets, an
increase of $892.6 million from 2017–18. Our cash assets have
increased by $127.6 million from 2017–18 and the value of our
property, plant and equipment increased by $703 million
in 2018 –19.

Figure 25: Total assets: five-year trend

AMOUNT ($'000)

20,000,000

15,000,000

10,000,000

5,000,000

0
2014–15

2015–16

2016–17

2017–18*

2018–19

* As outlined in note 35(C) to the 2018 –19 Financial Statements, a retrospective adjustment has been made to 2017–18 to bring to account contributed infrastructure assets
totalling $22.531 million, with commission dates prior to 1 July 2018.
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Liabilities – what we owe
Our liabilities include debt, amounts owed to suppliers and
amounts owing to employees for leave entitlements.
Our total liabilities were $914.3 million as at 30 June 2019
which is an increase of $15.1 million from the previous year.
This includes $20.6 million received from the Queensland State
Government in 2018–19 to mitigate the impact on households
of the State Waste Levy which commences in 2019 –20.

In 2018 –19 the provision for the costs associated with
landfill restoration and remediation has increased from
$70 million to $81.2 million.
Of the total liabilities, $603.8 million relates to loans from
Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC), which have
decreased by $37.7 million (6 per cent) from 2017–18
resulting from scheduled debt repayments.

Debt

Figure 26: Total liabilities (showing debt component): five-year trend
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Managing our debt
When appropriate, we use debt funding to provide for capital works. When used to fund assets that provide a benefit to the
community over many years, debt funding enables us to spread the cost of those assets over the life of the asset.
Debt must be managed prudently to ensure repayments can be met. Our Debt Policy restricts the use of debt funding to
capital expenditure only, and we also ensure that debt service payments do not exceed 20 per cent of total recurrent revenue
in any one year.
To keep the increase in rates to a minimum, we seek to minimise borrowings where repayments must come from general rates
funding. Instead, we borrow against other established revenue streams, such as specific levies and utility charges, to ensure a
sustainable financial future.
A more detailed explanation of debt management is provided in the document ‘Debt Management Public Statement’.
This document is available on Council’s website at the following link.

For further information view the
City of Gold Coast Debt Management Statement
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4.2.4 Statement of Changes in Equity

The Statement of Changes in Equity (refer page 139) explains the changes in our retained earnings over the reporting period and
provides a more detailed presentation of the community equity shown in the Statement of Financial Position.

Community equity
Community equity is represented by our net worth: what we own (total assets of $15.8 billion) minus what we owe (total liabilities of
$914 million). Community equity, as at 30 June 2019, was $14.9 billion which is $877 million higher than the previous year.

Community equity = what the community owns – what the community owes

Figure 27: Community Equity: five-year trend
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* As outlined in note 35(C) to the 2018–19 Financial Statements, a retrospective adjustment has been made to 2017–18 to bring to account contributed infrastructure assets
totalling $22.531 million, with commission dates prior to 1 July 2018.
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4.2.5 Statement of Cash Flows
Where our cash comes from and where it goes
The Statement of Cash Flows (refer page 141) shows our cash inflows and outflows. This statement shows our ability to pay our bills
to continue normal operations, pay off our debts and have money available for the construction of assets. Our current cash holdings
are very high. This can largely be attributed to the high amount of infrastructure charges cash received from new development in
recent years. Receipts from infrastructure charges are volatile and reflect the stage of the economic cycle on the Gold Coast.
The use of these funds is restricted to the provision of growth related infrastructure, as identified in Council’s adopted Local
Government Infrastructure Plan (LGIP). At times when receipts are high, funds are held in reserve and expended in accordance
with the adopted LGIP.

Figure 28: Cash balance: five-year trend
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4.2.6 Financial Ratios

Financial ratios use figures from financial statements to demonstrate relationships between key numbers. Ratios which focus on
financial sustainability are particularly relevant for government organisations.
The Regulation requires all Queensland councils to report on three specific financial sustainability ratios, the Operating Surplus Ratio
(OSR), the Net Financial Liabilities Ratio (NFLR) and the Asset Sustainability Ratio (ASR). The results of these ratios, calculated in
accordance with the Financial Management (Sustainability) Guidelines 2013 are shown in the Current Year and Long Term Financial
Sustainability Statements that follow this Community Financial Report. They are not reproduced here in that same format.
We prepare detailed Asset Management Plans (AMPs) which specify how much we should spend on renewing our assets.
We believe that it is more relevant to use these figures in calculating the OSR and ASR rather than using accounting depreciation.

Operating Surplus Ratio (AMPs)
This ratio measures the extent to which revenue raised covers operational expenses, based on renewal requirements identified in the
AMPs rather than using accounting depreciation.
A positive ratio indicates that a surplus may be available to use for future expenditure or debt repayments. Surplus funds are being
placed into reserves to fund major works in the future.
Our Operating Surplus Ratio is forecast to remain strongly positive.
Figure 29: Operating Surplus Ratio (AMPs)
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Adjusted Operating Surplus Ratio
This ratio is required by QTC for loan approval purposes and is calculated as the operating result excluding capital items and
depreciation divided by operating revenue. This ratio is a more accurate representation of our ability to cover operating costs from
operating revenues. The following graph shows the adjusted operating surplus ratio for the previous five years as well as current
and future years. QTC approved a reduced target ratio for 2017–18 due to the extraordinary expenditure associated with the 2018
Commonwealth Games.
The ratio is forecast to remain above the target of 16 per cent in future years.

PERCENTAGE

Figure 30: Adjusted Operating Surplus Ratio
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Asset Renewal Funding Ratio
This ratio measures the extent to which our 10-year financial forecast includes required asset renewal expenditure as identified
in our AMPs.
A ratio of greater than 90 per cent indicates that we have capacity to fund our projected infrastructure asset renewals without
needing to increase operating income, reduce operating expenditure or increase debt.
Our Asset Renewal Funding Ratio is forecast to remain above the 90 per cent target.

Figure 31: Asset Renewal Funding Ratio
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Leverage Ratio
The leverage ratio measures ability to meet financial obligations.
A ratio of less than 60 per cent indicates financial obligations can be met.
Our leverage ratio is forecast to remain well below the 60 per cent target.

PERCENTAGE

Figure 32: Leverage Ratio
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Debt Service Coverage Ratio
The debt service coverage ratio measures ability to repay debt.
A ratio of less than 2.2 indicates that the organisation may have difficulty making loan repayments.
Our debt service coverage ratio dropped slightly below the benchmark in 2017–18 due to one-off high operating expenses
associated with the staging of GC2018. Queensland Treasury Corporation approved a reduced target ratio for 2017–18 due to the
extraordinary expenditure associated with the 2018 Commonwealth Games. This did not impact on Council’s sustainability, as all
cash was set aside in reserve to fund this additional operating expenditure. The ratio has returned to appropriate levels in 2018–19
and is forecast to remain above the target of 2.2 in future years.

Figure 33: Debt Service Coverage Ratio

6

Minimum
target 2.2

5

Debt Service
Coverage

RATIO

4
3
2
1
0
2014

2019

2024

2029

Asset Consumption Ratio
The Asset Consumption Ratio measures the written down current value of our depreciable assets relative to their as new value.
This ratio highlights the aged condition of our physical assets and the potential capital outlays required in future to preserve their
service potential.
The asset consumption ratio has a target of between 40 per cent and 80 per cent on average.
Our asset consumption coverage ratio is forecast to remain close to or within the target range.

Figure 34: Asset Consumption Ratio
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4.3 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Council of the City of Gold Coast
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2019
2019

2018

Note

$’000

$’000

Rates and utility charges

3

1,122,218

1,070,447

Fees and charges

4

102,214

112,015

Interest

5

35,568

31,703

Contributions and donations

6

277,345

378,987 *

Grants and subsidies

7

39,099

46,641

Other revenue

8

31,078

28,060

Revenue

Total revenue

1,607,522

1,667,853 *

9

329,136

330,927

Materials and services

10

571,233

588,891

Depreciation and amortisation

11

250,684

247,031

Finance costs

12

41,084

42,840

Other expenses

13

120,415

115,724

Loss on disposal of non-current assets

14

27,074

28,423

1,339,626

1,353,836

Expenses
Employee costs

Total expenses

Net result

267,896

314,017 *

575,956

35,514

575,956

35,514

843,852

349,531 *

Other comprehensive income
Increase in asset revaluation surplus

Total comprehensive income for the year

26

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
* Comparative figures have been restated. Refer to Note 35 (c) for details.
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Council of the City of Gold Coast
Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2019

2019

2018

Note

$’000

$’000

Cash assets

15

1,064,078

936,463

Receivables

16

195,825

195,663

Property held for sale

17

58,030

-

Consumables

1,709

1,784

Prepayments

9,463

702

1,329,105

1,134,612

Current assets

Non–current assets
Other financial assets

18

1,150

1,150

Intangibles

19

45,734

50,273

Property, plant and equipment

20

14,398,506

13,695,891 *

14,445,390

13,747,314 *

15,774,495

14,881,926 *

Total assets
Current liabilities
Payables

21

124,471

104,548

Unearned revenue

22

22,824

2,000

Employee benefits

23

73,274

73,502

Provisions

24

421

396

Borrowings

25

79,313

77,395

300,303

257,841

8,715

7,589

Non–current liabilities
Employee benefits

23

Provisions

24

80,760

69,604

Borrowings

25

524,475

564,126

613,950

641,319

914,253

899,160

Total liabilities
Net community assets

14,860,242

13,982,766 *

Community equity
Retained capital
Asset revaluation surplus
Reserves

Total community equity
The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
* Comparative figures have been restated. Refer to Note 35 (c) for details.
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9,119,017

8,905,508 *

4,866,487

4,290,531

874,738

786,727

14,860,242

13,982,766 *
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Council of the City of Gold Coast
Statement of Changes In Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Balance at
1 July 2018

Retained
capital

Asset
revaluation
surplus

Infrastructure
charges
reserve

Capital
projects
reserve

Selfinsurance
reserve (i)

Investment
reserve

Commonwealth
Games
reserve

Other
operating
reserves

Total
community
equity

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

8,905,508

4,290,531

415,844

266,961

11,192

86,845

-

5,885

13,982,766

Prior period adjustments (ii)
Initial
recognition of
non-current
assets

49,953

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

49,953

Derecognition
of non-current
assets

(16,600)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(16,600)

Adjustment as at 1 July 2018 for application of new accounting standard (iii)
271

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

271

Allocation of comprehensive income for the year
Net result

(11,931)

-

113,870

125,269

146

40,017

-

525

267,896

-

575,956

-

-

-

-

-

-

575,956

191,816

-

(53,501)

(94,563)

-

(43,752)

-

-

-

9,119,017

4,866,487

476,213

297,667

11,338

83,110

-

6,410

14,860,242

Increase in asset
revaluation
surplus (iv)

Other changes in equity
Transfer to
retained capital
from reserves

Balance at
30 June 2019

(i) Refer to Note 27 for further details on the self-insurance reserve			
(ii) Refer to Note 35 for further details on prior period adjustments			
(iii) Refer to Note 1(c) for details on adjustment as at 1 July 2018 for application of new accounting standard			
(iv) 	Refer to Note 20 and Note 26 for further details on asset revaluation surplus			
The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Council of the City of Gold Coast
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Balance at
1 July 2017

Retained
capital

Asset
revaluation
surplus

Infrastructure
charges
reserve

Capital
projects
reserve

Selfinsurance
reserve (i)

Investment
reserve

Commonwealth
Games
reserve

Other
operating
reserves

Total
community
equity

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

8,556,991

4,255,017

321,320

248,873

11,557

98,201

63,721

1,723

13,557,403

Prior period adjustments (ii)
Initial
recognition of
non-current
assets

40,383

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

40,383

Derecognition
of non-current
assets

(4,860)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(4,860)

Error correction
for contributed
assets

40,309

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

40,309

Allocation of comprehensive income for the year
Net result (iv)

109,222

-

131,863

111,697

(365)

25,545

(63,721)

(224)

314,017

-

35,514

-

-

-

-

-

-

35,514

163,463

-

(32,953)

(93,609)

-

(36,901)

-

-

-

-

-

(4,386)

-

-

-

-

4,386

-

8,905,508

4,290,531

415,844

266,961

11,192

86,845

-

5,885

13,982,766

Increase
in asset
revaluation
surplus (iii)

Other changes in equity
Transfer to
retained capital
from reserves
Transfer
between
reserves

Balance at
30 June 2018
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

Refer to Note 27 for further details on the self-insurance reserve
Refer to Note 35 for further details on prior period adjustments
Refer to Note 20 and Note 26 for further details on asset revaluation surplus
Figures have been restated. Refer to Note 35 (c) for details.

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Council of the City of Gold Coast
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2019
2019

2018

$'000

$'000

1,112,386

1,056,120

101,637

106,488

40,075

29,593

122,201

138,391

Grants and subsidies

39,099

46,641

Waste levy rebate

20,605

-

GST receipts

67,528

75,468

Other

34,692

24,606

1,538,223

1,477,307

Employee costs

328,238

328,992

Materials and services

559,996

576,459

Finance costs

39,291

42,840

GST payments

68,731

73,293

100,222

98,287

1,096,478

1,119,871

441,745

357,436

14,148

10,306

Payments for intangibles and property, plant and equipment

(290,237)

(284,433)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities

(276,089)

(274,127)

(308)

-

Proceeds from borrowings

38,281

31,265

Repayment of borrowings

(76,014)

(76,004)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities

(38,041)

(44,739)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held

127,615

38,570

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year

936,463

897,893

1,064,078

936,463

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts
Rates and utility charges
Fees and charges
Interest
Contributions and donations

Payments

Other

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities

30

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

Cash flows from financing activities
Remediation costs charged to landfill provision

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

15

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

141

CITY OF GOLD COAST ANNUAL REPORT 2018–19

Council of the City of Gold Coast
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of preparation
These financial statements are general purpose financial
statements prepared in accordance with the requirements of
the Local Government Act 2009 and the Local Government
Regulation 2012. Consequently, these financial statements
comply with all Australian Accounting Standards,
Interpretations and other authoritative pronouncements issued
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board.
The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, with the exception of property held for sale and
certain classes of property, plant and equipment, which are
recognised at fair value. Details of fair value measurements are
provided in Note 33.

(b) The local government reporting entity
The Council of the City of Gold Coast is a not-for-profit
reporting entity constituted under the Queensland Local
Government Act 2009 and is domiciled in Australia.
The Council of the City of Gold Coast controls HOTA Gold
Coast Pty Ltd, City of Gold Coast Insurance Company Ltd,
Surfers Paradise Alliance Ltd, Broadbeach Alliance Ltd and
Connecting Southern Gold Coast Ltd as well as Major Events
Gold Coast Pty Ltd, which is dormant as at the reporting
date. Apart from City of Gold Coast Insurance Company
Ltd, all entities controlled by the Council are either one
dollar shareholdings or companies limited by guarantee.
Consolidated financial statements have not been prepared as
the controlled entities’ transactions are not material. As such,
transactions between the Council and its controlled entities
have not been eliminated.

The Council also has a 12.5% shareholding in SEQ Regional
Recreational Facilities Pty Ltd. Any transactions between the
Council and SEQ Regional Recreational Facilities Pty Ltd have
not been eliminated.

(c) New and revised Accounting Standards
This year Council has applied AASB 9 Financial Instruments
for the first time. AASB 9 replaces AASB 139 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and relates to the
recognition, classification and measurement of financial assets
and financial liabilities. The most significant financial instrument
on Council's Statement of Financial Position is loans with the
Queensland Treasury Corporation. AASB 9 does not impact on
the measurement or treatment of these liabilities. Implementing
AASB 9 has resulted in a change to the way that Council
calculates impairment provisions, which are now based on
expected credit losses instead of incurred credit losses. The
opening balance of impairment as at 1 July 2018 has been
recalculated using this new methodology and has resulted in
an opening balance reduction of $271,000.
Various other Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpretations have been issued but are not yet effective.
Those standards have not been applied in these financial
statements. Council will implement them when they are
effective. The standards that are expected to have an impact
upon Council's future financial statements are:

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities
AASB 15 replaces AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 11 Construction Contracts and some revenue related interpretations.
It contains a comprehensive and robust framework for the recognition, measurement and disclosure of revenue from
contracts with customers. AASB 1058 provides not-for-profit entities with guidance in adopting aspects of AASB 15 as well
as complying with AASB 1004 Contributions.
The major impact on Council in adopting AASB 15 and AASB 1058 will be the timing of income recognition for certain
monies received. Prepaid rate payments received prior to the beginning of a relevant rating period will be recognised as
unearned revenue until commencement of the rating period. Prepaid rates are currently recognised as revenue on receipt
due to being considered a non-reciprocal transfer under AASB 1004.
The change in timing of income recognition encompassed within AASB 15 and AASB 1058 for prepaid rates will impact on
the amount of revenue recorded in the financial statements as well as requiring additional disclosures. The financial impact
is estimated to be a one-off reduction in rate revenue of between $20 million and $22 million for the 2019-2020 financial year.
AASB 15 and AASB 1058 may also effect the timing of revenue for some grants and donations but this is not expected
to be material. Other monies received by the Council on a non-reciprocal basis are developer cash contributions. Given
these monies are generally received for the future acquisition / construction of non-specific assets the timing of revenue
recognition will remain unchanged.
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Council of the City of Gold Coast
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Effective date
for Council

AASB 16 Leases
AASB 16 replaces AASB 117 Leases and some lease-related interpretations. It requires all leases to be accounted as a
leasehold asset and lease liability by the lessee, other than short-term and low value asset leases. It also requires new
and different disclosures about leases. Council leases a number of properties currently treated as operating leases,
which require recognition on the Statement of Financial Position upon adoption of AASB 16. Various other procurement
arrangements involving rental of certain office equipment and major computer hardware are also captured by AASB 16.

1-Jul-19

Council has undertaken an analysis to identify and quantify the impacts of introducing AASB 16. Council proposes to
apply the modified retrospective transition method and not restate comparative information. The analysis determined the
estimated impact on Council’s Statement of Financial Position on initial application is an increase of $13.07 million in assets,
being right-of-use assets and a corresponding increase of $13.07 million in liabilities, being lease liabilities. As such, the
initial recognition of lease assets and lease liabilities as at 1 July 2019 is not expected to impact on the opening balance
of retained capital for 2019 –20. Impact on net result for 2019 –20 is expected to be minimal with an estimated increase in
expenses of $290,000.
Lessor accounting remains similar to the current standard with lessors continuing to classify leases as finance or operating.
Council is lessor of a number of peppercorn leases for which no or little lease payments are made. These are not currently
recognised in the accounts. This is not expected to change under the current requirements of AASB 16.

(d) Critical accounting judgements and
key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of Council’s accounting policies,
management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates. These estimates and
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised and in future periods as relevant.
Judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a potential
significant effect are outlined in the following financial
statement notes:
• valuation and depreciation of property, plant and equipment
– Note 1(j) and Note 20
• employee benefits – Note 1(m) and Note 23
• provision for landfill remediation – Note 24
• contingent liabilities – Note 28
• fair value measurement – Note 33.

(f) Taxation and tax equivalents
Income of local authorities and public authorities is exempt
from Commonwealth taxation except for Fringe Benefits Tax
and Goods and Services Tax (GST). As such, input tax credits
receivable and GST payable from/to the Australian Taxation
Office are recognised.

(g) Revenue recognition
Rates and utility charges
Revenue for rates and utility charges is recognised upon issue
of the levies within the respective rating period or, where earlier,
upon receipt of the monies or when applicable services are
provided. Refer to Note 1(c) for details on pending changes to
the timing of revenue recognition for prepaid rates, which takes
effect from commencement of the 2019–20 reporting period.
Fees and charges
Revenue for fees and charges is recognised upon
unconditional entitlement to the funds. Generally this occurs on
lodgement of the relevant application or document, issuing of
the infringement notice or when the service is provided.
Interest
Interest income on term deposits and investments is
recognised as it accrues.

(e) Currency, rounding, comparatives
and adjustments
Council uses the Australian dollar as its financial currency and
its presentation currency. Amounts disclosed in the financial
statements have been rounded to the nearest $1,000, or
where that amount is $500 or less, to zero.
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Council of the City of Gold Coast
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019
Cash donations and contributions
By nature, all donations are non-reciprocal and, as such, are
recognised as revenue upon receipt of the funds. Council
also receives cash contributions from property developers
to construct or upgrade infrastructure assets within the city,
such as water and sewerage infrastructure, roadworks,
drainage, pathways and park facilities. Revenue for developer
cash contributions is recognised on receipt of the funds or
on becoming a debt where the revenue recognition criteria
has been satisfied. An equivalent amount is transferred from
retained capital to the infrastructure charges reserve, thereby
quarantining the funds until expended.

(i) Property held for sale

Non-cash donations and contributions
Non-cash assets donated or contributed to Council in excess
of the respective asset recognition threshold are recognised
as revenue and items of property, plant and equipment when
Council obtains control of the underlying assets. Council
generally obtains control over portable donated assets when
the items are physically handed to Council. Council obtains
control over contributed land parcels on the date the title deed
is transferred to Council. Control over infrastructure assets
contributed to Council by property developers is deemed to
occur when the development becomes “on maintenance” (that
is when Council becomes liable for any ongoing maintenance).

(j) Property, plant and equipment

Grants and subsidies
Grants and subsidies that are non-reciprocal in nature are
recognised as revenue upon receipt of the funds. Should the
transaction be reciprocal in nature, revenue is recognised
as the various performance obligations under the funding
agreement are fulfilled.

Items of property, plant and equipment are reclassified as
property held for sale when the carrying amount of these
assets will be recovered principally through a sales transaction
rather than continuing use. Non-current assets classified as
held for sale are available for immediate sale in their present
condition and management deems the sale to be highly
probable. Properties held for sale are measured at the lower
of carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell and are not
depreciated. On the eventual sale of these assets a gain or loss
is recognised.

Each class of property, plant and equipment is stated
at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any
accumulated depreciation.
Asset recognition thresholds
Items of property, plant and equipment are capitalised provided
their value on acquisition exceeds the following thresholds:
Fleet, plant and equipment
Site improvements
Buildings
Infrastructure assets

$10,000
$10,000
$10,000
$1

All land (other than land under roads not controlled by Council)
is recognised as property, plant and equipment, however,
acquisitions of minor land parcels (less than 100m2 or less
than 3m in width) are recorded at nominal value due to having
no market realisable value or possessing negligible service
potential.

(h) Receivables

All other items of property, plant and equipment are expensed.

Rates debtors are recognised upon issue of the rates notice
within the respective rating period. Rates are payable within
30 days of issue. Interest of 11% is charged on outstanding
balances. Impairment will exist only where arrears are deemed
to be greater than the proceeds Council would receive from
sale of the respective property.

Value of assets acquired
All assets purchased or constructed during the accounting
period have been brought to account at cost.
Cost is determined as the fair value of the assets given as
consideration plus costs incurred in getting the assets ready
for use. Where Council has constructed non-current assets,
cost includes the cost of all services, materials and plant used
in construction, direct labour on the project and an appropriate
proportion of indirect labour costs.

Trade debtors are recognised at fair value at the time of sale
or service delivery less, where applicable, an amount for
impairment. The collectability of trade debtors is assessed
periodically and, if there is objective evidence that Council will
not be able to collect all amounts due, the carrying amount is
reduced for impairment. All known bad debts were written-off
against the impairment at balance date. No interest is charged
on outstanding trade debtors.
Any rates or trade debtors for the accounting period not
yet issued at balance date are accrued where the associated
service has been provided by the Council on or before
30 June.
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Property, plant or equipment contributed to Council is brought
to account as contribution revenue based on the fair value of
each asset at the time of acquisition. Where an active market
does not exist, as is the case for most infrastructure assets
contributed to the Council, fair value is deemed to be current
replacement cost.
Expenditure on existing assets
Costs incurred on assets after initial recognition are capitalised
whenever the associated work either renews, extends or
upgrades the asset’s underlying service potential. Routine
operating maintenance, repair costs and minor renewals to
maintain the operational capacity of a non-current asset are
expensed as incurred.

CHAPTER 4 FINANCE

Council of the City of Gold Coast
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019
Revaluations
Infrastructure assets, land, major site improvements and
buildings are subject to regular revaluations at fair value. All
other non-current assets, principally minor site improvements
and fleet, plant and equipment are not revalued and, where
applicable, remain valued at cost.
Assets subject to revaluation processes are revalued where
required so that the carrying amount of each asset class does
not materially differ from its fair value at the reporting date. With
the exception of buildings valued at market value, fair value is
determined as per current replacement cost methodologies.
Refer to Note 33 for details.
A comprehensive revaluation is undertaken every three to
five years for each applicable asset class, whereby asset
values, asset component unit rates and asset condition (used
to confirm remaining useful life for depreciation) are assessed
by external valuers or Council staff who are suitably qualified
in their respective field. A desktop revaluation involving the
application of a suitable index is undertaken at the reporting
date whenever there has been a material movement in
value for an asset class subsequent to the last
comprehensive revaluation.
For both comprehensive revaluations and any interim
indexation Council adopts the gross revaluation method,
whereby any accumulated depreciation at the date of the
revaluation is restated proportionally with the change in the
gross carrying amount of the asset so that the net carrying
amount of the asset after revaluation equals its revalued
amount. The only exception is the revaluation of any nonspecialised buildings at market value. The net revaluation
method is adopted for these buildings, whereby any
accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is
written back to zero against the gross value of the asset prior
to restating its market value. As such, the written down value
of impacted assets will equate to the gross carrying amount
immediately after the revaluation process.
Details of valuers and methods of asset valuation are disclosed
in Note 33.
Depreciation
Land and road earthworks are not depreciated due to having
an unlimited useful life. Depreciation for all other items of
property, plant and equipment is calculated on a straight-line
basis so as to write-off the net cost or revalued amount of
each depreciable asset, less its estimated residual value,
progressively over its estimated useful life to the Council.
Residual value is only applied to certain asset types within the
asset class of fleet, plant and equipment.
Purchased and contributed assets are depreciated from
the date of acquisition. Date of acquisition for contributed
infrastructure assets is when the development reaches the
stage of “on maintenance”, which is the point in time that a
developer hands over a completed contributed asset to the
Council. Internally constructed assets are depreciated from the
time an asset is completed and commissioned ready for use.

Useful lives of infrastructure assets are determined from the
weighted average of individual component lives that together
comprise the asset.
Any expenditure that increases the previously assessed
capacity or service potential of an asset and exceeds the
capitalisation threshold for the respective asset class is
capitalised and the new depreciable amount is depreciated
over the remaining useful life of the asset to the Council.
Depreciation periods for assets when initially placed into
service are:
Fleet, plant and equipment
Minor site improvements
Major site improvements
Buildings
Roads, bridges and major culverts
Pathways
Flood mitigation and drainage
Water and sewerage infrastructure

2 to 20 years
5 to 50 years
10 to 100 years
25 to 60 years
17 to 100 years
10 to 70 years
10 to 150 years
15 to 150 years

Useful lives and residual values allocated to newly acquired
items of property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually
and adjusted where necessary to reflect any changes in the
expected pattern of consumption, physical wear and tear,
obsolescence or management intentions. A desktop evaluation
of remaining useful lives for all depreciable assets valued at
cost is undertaken on an annual basis by the respective asset
custodians. Condition assessments performed as part of a
comprehensive revaluation process for assets measured at
current replacement cost are used to adjust the remaining
useful lives of these assets.
Asset disposals
Gains or losses on disposal are determined by comparing
proceeds less cost of sale with asset carrying amount. Council
does not transfer amounts accumulated in revaluation surplus
to retained capital on disposal.

(k) Intangible assets
Only intangible assets which have a cost exceeding $10,000
are capitalised. All other costs associated with acquiring
intangible assets are expensed during the period incurred.
Expenditure on internally generated intangible assets is
recognised from the date of the approval by the Council
of a capital expenditure authorisation for the acquisition or
development of the asset. Expenditure on internally generated
intangible assets, up to the decision to generate the asset in
a particular form, is treated as research expenditure and is
not capitalised.
It has been determined that there is not an active market
for any of the Council’s intangible assets. As such, all
intangible assets are recognised and carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to writeoff the net cost over a period from 5 to 15 years. Amortisation
periods for intangible assets are reviewed annually to ensure
they reflect the probability of continuing future benefits.
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(l) Payables
Trade creditors and accrued expenses are recognised as a
liability at the time goods are received or services performed.
These liabilities are measured at the agreed purchase/contract
price net of applicable discounts other than contingent
discounts. Amounts owing are unsecured and are generally
settled on 30 day terms upon receipt of invoice.

(m) Employee benefits
Annual leave and long service leave
The liabilities for annual leave and long service leave are
not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the
end of the period in which the employees render the related
service. They are therefore classified as long-term benefits
and measured as the present value of the estimated future
cash outflows to be made in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date. The estimated future cash
outflows have been discounted to their present value based
on interest rates on Commonwealth Government guaranteed
securities as at the reporting date. The value of the liability
was calculated using current pay rates and projected
future increases in those rates and includes related
employee on-costs.
Sick leave
Sick leave entitlements are non-vesting and are
expensed when taken by employees and hence no
recognition of a liability for sick leave has been made in the
financial statements.

(n) Borrowings
All borrowings as at the balance date are with the Queensland
Treasury Corporation (QTC). They are measured and disclosed
in the Statement of Financial Position at amortised cost of the
principal outstanding. Interest is recognised as it accrues.

(o) Components of equity
Retained capital and asset revaluation surplus
Taken together, these balances represent the amount of wealth
currently required and in use by Council for its operations and
to maintain its conventional assets and infrastructure at existing
levels of operating capability.
Retained capital
This represents the amount of Council’s net funds not set aside
in reserves to meet specific future needs. The main part of this
amount is not available for Council to spend as it has already
been invested in assets used to provide services.
Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is comprised of adjustments
relating to changes in value of property, plant and equipment
which arise primarily from changes in the purchasing power
of money. Net incremental changes in the carrying value of
classes of non-current assets since their initial recognition are
accumulated into this surplus. Increases and decreases on
revaluation are offset within a class of assets.
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Where a class of assets is decreased on valuation, that
decrease is offset first against the amount remaining in the
asset revaluation surplus in respect of that class. Any excess
is expensed.
Reserves
The following reserves represent the part of Council's net
wealth earmarked or quarantined for specific future needs. In
each case, the amount relates to a future requirement which
is not currently a liability. These reserves do not represent
additional funds. The amount reported in each reserve is
backed by an equivalent amount included in the cash and/or
receivables balances.
Infrastructure charges reserve
Represents unspent cash contributions paid by property
developers for the provision of water and sewerage
infrastructure, drainage, roadworks, park facilities, bikeways,
footpaths and other infrastructure assets for the enhancement
of Council’s asset base.
Capital projects reserve
This reserve was created to provide a fund to offset future
infrastructure works.
Investment reserve
This reserve was created to provide funds to maximise
investment opportunities for the Council.
Self-insurance reserve
This reserve was created to provide for:
• workers compensation payouts up to $900,000 for
outstanding claims incurred and claims not yet reported
• insurance claim liabilities incurred prior to establishment
of City of Gold Coast Insurance Company Ltd on
1 July 2007
• insurance claim liabilities for motor vehicle, public liability,
property and professional indemnity in accordance with
retention (excess) arrangements negotiated with the
City of Gold Coast Insurance Company Ltd.
Commonwealth Games reserve
This reserve was created to fund costs associated with hosting
the 2018 Commonwealth Games. As at 30 June 2018 the
reserve had been fully extinguished.
Other operating reserves
• Northern beaches sand nourishment – established for the
purpose of funding future dredging works associated with
sand replenishment of northern Gold Coast beaches
• Events reserve – established for the purpose of acquiring
and funding future events within the City
• Hope Island channel reserve – established for the future
funding of the operation and maintenance of the Hope
Island Channel for flood mitigation purposes
• Coomera river dredging reserve – established for
dredging operations funded by monies received from
property developers.
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2. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT FUNCTIONS
Year ended 30 June 2019
Function

Grant and
subsidy
revenue

Other income

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

-

617,316

617,316

(11,814)

102

110,794

110,896

Transport and
Infrastructure

18,530

130,354

Lifestyle and
Community

6,221

Economy,
Planning and
Environment

Water
Waste
Management

Organisational
Services and
Governance

Income before
Elimination
eliminations of inter-function
transactions

Total Expenses before
income
eliminations

Elimination of
inter-function
transactions

Total
expenses

Net result
before
eliminations

Assets

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

605,502

548,862

(161,573)

387,289

68,454

4,151,955

(13,514)

97,382

105,251

(32,926)

72,325

5,645

324,129

148,884

(35,496)

113,388

370,082

(72,834)

297,248

(221,198)

7,266,933

68,959

75,180

(1,336)

73,844

274,354

(77,070)

197,284

(199,174)

1,788,391

368

28,364

28,732

(428)

28,304

99,309

(19,337)

79,972

(70,577)

13,894

13,878

997,605

1,011,483

(322,381)

689,102

326,737

(21,229)

305,508

684,746

2,229,193

39,099

1,953,392

1,992,491

(384,969)

1,607,522

1,724,595

(384,969)

1,339,626

267,896

15,774,495

Income before
Elimination
eliminations of inter-function
transactions

Total
income

Expenses
before
eliminations

Elimination of
inter-function
transactions

Total
expenses

Net result
before
eliminations

Assets

Year ended 30 June 2018
Function

Grant and
subsidy
revenue

Other income

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

-

617,073

617,073

(12,210)

604,863

537,629

(161,641)

375,988

79,444

4,118,923

20

109,636

109,656

(13,489)

96,167

93,651

(31,458)

62,193

16,005

352,441

Transport and
Infrastructure

28,895

175,475

204,370

(34,944)

169,426

390,232

(76,632)

313,600

(185,862)

6,560,822

Lifestyle and
Community

3,844

90,515

94,359

(6,548)

87,811

269,692

(73,964)

195,728

(175,333)

1,747,256

Economy
Planning and
Environment

159

34,837

34,996

(1,559)

33,437

77,972

(19,983)

57,989

(42,976)

12,351

Economic
Development
and Major
Projects

234

962

1,196

-

1,196

44,213

(7,185)

37,028

(43,017)

-

13,489

989,871

1,003,360

(328,407)

674,953

337,604

(26,294)

311,310

665,756

2,090,133

46,641

2,018,369

2,065,010

(397,157)

1,667,853

1,750,993

Water
Waste
Management

Organisational
Services and
Governance

(397,157) 1,353,836

314,017 14,881,926

Net result is derived from income before eliminations less expenses before eliminations. From 1 March 2018, all activities previously undertaken within the function of Economic
Development and Major Projects were transferred to and became part of other significant functions.
Comparative figures for Water, Transport and Infrastructure and Lifestyle and Community have been restated. Refer to Note 35 (c) for details.
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2. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT FUNCTIONS (continued)
The Statement of Significant Functions is based on the business activities within Council:
Water
Water provides a wide range of water and wastewater services to the ratepayers and residents of the City, including the distribution
of water, the provision of recycled water and the treatment and disposal of sewerage. This activity constitutes a significant
business activity under the National Competition Policy guidelines and as such conforms to full cost pricing as outlined in the Local
Government Act 2009 and Local Government Regulation 2012.
Waste Management
Waste Management incorporates the operation and management of Council's waste transfer and disposal facilities together with the
management of Council's waste collection and recycling contracts. This activity constitutes a significant business activity under the
National Competition Policy guidelines and as such conforms to full cost pricing as outlined in the Local Government Act 2009 and
Local Government Regulation 2012.
Transport and Infrastructure
This function incorporates the design, construction and maintenance of the City's infrastructure associated with roads, drainage,
flood mitigation, beaches and waterways. Commencing from 1 March 2018, this function also encompasses major projects, which
was previously part of the function Economic Development and Major Projects.
Lifestyle and Community
This function undertakes a broad range of regulatory services together with the provision and operation of community and
recreational facilities within the City. The regulatory roles involve inspection and licensing in the areas of health, animal control,
regulated parking and local laws. The provision of community and recreational facilities includes parks, community centres, libraries
and major sporting facilities. Commencing from 1 March 2018, this function also encompasses arts and cultural activities previously
undertaken by the function Economic Development and Major Projects.
Economy, Planning and Environment
This function incorporates the strategic planning of the City's built environment including town and transportation planning together
with building/plumbing inspection services and assessment of development applications.
Economic Development and Major Projects
From 1 March 2018, all activities previously undertaken within this function became part of other significant functions, primarily
Transport and Infrastructure and Lifestyle and Community. These activities are directed towards encouraging economic growth within
the City and developing specific infrastructure to complement business and economic diversity.
Organisational Services and Governance
Primarily concerned with the governance role within the organisation and the provision of corporate-wide services. Activities include
legal services, community relations, corporate planning and performance, corporate finance, strategic asset management, corporate
risk and insurance, rates levying, corporate supply (including accounts payable), internal audit, integrity and ethics, the management
of Council's fleet and plant assets, the provision of computer/network services and executive administration.
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2019
$’000

2018
$’000

General rates

526,781

491,394

Water and sewerage utility charges

500,436

486,399

Waste management utility charges

84,432

80,911

City transport improvement separate charge

33,808

33,020

Open space preservation separate charge

11,001

10,744

Recreational space separate charge

7,781

7,599

Special rates and charges

9,580

8,711

1,173,819

1,118,778

(51,601)

(48,331)

1,122,218

1,070,447

Building and development fees

26,263

31,881

Tourist park fees

18,076

18,254

Infringements

18,037

18,715

8,574

11,130

10,060

9,587

Water supply service fees

3,495

3,587

Licences and permits

2,550

3,012

Property information fees

4,631

5,169

151

970

Cemetery fees

1,347

1,505

General service fees

9,030

8,205

102,214

112,015

5,680

4,822

29,888

26,881

35,568

31,703

3. RATES AND UTILITY CHARGES
Gross rates and utility charges

Less: Discount and pensioner remission

4. FEES AND CHARGES

Refuse tipping fees
Parking fees

Private works

5. INTEREST
Interest on debtor arrears
Interest on invested cash funds
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2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Developers' cash contributions

113,870

131,863

Contributed assets

157,641

233,029

280

3,097

271,791

367,989

5,554

10,998

277,345

378,987

21,394

19,808

4,962

5,356

26,356

25,164

12,743

21,477

39,099

46,641

Federal

26,909

31,867

State

12,190

14,774

39,099

46,641

Reimbursements and recoveries

10,546

9,422

Rental and lease revenue

12,070

10,963

8,462

7,675

31,078

28,060

6. CONTRIBUTIONS AND DONATIONS
Capital contributions

Other capital contributions

Operating contributions and donations

Contributed assets include the fair value of infrastructure assets handed over to Council from property developers.
The comparative figure for contributed assets has been restated. Refer to Note 35 (c) for details.

7. GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES
Operating grant and subsidy revenue
General purpose government grant
Other operating grants and subsidies

Capital grant and subsidy revenue

Grants and subsidies were received from the following government sectors:

8. OTHER REVENUE

Sundry
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2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Wages and salaries

267,756

271,889

Employee benefits

48,599

46,471

Superannuation

33,904

33,438

Payroll tax

2,088

2,032

Workers' compensation

1,576

1,486

488

625

1,833

3,427

356,244

359,368

(27,108)

(28,441)

329,136

330,927

Bulk water purchases

183,686

175,661

Repairs and maintenance services

112,094

112,136

Contractors and consultants

85,758

100,519

Construction services

117,911

74,563

Materials

59,868

60,264

Information technology services

53,679

56,776

Waste and recycling services

34,386

34,352

Rentals and operating leases

25,021

27,410

Parks and landscaping services

29,328

27,316

Electricity

25,708

27,247

Legal services

10,688

12,482

4,497

7,103

68,954

81,188

811,578

797,017

(240,037)

(208,126)

(308)

-

571,233

588,891

9. EMPLOYEE COSTS

Fringe benefits tax
Other employee related costs

Less: Employee costs capitalised

Refer to Note 31 for further details on Superannuation.

10. MATERIALS AND SERVICES

Minor equipment purchases
Other services

Less: Materials and services capitalised
Materials and services charged to landfill remediation provision
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2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Minor site improvements

16,410

16,323

Major site improvements

10,050

7,854

Buildings

21,379

19,500

Fleet, plant and equipment

11,050

11,254

Roads, bridges and major culverts

56,432

54,605

6,345

6,352

Flood mitigation and drainage

26,834

28,791

Water and sewerage infrastructure

96,138

94,062

244,638

238,741

6,046

8,290

250,684

247,031

Bank finance and interest charges

2,724

2,435

Unwinding of discount for landfill remediation provision

1,793

-

36,567

40,405

41,084

42,840

Contributions and donations

78,246

80,176

Insurance premiums and settlements

15,252

10,454

Capital works in progress written-off

9,175

12,458

Adjustment to landfill remediation provision

9,696

-

Debtor write-offs and prior year credit levies

765

290

Impairment loss on receivables

557

4,689

External audit costs

445

415

7,971

11,023

122,107

119,505

(1,692)

(3,781)

120,415

115,724

11. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION
Depreciation was charged in respect of:

Pathways

Amortisation was charged in respect of:
Software

12. FINANCE COSTS

Finance charges on borrowings

13. OTHER EXPENSES

Sundry

Less: Other expenses capitalised

Adjustment to landfill remediation provision relates to changes in the estimation process used to calculate the provision. The full amount of the adjustment is recognised as
an expense due to no asset revaluation surplus existing for the relevant asset class.
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2019
$’000

2018
$’000

14,148

10,306

761

877

14,909

11,183

(41,983)

(39,606)

-

-

(41,983)

(39,606)

(27,074)

(28,423)

14. LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Cash proceeds from disposals
Trade-in and exchange values received

Total consideration received
Less: Carrying amount of property, plant and equipment disposed
Less: Carrying amount of intangible assets disposed

Loss on disposal

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment disposed includes the write-off of roads and any other infrastructure assets that have been
upgraded or rehabilitated.					

15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash on hand
Cash at bank
Short-term deposits

57

59

11,066

39,204

1,052,955

897,200

1,064,078

936,463

Short-term deposits are highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant change in fair value.

16. RECEIVABLES
Rates and utility charges

151,133

142,066

Infrastructure charges

6,731

9,228

Other fees and charges

3,597

4,719

14,167

12,306

Accrued investment interest

8,961

13,111

Interest on debtor arrears

4,908

5,265

12,062

14,473

201,559

201,168

5,734

5,505

195,825

195,663

Infringements

Other debtors

Less: Impaired receivables

Council applied AASB 9 for the first time this year. As a result, Council has calculated the impairment of receivables in a different way for 2019, using a lifetime expected
loss allowance. The opening balance of impairment as at 1 July 2018 has been recalculated using this new methodology which resulted in an opening balance reduction
of $271,000.

17. PROPERTY HELD FOR SALE
The following assets were transferred from property plant and equipment and reclassified as held for sale during the reporting period:
Land
Buildings

52,070

-

5,960

-

58,030

-

1,000

1,000

150

150

1,150

1,150

18. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS				
Investment in City of Gold Coast Insurance Company Ltd
Investment in SEQ Regional Recreational Facilities Pty Ltd
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19. INTANGIBLES
Year ended 30 June 2019
Opening
carrying amt

Additions

Transfers

Disposals &
write-offs

Amortisation

Closing
carrying amt

Closing
accum amort

Closing
gross value

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Software in use

50,209

-

-

-

(6,046)

44,163

94,906

139,069

Software under
development

64

1,571

-

(64)

-

1,571

-

1,571

50,273

1,571

-

(64)

(6,046)

45,734

94,906

140,640

Opening
carrying amt

Additions

Transfers

Disposals &
write-offs

Amortisation

Closing
carrying amt

Closing
accum amort

Closing
gross value

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Software in use

58,320

-

179

-

(8,290)

50,209

88,949

139,158

Software under
development

215

31

(179)

(3)

-

64

-

64

58,535

31

-

(3)

(8,290)

50,273

88,949

139,222

Year ended 30 June 2018

20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
20.1 Year ended 30 June 2019
Opening
WDV

Additions

Transfers

Disposals &
write-offs

Revaluations

Depreciation

Closing
WDV

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

2,115,369

32,661

(52,070)

(6,366)

29,402

-

2,118,996

Minor site
improvements

226,816

6,210

26,226

(1,388)

-

(16,410)

241,454

Major site
improvements

263,591

16,314

(8,408)

(3,696)

46,564

(10,050)

304,315

Buildings

695,321

3,895

13,448

(163)

(31,819)

(21,379)

659,303

79,268

18,265

1,954

(7,925)

-

(11,050)

80,512

3,333,461

42,591

65,996

(15,266)

340,405

(56,432)

3,710,755

264,323

5,058

6,014

(1,119)

-

(6,345)

267,931

Flood mitigation
and drainage

2,742,318

59,892

14,768

(16,169)

191,404

(26,834)

2,965,379

Water and sewerage
infrastructure

3,770,957

44,869

19,287

(6,490)

-

(96,138)

3,732,485

13,491,424

229,755

87,215

(58,582)

575,956

(244,638)

14,081,130

204,467

267,266

(145,245)

(9,112)

-

-

317,376

13,695,891

497,021

(58,030)

(67,694)

575,956

(244,638)

14,398,506

Land

Fleet, plant and
equipment
Roads, bridges and
major culverts
Pathways

Add: Capital works in
progress

Minor site improvements, Fleet plant and equipment and Capital works in progress are valued at cost or deemed cost. Land and certain buildings measured at market
value are Level 2 type assets as per the fair value hierarchy. Refer to Note 33 for details. All other asset classes contain Level 3 type assets.
Asset additions include purchased assets, capitalised expenditure on constructed assets, contributed assets and $49.95 million for the initial recognition of assets
disclosed in Note 35(a) as a prior period adjustment. The effective date for all assets initially recognised as a prior period adjustment is 1 July 2018.
Transfers include transfers out of capital works in progress into the respective asset classes when assets are placed into service as well as any transfers between asset
classes and assets reclassified as property held for sale.
Disposals and write-offs include the derecognition of assets recorded in error (refer Note 35(b)) which have an effective date of 1 July 2018, any capital works in progress
written-off, which is recognised within other expenses (refer Note 13) and assets disposed in the normal course of business (refer Note 14).
Refer to Note 33 for further details on fair value measurement.
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20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
20.2 Year ended 30 June 2018
Opening WDV

Additions

Transfers

Disposals &
write-offs

Revaluations

Depreciation

Closing WDV

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

2,073,266

50,830

257

(5,114)

(3,870)

-

2,115,369

Minor site
improvements

134,569

78,219

31,817

(1,466)

-

(16,323)

226,816

Major site
improvements

246,690

15,850

11,524

(2,619)

-

(7,854)

263,591

Buildings

620,523

17,568

39,374

(2,028)

39,384

(19,500)

695,321

74,905

20,907

1,053

(6,343)

-

(11,254)

79,268

3,268,769

74,337

59,591

(14,631)

-

(54,605)

3,333,461

Land

Fleet, plant and
equipment
Roads, bridges and
major culverts

252,131

6,875

13,731

(2,062)

-

(6,352)

264,323

Flood mitigation and
drainage

Pathways

2,691,679

59,869

25,388

(5,827)

-

(28,791)

2,742,318

Water and sewerage
infrastructure

3,786,563

44,919

37,913

(4,376)

-

(94,062)

3,770,957

13,149,095

369,374

220,648

(44,466)

35,514

(238,741)

13,491,424

197,253

240,317

(220,648)

(12,455)

-

-

204,467

13,346,348

609,691

-

(56,921)

35,514

(238,741)

13,695,891

Add: Capital works
in progress

Figures for various asset classes have been restated. Refer to Note 35 (c) for details.
Minor site improvements, Fleet plant and equipment and Capital works in progress are valued at cost. Land and certain buildings measured at market value are Level 2
type assets as per the fair value hierarchy. Refer to Note 33 for details. All other asset classes contain Level 3 type assets.
Asset additions include purchased assets, capitalised expenditure on constructed assets, contributed assets, the recognition of landfill remediation assets (refer to Note 24
for details) and $40.4 million for the initial recognition of assets. The effective date for all assets initially recognised is 1 July 2017. Refer to Note 35(a) for further details on
the initial recognition of assets.
Transfers include transfers out of capital works in progress into the respective asset classes when assets are placed into service as well as any transfers between
asset classes.
Disposals and write-offs include the derecognition of assets recorded in error (refer Note 35(b) which have an effective date of 1 July 2017, any capital works in progress
written-off, which is recognised within other expenses (refer Note 13) and assets disposed in the normal course of business (refer Note 14).
Refer to Note 33 for further details on fair value measurement.
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20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
20.3 Accumulated depreciation and gross value by asset class
Opening balances as at 1 July 2017

Closing balances as at 30 June 2018

Closing balances as at 30 June 2019

WDV

Accum
depn

Gross value

WDV

Accum
depn

Gross value

WDV

Accum
depn

Gross value

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

2,073,266

-

2,073,266

2,115,369

-

2,115,369

2,118,996

-

2,118,996

Minor site
improvements

134,569

183,242

317,811

226,816

198,146

424,962

241,454

204,598

446,052

Major site
improvements

246,690

178,529

425,219

263,591

190,767

454,358

304,315

193,041

497,356

Buildings

620,523

372,692

993,215

695,321

412,526

1,107,847

659,303

398,807

1,058,110

Fleet, plant and
equipment

74,905

70,559

145,464

79,268

69,979

149,247

80,512

63,441

143,953

Roads, bridges
and major
culverts

3,268,769

1,199,684

4,468,453

3,333,461

1,247,000

4,580,461

3,710,755

1,424,874

5,135,629

252,131

119,119

371,250

264,323

124,811

389,134

267,931

131,291

399,222

Flood
mitigation and
drainage

2,691,679

848,476

3,540,155

2,742,318

875,693

3,618,011

2,965,379

956,309

3,921,688

Water and
sewerage
infrastructure

3,786,563

1,980,428

5,766,991

3,770,957

2,070,109

5,841,066

3,732,485

2,161,280

5,893,765

13,149,095

4,952,729

18,101,824

13,491,424

5,189,031

18,680,455

14,081,130

5,533,641

19,614,771

Land

Pathways

21. PAYABLES
2019

2018

$'000

$'000

Trade creditors

35,858

33,187

Accrued expenses

87,545

70,228

1,068

1,133

124,471

104,548

2019

2018

Other payables

22. UNEARNED REVENUE
$'000

$'000

Waste levy
rebate received
in advance

20,605

-

Other unearned
revenue

2,219

2,000

22,824

2,000

The Queensland State Government made an advance payment of $20.6 million to Council in June 2019 to mitigate the impacts on households for the State Waste Levy,
which takes effect from 1 July 2019. The Council will be liable to the State for payment of the levy on most forms of commercial and household waste delivered to its
disposal sites from 1 July 2019. The State is required to make an annual payment to the Council that essentially provides a refund for the portion of the levy relating to
households. Council will fund the portion of the levy applicable to commercial waste through changes to commercial users of disposal sites. As the $20.6 million receipt
from the State in June 2019 is a prepaid rebate of Council's 2019-20 levy expense, the full amount has been recognised as a liability as at 30 June 2019.
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23. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
2019

2018

$’000

$’000

Annual leave

26,059

26,730

Long service leave

47,215

46,772

73,274

73,502

8,715

7,589

81,989

81,091

Current

Non-current
Long service leave

Total employee benefits

Employee benefits are presented as current liabilities where Council does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement beyond
12 months, regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur. Based on past experience, Council does not expect all
employees to take the full amount of accrued leave within the next 12 months. The following amounts reflect the actual settlement
timeframes in which leave is expected to be paid:
Not later than 1 year

31,592

29,203

Later than 1 year

50,397

51,888

81,989

81,091

24. PROVISIONS
Provision for landfill remediation
Council holds an Environmental Authority to operate a number of landfill sites, which encompasses a legal obligation to restore
and remediate any affected area. Costs associated with landfill restoration and remediation include leachate management, surface
capping and environmental monitoring. These costs can be incurred up to 30 years after a site officially ceases operational
use. Council estimates and discounts expected future remediation costs to present value based on interest rates applicable to
Commonwealth Government guaranteed securities over the relevant period. As all landfill sites are situated on Council controlled
land, the provision for landfill remediation is included in the value of site improvements for each respective landfill site.
Remediation costs for landfill sites that have ceased operational use will be incurred annually up to the year 2051. Landfill sites in
operational use at balance date, being the Reedy Creek and Stapylton sites, are expected to close between 2035 and 2049 with
associated remediation costs incurred up to 2080. Annual movement in the provision for landfill remediation is presented below:
2019

2018

$'000

$'000

70,000

-

-

70,000

Increase in provision due to unwinding of discount

1,793

-

Remediation costs charged to the provision during period

(308)

-

Increase in provision due to changes in estimates

9,696

-

Balance at end of period

81,181

70,000

421

396

80,760

69,604

81,181

70,000

Balance at beginning of period
Provision initially brought to account

Current
Non-current

Changes to the provision resulting from the passing of time (the unwinding of the discount) are treated as finance costs (refer to Note
12). Amendments to the provision resulting from changes in estimates, which include any discount rate change, are recognised
within the accounts as other expenses (refer to Note 13).
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25. BORROWINGS
2019

2018

$'000

$'000

641,521

686,260

38,281

31,265

(112,581)

(116,409)

Finance charges

36,567

40,405

Closing balance

603,788

641,521

79,313

77,395

524,475

564,126

603,788

641,521

Opening balance
Loans raised
Debt service payments

Disclosure in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Council recognises borrowings at amortised cost and all loans are with the Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC). Fair value of the borrowings at balance date was
$702,142,000 (2018: $723,449,000). This represents the market value to extinguish the debt.

26. ASSET REVALUATION SURPLUS
2019

2018

$'000

$'000

Land

871,890

842,489

Major site improvements

157,561

110,996

Buildings

107,849

139,668

1,560,542

1,220,137

52,298

52,298

1,973,688

1,782,284

142,659

142,659

4,866,487

4,290,531

Year end balance of the asset revaluation surplus is comprised of the following:

Roads, bridges and major culverts
Pathways
Flood mitigation and drainage
Water and sewerage infrastructure

27. SELF-INSURANCE RESERVE
2019

2018

$'000

$'000

11,049

10,903

289

289

11,338

11,192

Year end balance of Council’s self-insurance reserve is comprised of the following:
Workers’ compensation
Insurance liability

Council holds a licence under legislation in Queensland to manage its own workers' compensation claims. Council is also self-insured for insurance claims applicable to
financial years up to 2006-07. Insurance claims over a $20,000 retention (excess) after 30 June 2007 are the responsibility of City of Gold Coast Insurance Company Ltd,
which is wholly owned by Council.
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28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Workers' compensation self-insurance guarantee
As a self-insurer, Council holds a financial guarantee with WorkCover to the value of $14,298,000. The guarantee represents 150%
of potential workers' compensation claims as assessed annually by independent actuarial advice.
Other contingent liabilities
Based on advice from Council's solicitors and after review by the City Solicitor, there are a number of claims, legal proceedings and
appeals that may result in financial settlement being made by Council to resolve the litigation. The total of these contingent liabilities,
liability for which is not admitted, is estimated at $25,400,000 (2018: $49,000,000).

29. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
2019

2018

$'000

$'000

137,606

37,330

953

1,013

Later than one year and not later than five years

2,152

2,015

Later than five years

1,246

1,674

4,351

4,702

2019

2018

Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at balance date but not recognised in the financial statements

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
No later than one year

Council has the option under one of its leases to lease the assets for additional terms of 10 to 20 years.

30. R
 ECONCILIATION OF NET RESULT FOR THE YEAR
TO NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
$'000

$'000

267,896

314,017

Depreciation and amortisation

250,684

247,031

Contributed asset revenue *

(157,641)

(233,029)

Unwinding of discount for landfill remediation provision

1,793

-

Adjustment to landfill remediation provision

9,696

-

Capital works in progress written-off

9,175

12,458

27,074

28,423

(8,652)

(25,490)

75

257

40,747

11,834

898

1,935

441,745

357,436

Net result for the year

Add/(deduct) non-cash items

Investing activities
Loss on disposal of non-current assets

Change in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in receivables and prepayments
Decrease in consumables
Increase in payables and unearned revenue
Increase in employee benefits

Net cash generated by operating activities
* The comparative figure for contributed asset revenue has been restated. Refer to Note 35 (c) for details.
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31. SUPERANNUATION
Council contributes to the LGIAsuper Regional Defined
Benefits Fund (the scheme), at the rate of 12% for each
permanent employee who is a defined benefit member. This
rate is set in accordance with the LGIAsuper trust deed and
may be varied on the advice of an actuary. The Regional
Defined Benefits Fund is a complying superannuation scheme
for the purpose of the Commonwealth Superannuation Industry
(Supervision) legislation and is also governed by the Local
Government Act 2009.
The scheme is a defined benefit plan, however Council is not
able to account for it as a defined benefit plan in accordance
with AASB119 because LGIAsuper is unable to account for
its proportionate share of the defined benefit obligation, plan
assets and costs.
Any amount by which the scheme is over or under funded may
affect future benefits and result in a change to the contribution
rate, but has not been recognised as an asset or liability of
the Council.
Technically Council can be liable to the scheme for a portion
of another local governments’ obligations should that local
government be unable to meet them. However the risk of
this occurring is extremely low and in accordance with the
LGIAsuper trust deed changes to Council's obligations will
only be made on the advice of an actuary.

The last completed actuarial assessment of the scheme was
undertaken as at 1 July 2018. The actuary indicated that
“At the valuation date of 1 July 2018, the net assets of the
scheme exceeded the vested benefits and the scheme was in
a satisfactory financial position as at the valuation date." The
Council is not aware of anything that has happened since that
time that indicates the assets of the scheme are not sufficient to
meet the vested benefits, as at the reporting date.
No changes have been made to prescribed employer
contributions which remain at 12% of employee wages and
salaries and there are no known requirements to change the rate
of contributions.
The next triennial actuarial review is not due until 1 July 2021.
The most significant risks that may result in LGIAsuper
increasing the contribution rate, on the advice of the actuary, are:
• Investment risk – The risk that the scheme's investment
returns will be lower than assumed and additional
contributions are needed to fund the shortfall.
• Salary growth risk – The risk that wages or salaries will rise
more rapidly than assumed, increasing vested benefits to
be funded.
There are currently 62 entities contributing to the scheme and
any changes in contribution rates would apply equally to all 62
entities. Council made 15.76% of the total contributions to the
plan for the 2018 –19 financial year.
2019

2018

$'000

$'000

2,565

2,878

Other superannuation contributions for employees

31,339

30,560

Total superannuation contributions paid by Council for employees (refer Note 9)

33,904

33,438

Superannuation contributions made to the Regional Defined Benefits Fund

Contributions Council expects to make to the Regional Defined Benefits Fund for 2019 – 20 are $2,438,000.

32. CONDITIONS OVER CONTRIBUTIONS
2019

2018

$'000

$'000

Contributions which were recognised as revenue during the current reporting period and which were obtained on the condition that they
be expended on the acquisitions of assets, but had yet to be applied in that manner as at the reporting date, were:
Water and sewerage

51,066

59,415

Other purposes

62,804

72,448

113,870

131,863

Contributions which were recognised as revenue in a previous period and were expended during the current financial reporting
period were:
Water and sewerage

(22,012)

(9,983)

Other purposes

(31,489)

(27,356)

(53,501)

(37,339)

60,369

94,524

Net increase in the infrastructure charges reserve
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33. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
33.1 Recognised fair value measurements
The table below presents all items measured and recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at fair value. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date taking
account of characteristics that are specific to that asset, including an asset's highest and best use. On initial recognition of an asset
fair value can equate to historic cost. For asset classes subject to regular revaluation processes, the following fair value hierarchy is
applied (in ascending order of priority), which reflects the significance of inputs used in measuring the asset values:
• Level 1 – Fair value reflects unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets
• Level 2 – Fair value based on inputs that are directly or indirectly observable for the asset
• Level 3 – Fair value derived from data not observable in a market
The fair value of assets not traded in an active market for identical assets is determined using valuation techniques that maximise
the use of other observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to
fair value an asset are observable the asset is included in Level 2. Land and non-specialised buildings fall into this category whenever
external market inputs can be observed and relied upon for asset valuation purposes. If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the asset is included in Level 3. This applies to Council's major site improvements, specialised
buildings and infrastructure assets, which, by their very nature, have no active market. The fair value of such assets is determined
based on current replacement cost.
Level 2

Level 3

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

2,118,996

-

2,118,996

-

304,315

304,315

55,999

603,304

659,303

Roads, bridges and major culverts

-

3,710,755

3,710,755

Pathways

-

267,931

267,931

Flood mitigation and drainage

-

2,965,379

2,965,379

Water and sewerage infrastructure

-

3,732,485

3,732,485

2,174,995

11,584,169

13,759,164

58,030

-

58,030

2,233,025

11,584,169

13,817,194

Level 2

Level 3

Total

As at 30 June 2019
Land
Major site improvements
Buildings

Property held for sale

As at 30 June 2018

$'000

$'000

$'000

2,115,369

-

2,115,369

-

263,591

263,591

72,123

623,198

695,321

Roads, bridges and major culverts

-

3,333,461

3,333,461

Pathways

-

264,323

264,323

Flood mitigation and drainage

-

2,742,318

2,742,318

Water and sewerage infrastructure

-

3,770,957

3,770,957

2,187,492

10,997,848

13,185,340

Land
Major site improvements
Buildings

Council recognises transfers between the fair value hierarchy levels, where relevant, at the beginning of the reporting period.
All fair value measurements are recognised on a recurring basis.
Comparative figures for various asset classes have been restated. Refer to Note 35 (c) for details.
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33. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)
33.2 Valuation techniques used to derive
fair value
(a) Land
Land parcels are recognised at current market value based on
their highest and best use. Level 2 inputs are primarily used for
land during any valuation process. The most significant input
is price per square metre, which is derived by an independent
valuer by assessing comparative sales and market movements.
During 2018–19, the following land parcels were independently
revalued by State Valuation Services (SVS) within the
Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy:
(i) Land contributed to Council during 2018–19;
(ii) Land acquired during 2018–19 at cost;
(iii) Land parcels subject to change during 2018–19 via a
partial sale, subdivision or amalgamation;
(iv) Land parcels not subject to a comprehensive valuation in
the last five years; and
(v) Other land parcels where a review undertaken by SVS
revealed a valuation update is necessary to ensure fair value
is representative as at 30 June 2019.
(b) Buildings
Buildings controlled by Council where a market value can be
reliably determined were independently revalued by Australis
Asset Advisory Group (Australis), registered valuers as at 30
June 2019. The most significant input into the revaluation was
sales transactions of comparable properties within the City,
adjusted for any pertinent differences. Net lettable area and
revenue streams from rental income are also considered. A
total of 16 buildings were revalued based on these market
value principles, which is deemed to be fair value based on
Level 2 inputs. One building was reclassified as property held
for sale subsequent to the revaluation.
For the majority of Council's buildings there is no active market
due to the specialised nature of the assets and the services
they provide. For such buildings fair value is determined on
the basis of replacement with a new building having similar
service potential. While some inputs used to determine
current replacement cost are supported by observable
data any revaluation process also references costing data
contained within Rawlinson's Australia Construction Handbook
encompassing Civil Works and Building costs as well as
costing information within their own database built up from
prior research. These are considered Level 3 type value inputs
as prescribed by the fair value hierarchy.
Buildings measured at replacement cost were independently
revalued by Australis Asset Advisory Group (Australis),
registered valuers as at 31 March 2016. The current use of
each building was presumed to be its highest and best use
unless market or other factors suggested otherwise. Values
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were determined on the presumption that Council intends to
retain the buildings on a continuous basis and maintain the
same usage classification as at the date of valuation.
Condition assessments were undertaken at the time of
revaluation by Australis for the purpose of assessing remaining
useful life for depreciation purposes. Condition assessments
do not impact on the recognised written down value of
buildings as Council adopts the gross revaluation method,
whereby accumulated depreciation is adjusted proportionally to
any change in gross value.
For buildings measured at current replacement cost a
valuation increment of 5.62% was applied during 2017–18 for
movements since the last comprehensive revaluation. Current
replacement cost at 30 June 2019 was determined and
benchmarked against appropriate industry indices. Movement
since the last valuation increment was applied in 2017–18 is
not significant.
(c) Major site improvements
There is no market for Council's major site improvements due
to their specialised nature and the services they provide. As
such, the fair value of all major site improvements is determined
on the basis of replacement with a new asset having similar
service potential.
Current replacement cost (CRC) is measured by reference
to the lowest cost at which the gross economic benefits (i.e.
service potential) of the asset could be obtained in the normal
course of business. It is assumed that major site improvements
will be replaced by their modern equivalent.
A rolling revaluation process is currently being undertaken
for major site improvements. This process commenced in
2018 – 19 and is scheduled to be completed in 2019 – 20. The
revaluation is being undertaken by suitably experienced and
knowledgeable Council staff. Assets revalued in 2018 – 19
encompassed retaining walls, seawalls, playing surfaces,
swimming pools and major boating facilities. All assets
controlled by Council within these asset types were subject to
a comprehensive revaluation as at 31 March 2019.
Inputs used in the CRC measurement primarily comprised
unit rates developed in-house with reference to internal
construction costs, contracted service providers, market
acquisition costs (where applicable) and Rawlinson's Australian
Construction Handbook. Factors included in the determination
of unit rates for major site improvements include on-costed
labour charges as well as directly attributable service, materials
and plant costs taking into account, where applicable,
physical location attributes. In applying the unit rates it is
assumed environmental factors such as soil type, climate and
topography are consistent across each site. It is also assumed
that each asset is designed and constructed to the same
standard and construction costs contain a consistent amount
of labour and materials. These are considered Level 3 type
value inputs as prescribed by the fair value hierarchy.
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(CONTINUED)

and area specifications, estimated labour and material inputs,
service costs and overhead allocations.

(d) Infrastructure assets

Council assumes that pavements are constructed to average
depths of 450mm for high traffic areas and 300mm for lower
traffic locations and that surfaces are constructed to average
depths of 60mm for high traffic areas and 30mm for lower
traffic locations. For internal construction estimates, material
and services prices were based on existing supplier contract
rates or supplier price lists and labour wage rates. All direct
costs were allocated to assets at standard usage quantities
according to recently completed similar projects. Where
construction is outsourced current replacement cost was
based on the average of completed similar projects over the
last few years.

There is no market for Council's infrastructure assets due to
their specialised nature and the services they provide.
As such, the fair value of all infrastructure assets is determined
on the basis of replacement with a new asset having similar
service potential.
Current replacement cost (CRC) is measured by reference
to the lowest cost at which the gross economic benefits (i.e.
service potential) of the asset could be obtained in the normal
course of business. It is assumed that infrastructure assets will
be replaced by their modern equivalent.
Infrastructure assets are comprehensively revalued every three
to five years, based on component unit rates developed in-line
with asset renewal practices. Unit rates are developed in-house
with reference to internal construction costs, contracted
service providers, market acquisition costs (where applicable)
and Rawlinson's Australian Construction Handbook. Factors
included in the determination of component unit rates include
on-costed labour charges as well as directly attributable
service, materials and plant costs taking into account, where
applicable, physical location attributes such as soil type, depth
and urban density. These are considered Level 3 type value
inputs as prescribed by the fair value hierarchy.
Condition assessments are undertaken at the time of
revaluation for the purpose of assessing remaining useful life for
depreciation purposes. Condition assessments do not impact
on the recognised written down value of infrastructure assets
as Council adopts the gross revaluation method whereby
accumulated depreciation is adjusted proportionally to any
change in gross value.
Details specific for each infrastructure asset class are
presented below.
Roads, bridges and major culverts
Council categorises its road infrastructure into urban and
rural roads and further subcategorises these into sealed and
unsealed roads. Urban roads are managed in segments from
intersection to intersection averaging 200m, with a maximum
of 250m, while rural roads are managed in segments from
intersection to intersection averaging 450m, with a maximum
of 500m. All road segments are then componentised into
pavement and seal (where applicable).
Roads, bridges and major culverts were subject to a rolling
revaluation process in 2014–15 and 2015–16. It was
undertaken by suitably experienced and knowledgeable
Council staff following corporate guidelines. During the
revaluation process Council assumed that environmental
factors such as soil type, climate and topography are
consistent across the segment. Council also assumes a
segment is designed and constructed to the same standard
and uses a consistent amount of labour and materials. Current
replacement cost was calculated by reference to asset linear

Fair value was assessed using an indexation approach
for 2016 –17 and 2017 –18. No valuation adjustment was
recognised during each of these two periods as movements
in current replacement cost were deemed immaterial. As at
30 June 2019, current replacement cost was assessed and
benchmarked against appropriate industry indices. Movement
since the last revaluation process was 10.1%, which was
applied as a valuation increment across all assets in
the class.
Pathways
Council categorises its pathways infrastructure into pedestrian
and shared use footpaths, boardwalks, stairs and footbridges
and further subcategorises these by width, thickness,
construction material and urban density. Footpaths are
managed in segments averaging 200m, with a maximum of
300m. The length of a standard footpath panel is 1.2m.
Pathways were last subject to a comprehensive revaluation
process as at 1 July 2015, which was performed in-house
by suitably experienced and knowledgeable Council staff
following corporate guidelines. The revaluation was based on
each asset’s physical characteristics, dimensions, construction
material and urban density parameters. Construction material
is considered to have the maximum impact on pathway
asset life. Current replacement cost is impacted by urban
density factors, which can increase site establishment and
construction costs. These factors were used to determine
a unit rate range. As part of the revaluation process Council
assumed that environmental factors such as soil type, climate
and topography are consistent across each segment. Council
also assumed that a segment is designed and constructed to
the same standard and uses a consistent amount of labour
and materials.
A valuation increment of 6.98% was applied during 2016 – 17
for movements since the last comprehensive revaluation.
Current replacement cost at 30 June 2019 was determined
and benchmarked against appropriate industry indices.
Movement since the last valuation increment was applied in
2016 – 17 is not significant.
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Flood mitigation and drainage
Flood mitigation and drainage assets were subject to a
comprehensive revaluation process as at 31 March 2018.
The revaluation was performed in-house by suitably
experienced and knowledgeable Council staff following
corporate guidelines.
The revaluation of flood mitigation and drainage assets was
based on each asset’s physical characteristics, dimensions,
depth and environmental parameters. Environmental
parameters and asset durability have the maximum impact
on an asset's useful life. Cost of replacement is significantly
impacted by urban density factors as well as dewatering costs
required for tidal intrusion. Environmental parameters were
identified and applied to individual assets based on Council's
Planning Scheme and tidal zone maps.
Asset component data was further segregated based on
attribute values that significantly influence the replacement
cost. A summary of the relevant factors considered for the
assets is presented below:
Factors considered
Urban Density
Tidal Zone

Categories
Low, medium, high
Tidal, non-tidal

A low to high range of unit rates was developed to take into
account individual asset attributes, physical location and
local environmental factors. Each of these parameters was
considered during the process to select the appropriate unit
rate from within the low to high range.
Key assumptions used in the flood mitigation and drainage
valuation were:
(a) Low rate of 18% and high rate of 36% overhead applied.
Council considers this to be acceptable and in line with
industry practice
(b) Pipe segments have an average length of 200m
(c) Each segment is designed and constructed to the
same standard and with a consistent amount of labour
and materials
(d) Circular pipes with diameters ≥ 375mm and ≤ 2100mm and
rectangular pipes with perimeters ≥ 525mm and ≤ 6000mm
will be relined
(e) Environmental factors such as soil type, climate and
topography are consistent across each pipe segment.
Current replacement cost at 30 June 2019 was determined
and benchmarked against appropriate industry indices.
Movement since the last revaluation process was 6.9%,
which was applied as a valuation increment across all assets
in the class.
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Water and sewerage infrastructure 		
Water and sewerage infrastructure assets were subject to
a comprehensive revaluation process as at 31 March 2018.
The revaluation was performed both by Cardno (Qld) Pty Ltd
and in-house by suitably experienced and knowledgeable
Council staff following corporate guidelines. The majority of the
valuation was performed in-house, with Cardno responsible
for the valuation of unique sites, the Sewerage and Recycled
Water Treatment Plants, the Benowa Re-Pump Facility and
the Staplyton Storage Lagoon and a review of the useful lives
adopted by Council.
During the revaluation process Cardno referenced building
and construction costings contained within Rawlinson's
Australia Construction Handbook as well as costing information
contained within its own database built up from prior research
and contact with suppliers. For internal construction estimates,
material and services prices were based on existing supplier
contract rates or supplier price lists and labour wage rates.
All direct costs were allocated to assets at standard usage
quantities according to recently completed similar projects.
Where construction is outsourced current replacement cost
was based on the average of completed similar projects over
the last few years.
Asset component data was further segregated based on
attribute values that significantly influence the replacement
cost. A summary of the relevant factors considered for the
major component type of pipelines is presented below:
Factors considered
Development factors
Soil factors

Categories
Rural, urban and high density urban
Sand, good soil, acid sulphate soil,
poor soil, soft rock and hard rock

Key assumptions used in the water and sewerage
infrastructure valuation were:
(a) 12% overhead applied for the key pipe diameters for which
the contracts include design and preliminary
planning costs
(b) 20% overhead applied to the balance of the assets.
Council considers this to be acceptable and in line with
industry practice
(c) Valuations of sewer gravity mains (underground assets)
were based on the assumption that they will be relined
(d) Depending on the soil type in which underground assets
reside, adjustment factors were applied in determining
a valuation.
Current replacement cost at 30 June 2019 was determined
and benchmarked against appropriate industry indices.
Movement since the last comprehensive valuation in 2018
was not significant.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Council's activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks including credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. Exposure
to financial risks is managed in accordance with Council approved policies on financial risk management. These policies focus
on managing the volatility of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of
the Council.

(a) Credit risk
Credit risk exposure refers to the situation where the Council may incur financial loss as a result of another party to a financial
instrument failing to discharge its obligations. These obligations arise principally from the Council's investments and receivables
from customers.
In the case of rate debtors and debtors for water and sewerage utility charges, the Council has the power to sell the property to
recover any defaulted amounts. In effect, this power protects the Council against credit risk for such debtors.
For other types of debtors and receivables, the Council assesses the credit risk before providing goods or services and applies
normal business credit protection procedures to minimise the risk. By the nature of local government operations, there is a
geographical concentration of risk in the Council area.
Council has investments with the Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC), banks and various other financial institutions. The QTC
cash fund is an asset management portfolio that invests with a wide variety of high credit rating counterparties. Deposits are capital
guaranteed. Other investments held by Council at year end are with high rated, regulated banks or financial institutions, and whilst
not capital guaranteed, the likelihood of a credit failure is remote. Council does not invest in derivatives or other high risk investments.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation to each class of recognised financial asset is the gross carrying
amount of these assets inclusive of any impairment. No collateral is held as security by Council in relation to any financial assets.
The following table represents Council's maximum exposure to credit risk:
2019

2018

$'000

$'000

74,380

19

Cash and cash equivalents - other financial institutions

989,641

936,385

Debtors for rates and utility charges

151,133

142,066

Other debtors and receivables

50,426

59,102

1,265,580

1,137,572

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents - QTC
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
The following tables provide ageing analysis of Council’s rates debtors and other debtors/receivables that are either fully performing,
past due or impaired:
2019
Not past due

Past due < 12
months

Past due > 12
months

Impaired

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Debtors for rates and utility charges

95,661

37,831

17,280

361

151,133

Other debtors and receivables

31,438

6,050

7,565

5,373

50,426

Total debtors and receivables

127,099

43,881

24,845

5,734

201,559

Not past due

Past due < 12
Months

Past due > 12
Months

Impaired

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Debtors for rates and utility charges

90,832

37,178

13,732

324

142,066

Other debtors and receivables

39,212

10,343

4,366

5,181

59,102

130,044

47,521

18,098

5,505

201,168

Debtor type

2018
Debtor type

Total debtors and receivables

Factors Council considers when assessing the impairment of financial assets include the payment capability of individual debtors
and the historic percentage of debts that are eventually written-off once a specific debtor type becomes past due for a certain
period of time.

(b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk refers to the situation where the Council may encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or other financial assets. The Council is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the
normal course of business and borrowings from the Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC).
The Council manages its exposure to liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash deposits and undrawn facilities to cater for
unexpected volatility in cash flows. The following short term lines of credit were available as at the balance date:
2019

2018

$'000

$'000

Working capital facility with QTC

100,000

100,000

Available at 30 June

100,000

100,000
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
The following maturity analysis sets out the liquidity risk in relation to financial liabilities held by the Council.
It represents the remaining undiscounted contractual cashflows (principal and interest) of financial liabilities as at the balance date:
0 to 1 year

1 to 5 years

Over 5 years

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Payables

124,471

-

-

124,471

Interest bearing loans with QTC

110,619

368,315

279,848

758,782

235,090

368,315

279,848

883,253

Payables

104,548

-

-

104,548

Interest bearing loans with QTC

112,582

382,879

332,996

828,457

217,130

382,879

332,996

933,005

2019

2018

Outflows are not expected to occur significantly earlier and are not expected to be significantly different than presented in the
above table.
(c) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, will affect the Council's income or the value of its
holdings of financial instruments.
The Council is exposed to interest rate risk through its borrowings from QTC and investments held with financial institutions.
The risk in borrowing is effectively managed by borrowing only from QTC. Given that the interest rate risk in other areas is minimal,
the Council does not undertake any hedging of interest rate risk.

35. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS
(a) Initial recognition of non-current assets
The initial recognition of non-current assets relates to items of property, plant and equipment that should have been included in
previous years' financial statements but have only been identified and placed into the financial asset register during the current
reporting period. All identified assets have been initially recognised at their written down fair value as at 1 July 2018 (as at 1 July
2017 for the comparative year) and are included within Note 20 as part of additions for the respective asset class.
Retrospective adjustments have not been applied due to the impractical nature of determining the written down fair value for each
initially recognised depreciable asset prior to the reporting date.
2019

2018

Initial recognition of property, plant and equipment by asset class:

$'000

$'000

Minor site improvements

2,149

5,962

Major site improvements

13,907

14,472

68

968

151

-

Roads, bridges and major culverts

6,686

11,198

Pathways

1,263

1,384

18,323

5,107

7,406

1,292

49,953

40,383

Buildings
Fleet, plant and equipment

Flood mitigation and drainage
Water and sewerage infrastructure

167

CITY OF GOLD COAST ANNUAL REPORT 2018–19

Council of the City of Gold Coast
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019
35. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Derecognition of non-current assets
Presented below are the written-down values of non-current assets derecognised due to prior year errors. These errors were caused
by a combination of issues, including duplicate data entry, not accounting for asset disposals and financially recognising assets
controlled by other entities.
2019

2018

$'000

$'000

Minor site improvements

54

172

Major site improvements

1,361

873

75

155

2,018

1,707

399

589

12,381

1,364

312

-

16,600

4,860

Buildings
Roads, bridges and major culverts
Pathways
Flood mitigation and drainage
Water and sewerage infrastructure

The effective date of each asset derecognition is 1 July 2018 (as at 1 July 2017 for the comparative year). Retrospective adjustments
have not been applied due to the uncertainty of when the errors occurred.
(c) Error correction for recognition of contributed infrastructure assets
During 2018 –19 Council brought to account contributed infrastructure assets totalling $22.531 million, with commission dates prior
to 1 July 2018. As a result, for the comparative year of 2017–18, Council understated its property, plant and equipment by $22.531
million. In addition, $40.309 million of contributed infrastructure assets recognised during 2017–18 has been identified as having
commission dates prior to 1 July 2017. This amount should have been recognised as revenue in years prior to 2017–18. The net
impact of contributed asset revenue reported within the 2017–18 accounts is an overstatement of $17.778 million. To correct the
impact of the prior year error Council has adjusted the 2017–18 comparative amounts in the Statement of Comprehensive Income,
Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes in Equity and applicable notes to the accounts. No prior year adjustments
were actioned for deprecation on the subject assets due to materiality.
Adjustments impacting financial statement line items for the 2017–18 comparative year are presented below:
Actual
2018

Adjustment
2018

Restated
Actual 2018

$'000

$'000

$'000

396,765

(17,778)

378,987

1,685,631

(17,778)

1,667,853

Net result

331,795

(17,778)

314,017

Total comprehensive income for the year

367,309

(17,778)

349,531

Statement of Comprehensive Income (Extract)
Revenue
Contributions and donations
Total revenue
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35. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED)
Actual
2018

Adjustment
2018

Restated
Actual 2018

$'000

$'000

$'000

Property, plant and equipment

13,673,360

22,531

13,695,891

Total assets

14,859,395

22,531

14,881,926

Net community assets

13,960,235

22,531

13,982,766

Retained capital

8,882,977

22,531

8,905,508

Total community equity

13,960,235

22,531

13,982,766

-

40,309

40,309

127,000

(17,778)

109,222

8,882,977

22,531

8,905,508

Water

622,829

(5,756)

617,073

Transport and Infrastructure

183,590

(8,115)

175,475

94,422

(3,907)

90,515

Water

622,829

(5,756)

617,073

Transport and Infrastructure

212,485

(8,115)

204,370

98,266

(3,907)

94,359

Water

610,619

(5,756)

604,863

Transport and Infrastructure

177,541

(8,115)

169,426

91,718

(3,907)

87,811

85,200

(5,756)

79,444

Transport and Infrastructure

(177,747)

(8,115)

(185,862)

Lifestyle and Community

(171,426)

(3,907)

(175,333)

4,112,610

6,313

4,118,923

Transport and Infrastructure

6,545,070

15,752

6,560,822

Lifestyle and Community

1,746,790

466

1,747,256

Statement of Financial Position (Extract)
Non-current assets

Community equity

Statement of Changes in Equity (Extract)
Prior period adjustments to retained capital
Error correction for contributed assets
Allocation of comprehensive income to retained capital
Net result

Balance at 30 June 2018

Note 2 – Statement of Significant Functions (Extract)
Other income

Lifestyle and Community

Income before eliminations

Lifestyle and Community

Total income

Lifestyle and Community

Net result before eliminations
Water

Assets
Water
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35. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED)
Actual
2018

Adjustment
2018

Restated
Actual 2018

$'000

$'000

$'000

250,807

(17,778)

233,029

Minor site improvements

133,738

831

134,569

Major site improvements

243,760

2,930

246,690

Buildings

619,304

1,219

620,523

3,260,502

8,267

3,268,769

250,374

1,757

252,131

Flood mitigation and drainage

2,678,443

13,236

2,691,679

Water and sewerage infrastructure

3,774,494

12,069

3,786,563

Minor site improvements

78,584

(365)

78,219

Major site improvements

18,776

(2,926)

15,850

Buildings

18,787

(1,219)

17,568

Roads, bridges and major culverts

75,052

(715)

74,337

7,602

(727)

6,875

Flood mitigation and drainage

65,939

(6,070)

59,869

Water and sewerage infrastructure

50,675

(5,756)

44,919

Note 6 – Contributions and Donations
Contributed assets

Note 20.2 – Property, Plant and Equipment for Year Ended 30 June 2018
Opening written down value as at 1 July 2017

Roads, bridges and major culverts
Pathways

Asset additions for 2017–18

Pathways
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35. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED)
Actual
2018

Adjustment
2018

Restated
Actual 2018

$'000

$'000

$'000

Minor site improvements

226,350

466

226,816

Major site improvements

263,587

4

263,591

3,325,909

7,552

3,333,461

263,293

1,030

264,323

Flood mitigation and drainage

2,735,152

7,166

2,742,318

Water and sewerage infrastructure

3,764,644

6,313

3,770,957

(250,807)

17,778

(233,029)

263,587

4

263,591

3,325,909

7,552

3,333,461

263,293

1,030

264,323

Flood mitigation and drainage

2,735,152

7,166

2,742,318

Water and sewerage infrastructure

3,764,644

6,313

3,770,957

Closing written down value as at 30 June 2018

Roads, bridges and major culverts
Pathways

Note 30 – Reconciliation of Net Result to Net Cash Inflow From Operating Activities
Add/(deduct) non-cash items
Contributed asset revenue

Note 33.1 – Recognised Fair Value Measurements
Level 3 values as at 30 June 2018
Major site improvements
Roads, bridges and major culverts
Pathways
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36. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(a) Controlled entities
Interests in controlled entities are disclosed in Note 1(b). The following transactions occurred with Council's controlled entities:
2019

2018

$'000

$'000

17,938

18,531

7,328

7,337

Goods and services supplied by controlled entities

546

330

Goods and services incurred on behalf of controlled entities

775

215

6,256

1,460

Contributions provided by Council
Insurance provided by a controlled entity

Goods and services supplied by Council

During 2017–18, Council purchased 46 tickets to Commonwealth Games events for allocation to Council's controlled entities at a
net cost of $1,500.
Council maintains and manages all insurance policies as required by the controlled entities. Council provides free rental
accommodation to HOTA Gold Coast Pty Ltd. The controlled entities are dependent on funding provided by Council.
Funding support has been agreed to by the Council for the 2019 – 20 financial year.

(b) Transactions with associates
The following transactions occurred with Bleached Arts Ltd, which is an associate of Council:
2019

2018

$'000

$'000

1,967

1,054

Goods and services supplied by associate

30

165

Goods and services supplied by Council

13

-

Contributions provided by Council

(c) Transactions with key management personnel (KMP)
Key management personnel include the Mayor, Councillors, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer and Directors.
Compensation paid to key management personnel for the year comprises:
2019

2018

$'000

$'000

5,056

5,074

Post-employee benefits

575

573

Other long-term benefits

64

67

5,695

5,714

Short-term employee benefits

Included in Council's revenue for 2018–19 was a $1,250 fine paid by key management personnel to Council in accordance with a
decision by the Local Government Remuneration and Discipline Tribunal.
During 2017–18, Council purchased 41 tickets to Commonwealth Games events for allocation to Councillors at a net cost of $3,970.
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36. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
(d) Transactions with other related parties
Other related parties include the close family members of key management personnel and any entities controlled or jointly controlled
by key management personnel or their close family members. Details of transactions between Council and other related parties are
disclosed below:

Employee expenses for close family members of KMP

2019

2018

$'000

$'000

94

100

Close family members of key management personnel were employed through an arm's length process and are paid in accordance
with the award for the job they perform.

(e) Outstanding balances
The following balances are outstanding at the end of the reporting period in relation to transactions with related parties:

Monies owing from controlled entities
Monies owing to controlled entities
Monies owing to associate

2019

2018

$'000

$'000

902

568

18

48

239

-

No expense has been recognised in the current year for bad or doubtful debts in respect of amounts owed by related parties.

(f) Transactions with related parties not disclosed
On a regular basis ordinary citizen transactions occur between Council and its related parties. Examples include rates, use of Council
swimming pools and library borrowings. Council has not included these types of transactions in its disclosure where they are made
on the same terms and conditions available to the general public.
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37. POST BALANCE DATE EVENTS
No matter or circumstance has arisen since the end of the financial year that has materially affected or may materially affect the
operation or results of the reporting entity or the state of affairs of the reporting entity in the subsequent financial year.

38. ACTIVITIES TO WHICH THE CODE OF COMPETITIVE CONDUCT APPLIES
Under the requirements of the Local Government Act 2009 a local government may elect to apply a Code of Competitive Conduct
(CCC) to its business activities. This requires the application of full cost pricing, identifying the cost of community service obligations
(CSOs) and eliminating the advantages and disadvantages of public ownership within the activity.
Council has resolved in relation to the activities listed below to implement the following:
Activity

Reform

Reason for Code of Competitive Conduct (CCC) not being adopted

Water

Apply CCC

Waste management

Apply CCC

Tourist parks

Apply CCC

Building certification group

Apply CCC

Community facilities

No reform

Incur relatively low level of competition

Off-street car parking

No reform

Incur relatively low level of competition

Swimming pools

No reform

Incur relatively low level of competition

Cemeteries

No reform

Incur relatively low level of competition

The following activity statements are for the activities subject to the Code of Competitive Conduct:
Water

Waste
Management

Tourist
Parks

Building
Certification

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

7,000

10,264

-

63

605,502

97,382

17,968

11

4,814

3,250

-

279

617,316

110,896

17,968

353

548,862

105,251

16,136

179

68,454

5,645

1,832

174

Revenue
Revenue for services provided to the Council
Revenue for services provided to external clients
Community service obligations

Total revenue
Less: expenditure

Net result

Community Service Obligations (CSOs)
The CSO value is determined by Council and represents an activity's costs which would not be incurred if the activity's primary
objective were to make a profit. The Council provides funding from general revenue to the business activity to cover the cost of
providing non-commercial community services or costs deemed to be CSOs by the Council. Details of CSOs relevant to activities
subject to the Code of Competitive Conduct are presented below:
Activity

CSO description

$'000

Water

Monitoring of recreational water environments and implementation of related
environmental restoration actions

4,814

Waste management

Dead animal collections, street and park bin collections and eligible rate donations
pertaining to charitable organisations

3,250

Building certification

Non chargeable employee costs for time allocated to general public inquiries

174
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4.4 CURRENT YEAR FINANCIAL
SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Measures of Financial Sustainability
Sustainability Ratio

How the measure is calculated

Actual Result

Target

Operating Surplus Ratio

Net Result (excluding capital items)
divided by total operating revenue
(excluding capital items)

1.5%

Between 0% and 10%

Asset Sustainability Ratio

Capital expenditure on the replacement
of assets (renewals) divided by
depreciation expense

50.7%

Greater than 90%

Net Financial Liabilities Ratio

Total liabilities less current assets
divided by total operating revenue
(excluding capital items)

(31.1%)

Not greater than 60%

Notes:
1. Basis of preparation – The current year financial sustainability statement is a special purpose statement prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Local Government Regulation 2012 and the Financial Management (Sustainability) Guideline 2013.
The amounts used to calculate the three reported measures are prepared on an accrual basis and are consistent with the Council's
audited general purpose financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019.
2. The operating surplus ratio and asset sustainability ratio use accounting depreciation as the measure for the decline in value of
assets and therefore the required renewal expenditure. The Council of the City of Gold Coast has embraced asset management
as a key component of long-term financial sustainability. The Council places heavy reliance on its asset management plans for
the maintenance, renewal and replacement of infrastructure assets to meet the service delivery needs of the community, now
and in the future. The asset management plans set the optimal schedule of proposed maintenance, renewal and replacement to
achieve specified service levels while minimising asset life cycle costs. The Council uses its asset management plans to determine
appropriate funding for the replacement and renewal of its long term infrastructure assets rather than rely on funding depreciation.
As such Council does not believe the operating surplus ratio and asset sustainability ratio should be viewed in isolation.
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4.5 LONG TERM FINANCIAL
SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
Prepared as at 30 June 2019
Measures of Financial Sustainability
Actual
30 June
2019

30
June
2020

30
June
2021

30
June
2022

30
June
2023

30
June
2024

30
June
2025

30
June
2026

30
June
2027

30
June
2028

30
June
2029

Between
0% and
10%

1.5%

1%

4%

3%

4%

3%

1%

4%

6%

6%

6%

Asset
Sustainability
Ratio

Capital
expenditure on
the replacement
of assets
(renewals) divided
by depreciation
expense

Greater
than 90%

50.7%

45%

47%

49%

49%

49%

47%

45%

48%

48%

49%

Net Financial
Liabilities
Ratio

Total liabilities
less current
assets divided by
total operating
revenue (excluding
capital items)

Not
greater
than 60%

(31.1%)

(18%)

(3%)

5%

12%

15%

11%

7%

4%

(1%)

(10%)

Sustainability
Ratio

How the measure
is calculated

Target

Operating
Surplus Ratio

Net Result
(excluding capital
items) divided by
total operating
revenue (excluding
capital items)

Notes:
1. The ratios in this financial sustainability statement are calculated in accordance with the Financial Management (Sustainability)
Guideline 2013 produced by the Department of Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning. The operating surplus ratio and
asset sustainability ratio use accounting depreciation as the measure for the decline in value of assets and therefore the required
renewal expenditure.
The Council of the City of Gold Coast has embraced asset management as a key component of long-term financial sustainability.
The Council places heavy reliance on its asset management plans for the maintenance, renewal and replacement of infrastructure
assets to meet the service delivery needs of the community, now and in the future. The asset management plans set the optimal
schedule of proposed maintenance, renewal and replacement to achieve specified service levels while minimising asset life cycle
costs. The Council uses its asset management plans to determine appropriate funding for the replacement and renewal of its long
term infrastructure assets rather than rely on funding depreciation. As such Council does not believe the operating surplus ratio and
asset sustainability ratio should be viewed in isolation.

City of Gold Coast’s Financial Management Strategy
Detailed Service Financial Forecasts (ten year financial plans) are maintained for major service areas including City Transport, Parks
Natural Areas & Recreation, Major Sporting & Aquatic Centres, Library Services, Community Centres, Gold Coast Water, Gold Coast
Waste Management, Tourist Parks, Flooding & Drainage and Beaches & Waterways and incorporated into the Long Term Financial
Forecast with the remainder of Council’s financial information. The forecast is consistent with Council’s Total Asset Management Plan.
In preparing the long-term financial forecast Council has sought to ease the burden on ratepayers by keeping rates at a reasonable
level and borrowings to a minimum whilst continuing to invest in infrastructure asset renewal and key services.
Financial decisions are guided by corporate policies, strategies and principles of effective financial management.
Council regularly models financial performance, financial position and cash flow forecasts to monitor the long term sustainability of
financial decisions. A comprehensive analysis of the long-term financial outlook is undertaken between July and December each
year, which sets the context and financial boundaries for the development of the annual budget.
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4.5.1 Certificate of Accuracy – Long Term Financial Sustainability Statement
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// Top: Beree-Badalla Boardwalk, Currumbin Creek. Bottom: Austinville conservation area.
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APPENDICES

Chapter five provides a summary of 2018–19 funding to community
organisations, indexes and other supporting information.
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5.1 MAYORAL AND DIVISIONAL DONATIONS
Divisional donations for the financial year totalled $616,012.00, with a commitment of a further $6,850.00 to be paid in the
2019–20 financial year.
In accordance with section 189 of the Regulation, the following tables provide details of the organisations and amounts funded
under the Mayor and Councillor Divisional Donations Program.

Table 41: Mayoral donations

Mayor Tom Tate
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Amount $

The Japanese Society of Gold Coast Incorporated

Japan and Friends Day
– annual community event

1,000.00

Military Brotherhood Military Motorcycle Club
– Gold Coast Sub Branch Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Gold Coast Disability Advocacy Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

1,000.00

Gold Coast Recreation & Sport Incorporated

Purchase of equipment, awards ceremony,
support program costs

2,000.00

Girl Guides Queensland Labrador District auspiced
under Guides Queensland

Purchase of equipment – air conditioning unit

4,000.00

Headway ABI Australia Limited

Support program/function costs

2,000.00

Helensvale Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

500.00

Gold Coast Sailing Club Limited

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Transformations Program Australia Limited

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Springbrook Men’s Shed Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

4,000.00

Pacific Arts & Cultural Heritage Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

Gold Coast City Choir Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,500.00

Gold Coast District Neighbourhood Watch Committee

Purchase of promotional material

2,000.00

At The Ark Incorporated

Learning aids/booklets

Gold Coast District Rugby Union Limited

Support program/function costs

1,800.00

GRT Foundation Limited – GiveAbility

Support program/function costs

700.00

The d'Arcy Doyle Art Awards Limited

Operational/maintenance costs

1,500.00

Hear and Say – Centre for Deaf Children Limited

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Aveo Robina Music Appreciation Group
(auspiced under Robina Lions Club Incorporated)

Support program/function costs

500.00

Total (19)

500.00

30,000.00
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Table 42: Division 1 donations

Division 1
Cr Donna Gates (Deputy Mayor)
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Amount $

Rotary Club of Coomera Valley Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,000.00

Coomera Anglican College (auspiced under The Corporation of the
Synod of the Diocese of Brisbane)

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000.00

Gold Coast Central and Gold Coast North Crime Stoppers Volunteer
Area Committees – auspiced under Crime Stoppers Qld

Purchase of equipment and promotional
material

Empower Golf Australia Limited

Support program/function costs

2,000.00

Upper Coomera Neighbourhood Watch Coomera 13
– registered with Queensland Police Services

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000.00

Gold Coast Community Legal Centre & Advice Bureau Incorporated

Administration costs

North Gold Coast RSL Sub Branch Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Stone Creek Estate Neighbourhood Watch
– registered with Queensland Police Services

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Gold Coast Disability Advocacy Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

1,000.00

Beenleigh Rural 4 Cedar Creek – Wolffdene Neighbourhood Watch
– registered with Queensland Police Services

Purchase of promotional material

1,000.00

Gold Coast Sri Lankans Association Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Gold Coast North Chamber of Commerce & Industry Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000.00

Coomera Anglican College (auspiced under The Corporation of the
Synod of the Diocese of Brisbane)

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Saint Stephen's College Limited

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000.00

Tara Brown Foundation Limited

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000.00

Currumbin Wildlife Hospital Foundation

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Upper Coomera P-12 State College

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000.00

Neighbourhood Watch Coomera 10
– Registered with Queensland Police Services

Administration costs

1,000.00

Mercury's Wings Theatre Company

Administration costs

1,000.00

Woongoolba Bowls Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment – shaded smoking area

1,000.00

Ormeau Progress Association Incorporated

Administration costs

1,000.00

Coomera and District Soccer and Recreation Club
– auspiced under Coomera Soccer Club

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000.00

Jacobs Well and District Progress Association Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000.00
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Organisation

Purpose of donation

Amount $

Pimpama State School

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000.00

Toogoolawa Schools Limited

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

500.00

Coomera Springs State School

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000.00

Friends with Dignity Limited

Contractor fees to support program costs

1,000.00

Bethlehem Lutheran Church Woongoolba
– Lutheran Church of Australia Qld District

Purchase of equipment

500.00

Ormeau/Pimpama War Memorial Association Incorporated

Administration costs

500.00

Highland Reserve State School Parents and Citizens Association

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000.00

Albert School of Arts Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000.00

Coomera Crushers Rugby Union Club Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000.00

Norfolk Village State School

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000.00

Alberton and District Progress Association Incorporated

Administration costs

1,000.00

Pimpama Men's Shed Incorporated

Learning aids/booklets

1,000.00

Coomera 16 Highland Reserve Neighbourhood Watch – auspiced
under Gold Coast District Neighbourhood Watch Committee

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000.00

Livingstone Christian College
– auspiced under Christian Community Ministries Limited

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000.00

Ormeau State School Parents and Citizens Association

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000.00

Ormeau Woods State High School

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

The Uniting Church in Australia Property Trust (Q.)
represented by Wesley Mission Queensland

Support program/function costs
– Paradise Kids Program

1,000.00

Rivermount Education Limited

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000.00

Pimpama Island Sports Association Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

1,000.00

Friends of Lutheran Ormeau Rivers District School
– auspiced under Lutheran Church of Australia

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000.00

Australian Anti Ice Campaign Propriety Limited

Administration costs

1,000.00

Juice Media Limited

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Moondarewa Incorporated

Administration costs

Total (46)

500.00

45,000.00
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Table 43: Division 2 donations

Division 2
Cr William Owen-Jones
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Amount $

Coomera Cubs Baseball Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

Gold Coast Central and Gold Coast North Crime Stoppers Volunteer
Area Committees

Purchase of equipment and promotional
material

Helensvale Rugby Union Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

Helensvale Netball Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

North Gold Coast RSL Sub Branch Incorporated

Provide a community commemorative service
for the Centenary of WW1 Armistice Day

1,000.00

Gold Coast Disability Advocacy Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

Gold Coast Community Legal Centre & Advice Bureau Incorporated

Administration costs

2,000.00

Coomera 17 Neighbourhood Watch
– registered with Queensland Polices Services

Purchase of equipment

1,500.00

Gold Coast North Chamber of Commerce & Industry Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

500.00

The Upper Coomera School of Arts Association Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000.00

Southport Afternoon Stamp Club Incorporated

Administration costs

$500.00

Culturally And Linguistically Diverse Communities Action Group

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Helensvale Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,500.00

Mercury's Wings Theatre Company

Purchase of equipment

150.00

Helensvale Branch of Australian Red Cross
– auspiced under Australian Red Cross

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Currumbin Wildlife Hospital Foundation

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Helensvale Hornets Junior Rugby League Football Club Limited

Maintenance costs

1,800.00

Helensvale Swimming Club Incorporated

Administration costs

1,500.00

Highland Reserve State School Parents and Citizens Association

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000.00

Rotary Club of Coomera Valley Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000.00

The Discovery Park Tennis Club Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,500.00

Northern Collegiate Australian Business Week
– auspiced under Helensvale State School

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Lions Club of Helensvale Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

Coomera 16 Highland Reserve Neighbourhood Watch – auspiced
under Gold Coast District Neighbourhood Watch Committee

Operational/maintenance costs

Helensvale State School Parents and Citizens Association

Support program/function costs

Oxenford Neighbourhood Watch
– registered with Queensland Police Services

Operational/maintenance costs

Sew Crazy Quilters Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,400.00

Japan Karate Do Hakuakai Australia Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,500.00

The Uniting Church in Australia Property Trust (Q.) represented
by Wesley Mission Queensland

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Gold Coast Catchment Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

River Downs Neighbourhood Watch (Coomera 5)
– registered with Queensland Police Services

Maintenance and upgrade of equipment

Total (31)
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Table 44: Division 3 donations

Division 3
Cr Cameron Caldwell
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Amount $

Gold Coast Central and Gold Coast North Crime Stoppers Volunteer
Area Committees – auspiced under Crime Stoppers Qld Limited

Purchase of equipment, promotional material

Runaway Bay Lions Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

Coomera Conservation Group – auspiced under Wildlife Queensland

Administration costs

500.00

Runaway Bay Sport and Leadership Excellence Parents
and Citizen Association

Purchase of equipment

500.00

North Gold Coast Seahawks Basketball Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

1,000.00

Probus Club of Hollywell Combined Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,039.00

Coombabah State School

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

550.00

Gold Coast Disability Advocacy Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

200.00

Runaway Bay Baseball Club Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

Sailability Gold Coast Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

200.00

Allstars Netball Club – Gold Coast Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

500.00

Coomera Rivers State School Parents and Citizens Association

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000.00

Gold Coast North Chamber of Commerce & Industry Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000.00

Paradise Point & District Meals on Wheels Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000.00

Southport Yacht Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment – communal fire pit

1,000.00

Southport Yacht Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment – tackers boat

1,000.00

Coomera Waters Fishing Club Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

2,000.00

Gold Coast Gymnastics Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

Runaway Bay RSL Sub Branch Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,500.00

Touch Football Coomera Branch Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,750.00

Gold Coast Sailing Club Limited

Operational/maintenance costs

200.00

Transformations Program Australia Limited

Support program/function costs

200.00

Coomera Crushers Rugby Union Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Parkrun Incorporated (t/a parkrun Australia)

Purchase of equipment

1,399.00

Pimpama State Secondary College

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Lions Club of Sanctuary Cove and Hope Island Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Rotary Club of Hope Island Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

The Uniting Church in Australia Property Trust (Q.) represented by
Wesley Mission Queensland

Support program/function costs
– Hopewell Hospice’s Bereavement and
Outreach Support Services

200.00

The Uniting Church in Australia Property Trust (Q.) represented by
Wesley Mission Queensland

Support program/function costs
– Paradise Kids' seven week Grief and Loss
Support Program

200.00

Coomera Girl Guides, Queensland auspiced under Guides Australia

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Moondarewa Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

200.00

Biggera Waters State School Parents and Citizens Association

Purchase of equipment

200.00

200.00
1,000.00

2,000.00

500.00

193

CITY OF GOLD COAST ANNUAL REPORT 2018–19

Organisation

Purpose of donation

Amount $

Amputees Support Group

Administration costs, purchase of promotional
material, support program/function costs

2,000.00

Starting Strong Incorporated

Support program/function costs

500.00

Runaway Bay Islands Neighbourhood Watch 3
– registered with Queensland Police Services

Administration costs

500.00

Coomera Crushers Rugby Union Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

Runaway Bay Baseball Club Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

2,000.00

Transformations Program Australia Limited

50% subsidy to support Anger
Management Program

Gold Coast Game Fish Club Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000.00

Lions Club of Sanctuary Cove Hope Island Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Combined Probus Club of Paradise Point Incorporated

Administration costs

Pimpama State Secondary College

Support program/function costs

Gold Coast Central Crime Stoppers Volunteer Area Committee
auspiced under Crime Stoppers Qld Limited

Purchase of promotional material

Runaway Bay RSL Sub Branch Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,500.00

Rotary Runaway Bay Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,000.00

Paradise Point & District Meals on Wheels Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000.00

Total (46)

200.00

500.00
1,000.00
500.00

45,738.00

Table 44.1: Division 3 donation commitment

In addition to the above, the following donations have been committed from the 2018 –19 allocation but will be paid in the
2019 –20 financial year.
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Amount $

Rotary Runaway Bay Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,000.00

Paradise Point Sailing Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,550.00

New Beginnings registered as SAPH Vision Quest Association Inc.
– auspiced under SAPH Vision Quest Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

200.00

Sailability Gold Coast Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

500.00

Total (4)
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Table 45: Division 4 donations

Division 4
Cr Kristyn Boulton
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Amount $

Gold Coast Central and Gold Coast North Crime Stoppers Volunteer
Area Committees auspiced under Crime Stoppers Queensland Limited

Purchase of equipment and promotional material

Labrador Memorial Senior Citizens Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Rotary Club of Parkwood Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

1,500.00

Military Brotherhood Military Motorcycle Club
– Gold Coast Sub Branch Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

4,000.00

Labrador Sports Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

750.00

Southport Labrador Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

500.00

Goodstart Early Learning Limited Labrador

Support program/function costs

1,112.00

Australian Air League Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,960.00

Musgrave Sports Club Inc Trading as
Musgrave Soccer Club Incorporate

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Bravehearts Foundation Limited

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Little Souls Taking Big Steps Limited

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Labrador Memorial Senior Citizens Centre Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Gold Coast Disability Advocacy Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

300.00

Gecko Environment Council Association Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

500.00

Oromo Community of Gold Coast Incorporated

Purchase of equipment and promotional material

350.00

Gold Coast North Chamber of Commerce & Industry Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

500.00

Beauties Feeling Fabulous

Purchase of equipment to support program

1,000.00

Serbian-Australian Pensioners Association

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

Arundel Park Riding for Disabled Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,000.00

U3A North Gold Coast Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Community Arts for Everyone Incorporated

Administration costs

1,000.00

Runaway Bay Sub Branch Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Kirrawe Indigenous Corporation

Administration costs

The Uniting Church in Australia Property Trust (Q.)
represented by Wesley Mission Queensland

Support program/function costs
– Hopewell Hospice Services

Gold Coast District Neighbourhood Watch Committee

Purchase of equipment

Eritrean-Australian Gold Coast Association Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

1,000.00

Labrador Kindergarten Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Montrose Therapy & Respite Services

Support program/function costs

2,000.00

One Family Australia Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Transformations Program Australia Limited

Support program/function costs
– Anger Management Program

500.00

Golden Wheel Villas Limited

Create and erect safety signage and create
garden facilities

2,000.00

Toastmasters International - Club Runaway 2000

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Labrador State School Parents and Citizens Association

Purchase of equipment

500.00

500.00

900.00
1,000.00
500.00
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Organisation

Purpose of donation

Runaway Bay Islands auspiced under Gold Coast District
Neighbourhood Watch Committee

Administration costs

400.00

Multicultural Families Organisation Incorporated

Support program/function costs

500.00

Leukaemia Foundation of Australia Limited

Support program/function costs

500.00

The Migrant Centre Organisation Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Gold Coast Model Railway Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,750.00

AEIOU Foundation

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Inner Wheel Club of Gold Coast North Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,000.00

Parkwood Arundel Community Centre Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,300.00

Runaway Bay Lions Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

700.00

Moondarewa Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Australian Anti Ice Campaign Propriety Limited

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Seahawks Gold Coast (Wildcats Branch) Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

Gold Coast North Swimming Club Incorporated

Purchase of portable awning

Total (46)

Amount $

500.00
1,976.00

49,998.00

Table 46: Division 5 donations

Division 5
Cr Peter Young
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Gold Coast Central and Gold Coast North Crime Stoppers Volunteer
Area Committees auspiced under Crime Stoppers Queensland Limited

Purchase of equipment and promotional material

Nerang & District Meals on Wheels Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

1,800.00

Nerang Men’s Shed

Purchase of equipment

1,934.00

Nerang Community Garden Association Incorporated

Administration costs

1,800.00

Gold Coast Green Living Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,500.00

Australian Air League Gold Coast Squadron – auspiced under
Australian Air League Incorporated

Learning aids/booklets

960.00

Ediblescapes Incorporated

Learning aids/booklets

1,800.00

Nerang Legacy Social Club
– auspiced under Gold Coast Legacy Club Incorporated

Support program/function costs

500.00

Gecko Environment Council Association Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

500.00

Nerang Aquaponics Study Centre
– auspiced under Nerang Community Garden

Operational/maintenance costs

1,800.00

Gold Coast Community Legal Centre & Advice Bureau Incorporated

Administration costs

1,800.00

Nerang RSL Swimming Club
– auspiced under Nerang RSL & Memorial Club Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Nerang Scout Group – auspiced under The Scout Association
of Australia Qld Branch Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,900.00

Nerang RSL Netball Club
– auspiced under Nerang RSL & Memorial Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,800.00
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Organisation

Purpose of donation

Amount $

Nerang State High School Parents and Citizens Association

Support program/function costs

1,900.00

Helensvale Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

500.00

Kiwanis Club of Pacific Pines Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,800.00

Pacific Pines Basketball Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,500.00

Nathan Forest Community Association Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

Nerang Country Paradise Association Incorporated

Administration costs

1,800.00

Nerang Senior Citizens Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,070.00

Nerang Girl Guides – auspiced under Guides Queensland

Purchase of equipment

1,400.00

Gold Coast Catchment Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

400.00

Australian Red Cross Nerang Branch
– auspiced under Australian Red Cross Society

Purchase of equipment

500.00

St Brigid's Parents and Friends Association

Support program/function costs

1,500.00

Nerang Soccer Club Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,800.00

Pacific Pines State High School

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Nerang Neighbourhood Centre Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

889.00

Mudgeeraba Nerang & Districts’ Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

500.00

Pacific Pines Primary School Parents and Citizens Association

Purchase of equipment

1,847.00

Nerang Community Association Incorporated

Administration costs

1,200.00

The Migrant Centre Organisation Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Rosie’s Youth Mission Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,200.00

Rotary Club of Nerang Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

Pacific Pines Junior Australian Rules Football Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,800.00

Queensland Country Women’s Association Nerang Branch

Purchase of equipment

500.00

Nerang RSL Women’s Auxiliary
– auspiced under Nerang RSL Sub Branch Incorporated

Administration costs

500.00

Total (37)

400.00

500.00

45,000.00
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Table 47: Division 6 donations

Division 6
Cr Dawn Crichlow OAM
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Southport Day VIEW Club as part of The Smith Family
– auspiced under The Smith Family

Support program/function costs

500.00

Gold Coast City Wind Orchestra Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

500.00

Southport Pony and Hack Club Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000.00

Paradise Diving Club Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,000.00

Angels Kitchen – auspiced under The Corp of the Trustee of the
Roman Catholic Archdiocese of Brisbane

Support program/function costs
– provide a home cooked meal

1,000.00

Surfers Paradise Swim Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

Loders Creek Catchment Association Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000.00

Gold Coast Disability Advocacy Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

1,000.00

Gold Coast Seniors on The Net Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000.00

Southport Croquet Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

The Migrant Centre Organisation Incorporated

Volunteer training

1,000.00

Gold Coast Community Legal Centre & Advice Bureau Incorporated

Administration costs

1,000.00

Ashmore Branch Little Athletics Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,500.00

Gold Coast Project for Homeless Youth Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

1,000.00

Cancer Support Sisters Incorporated

Support cancer sufferers with
lymphatic massage

2,000.00

Set Free Ministries (Australia) Limited trading as Set Free Care

Purchase of equipment

1,500.00

Rotary Club of Ashmore Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,000.00

Guardian Angels Outside School Hours Care auspiced under
the Corporation of the Trustees of the Roman Catholic Archdiocese
of Brisbane

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Crestwood Heights Neighbourhood Watch
– registered with Queensland Police Services

Administration costs

1,000.00

Red Cross Southport Branch
– auspiced under Australian Red Cross Society

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Crestwood Heights Neighbourhood Watch
– registered under Queensland Police Services

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000.00

Gold Coast Little Theatre

Administration costs

1,000.00

Southport Uniting Church of Australia

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Parkwood North & South Neighbourhood Watch Group
– registered with the Queensland Police Services

Support program/function costs

500.00

Leukaemia Foundation of Australia Limited

Support program/function costs

500.00

Gold Coast University Hospital Community Garden Group
– auspiced under Gold Coast Hospital Foundation

Purchase of equipment

500.00

Southport Chamber of Commerce & Industry Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Gold Coast Mermaids Synchronised Swimming Club Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Guardian Angels Primary School Parents and Friends Association

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Southport State High School Parents and Citizens Association

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Total (30)
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Amount $

500.00

35,000.00
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Table 48: Division 7 donations

Division 7
Cr Gary Baildon AM
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Amount $

The Japanese Society of Gold Coast Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

LHAC Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,400.00

One Arts Gold Coast Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,000.00

Gold Coast Show Society

Purchase of equipment

1,800.00

Gold Coast Disability Advocacy Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

850.00

Allstars Netball Club – Gold Coast Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

500.00

Gecko Environment Council Association Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

500.00

Surfers Paradise Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,400.00

The Spotlight Theatrical Company

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

Surfers Paradise Australian Football Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,300.00

Benowa State High School Parents and Citizens Association

Purchase of equipment

2,550.00

Sculptors Society Gold Coast Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,800.00

Gold Coast Multicultural Arts Group In Collaboration – GCMAGIC

Support program/function costs
– Day of Peace – 21/9

2,250.00

Benowa Bowls Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

4,000.00

Joan Park Community Gardens Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,750.00

Gold Coast City Choir Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,500.00

Surfers Paradise Brass Band Association Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000.00

Gold Coast Potters Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,800.00

Ian Mavor Foundation for Integral Education and Spirituality Limited

Learning aids/booklets

2,500.00

Surfers Paradise Apollo Soccer Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,500.00

Total (20)

37,400.00

Table 48.1: Division 7 donation commitment

In addition to the above, the following donation has been committed from the 2018 –19 allocation but will be paid in the
2019–20 financial year.
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Amount $

Southport Girl Guides – auspiced under Girl Guides

Purchase of equipment

2,600.00

Total (1)

2,600.00
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Table 49: Division 8 donations

Division 8
Cr Bob La Castra
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Amount $

Ashmore Primary Parents and Citizens Association
– auspiced by Ashmore State School

Purchase of undercover outdoor learning area

4,000.00

Youth With A Mission Gold Coast Incorporated

Construction of deck hangout area

3,500.00

Neighbourhood Watch (Nerang 2 - Boonooroo Park)
– registered with Queensland Police Services

Support program/function costs

1,500.00

Ashmore Uniting Church

Purchase of equipment

2,500.00

Vietnam Veterans Federation Qld Branch Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

4,500.00

Veterans Care Association Inc
– registered with Queensland Police Services

Operational/maintenance costs

1,500.00

Gold Coast City Regional Basketball Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

4,000.00

Nerang Soccer Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment
– replacement of power box

4,000.00

Mudgeeraba 5 Neighbourhood Watch
– registered with Queensland Police Services

Administration costs

Mudgeeraba Nerang & Districts Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

4,000.00

The Lions Club of Ashmore Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,800.00

Lions Club of Carrara Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,100.00

Southport Soccer Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

4,000.00

Gold Coast District Neighbourhood Watch Committee

Administration costs

Queensland Police-Citizens Youth Welfare Association

Purchase of equipment

4,000.00

Gold Coast Stingrays Gridiron Football Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

4,000.00

Total (16)
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200.00

400.00

45,000.00
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Table 50: Division 9 donations

Division 9
Cr Glenn Tozer
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Gold Coast Central and Gold Coast North Crime Stoppers Volunteer
Area Committees – auspiced under Crime Stoppers Queensland

Purchase of equipment and promotional material

Gold Coast and Hinterland Axemens Club Association

Purchase of equipment

Springbrook Chamber of Commerce

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000.00

Numinbah Valley State School

Support program/function costs

2,000.00

Mudgeeraba Scout Group
– auspiced under The Scout Association of Australia Qld Branch Inc

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

Five Rivers Netball Club Incorporated

Support program/function costs and purchase
of equipment

1,000.00

Clover Hill State School

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

Gold Coast Woodturners Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Blue Pacific Garden Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

250.00

Beechmont District Landcare Association Incorporated

Delivery expenses of bi-monthly newsletter

480.00

Mudgeeraba Hockey Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

500.00

Gold Coast Disability Advocacy Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

380.00

Springbrook Mountain Community Association

Purchase of equipment

500.00

Gecko Environment Council Association Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

500.00

Neighbourhood Watch 4 Mudgeeraba
– registered with Queensland Police Services

Promotional material, administration costs

Mt Nimmel Community Hall Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

690.00

Gold Coast & Hinterland Spinners & Weavers Group Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

400.00

Mudgeeraba Pony & Hack Club Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000.00

Worongary State School

Operational/maintenance costs

500.00

Mudgeeraba Branch Little Athletics Centre Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,500.00

Mudgeeraba Robina RSL Sub Branch Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,400.00

Juice Media Limited

Support program/function costs

2,700.00

Giddy Up Gold Coast

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Transformations Program Australia Limited

Support program/function costs
– Anger Management Program

250.00

Parkrun Australia Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

150.00

Gold Coast Hinterland Heritage Museum Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

Mudgeeraba Creek State School

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

600.00

Mudgeeraba Nerang & Districts Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

500.00

Springbrook Men’s Shed Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

500.00

Mudgeeraba Creek State School Parents & Citizens Association

Operational/maintenance costs

500.00

At The Ark Incorporated

Learning aids/booklets

250.00

Gold Coast Potters Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

The Uniting Church in Australia Property Trust (Q.) represented by
Wesley Mission Queensland

Support program/function costs
– Paradise Kids Program

250.00

Gold Coast Catchment Association

Purchase of equipment

400.00

The Uniting Church in Australia Property Trust (Q.) represented by
Wesley Mission Queensland

Support program/function costs
– Hopewell Hospice Service

250.00

Total (35)

Amount $
50.00
900.00

400.00

1,200.00

1,000.00

28,000.00
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Table 51: Division 10 donations

Division 10
Cr Paul Taylor
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Gold Coast Central and Gold Coast North Crime Stoppers Volunteer
Area Committees
– auspiced under Crime Stoppers Queensland Limited

Purchase of equipment and promotional material

500.00

Griffith University

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

200.00

Kurrawa Combined Probus Club

Purchase of equipment

580.00

Broadbeach Waters Kindergarten & Preschool Association

Purchase of equipment

4,000.00

Broadbeach Robina Cricket Club Incorporated

Community Family Fun Day and Festival

3,500.00

Walk With Us

Support program/function costs

2,000.00

The Broadbeach Kindergarten Association Incorporated

Support program/function costs

4,000.00

Currumbin Wildlife Hospital Foundation

Purchase of equipment

3,000.00

Transformations Program Australia Limited

Support program/function costs
– Anger Management Program

1,000.00

Friends of the Gold Coast Regional Botanic Gardens

Purchase of equipment

3,896.00

Broadbeach Croquet Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

Surfers Paradise Rugby Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

3,500.00

Total (12)

202

Amount $

28,176.00
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Table 52: Division 11 donations

Division 11
Cr Hermann Vorster
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Gold Coast Central and Gold Coast North Crime Stoppers Volunteer
Area Committees
– auspiced under Crime Stoppers Queensland Limited

Purchase of equipment and promotional material

Varsity College Parents and Citizens Association

Purchase of equipment

Varsity Chapel Incorporation

Administration costs

Hope Care Limited

Support program/function costs

2,000.00

Robina 2 Neighbourhood Watch
– registered with Queensland Police Services

Renting of hall and catering for general meetings

1,000.00

Neighbourhood Watch Broadbeach 24
– registered with Queensland Police Services

Purchase of promotional material

1,000.00

Robina Roos Australian Rules Football Club Incorporated

Support program/function costs

900.00

Gold Coast Justices Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

900.00

Mudgeeraba Robina RSL Sub Branch Incorporated

Purchase of equipment – clock
– Lest We Forget – Robina State High School

1,400.00

Mudgeeraba Robina RSL Sub Branch Incorporated

Purchase of equipment – clock – Anzac
memorial – Varsity Senior College grounds

1,400.00

Robina Braves Baseball Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Queensland Police service – auspiced under Gold Coast
Neighbourhood Watch District Committee

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Squad Eleven – auspiced under Robina Lions Club

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

A Body 2 Fit Triathlon Club Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Robina Bowls Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

4,000.00

Gold Coast District Neighbourhood Watch Committee

Administration costs

Varsity Lakes Community Resource Centre Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

Love This City Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,000.00

Robina State High School Parents and Citizens Association

Purchase of equipment

4,000.00

Robina State School Parents and Citizens Association

Purchase of equipment

4,000.00

Gold Coast Catchment Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

200.00

Anglican Church Robina – auspiced under the Corporation of the
Synod of the Diocese of Brisbane

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

Aveo Robina Music Appreciation Group
– auspiced under Robina Lions Club

Support program/function costs

2,000.00

Robina Lions Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,500.00

Total (24)

Amount $
500.00
4,000.00
800.00

400.00

40,000.00
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Table 53: Division 12 donations

Division 12
Cr Pauline Young
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Gold Coast Central and Gold Coast North Crime Stoppers
Volunteer Area Committees
– auspiced under Crime Stoppers Queensland Limited

Purchase of equipment and promotional material

500.00

St. John's Anglican Church
– The Corporation of the Synod of the Diocese of Brisbane

Purchase of equipment

500.00

Mermaid Waters Community Kindergarten

Purchase of equipment

2,150.00

Mermaid Waters Neighbourhood Watch Association Incorporated

Administration costs

1,000.00

Mermaid Nobby Miami Boardriders Club Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,100.00

Albatross Nippers Incorporated

Learning aids/booklets

2,250.00

Nobby Beach Neighbourhood Watch (Broadbeach 15)
– registered with Queensland Police Services

Administration costs

1,000.00

Burleigh Community Men's Shed Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

Boomerang Bags Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

Village Bike Gold Coast Incorporated

Administration costs

2,000.00

Rotary Club of Burleigh Heads Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,500.00

Gold Coast Pickleball Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Burleigh Girl Guides auspiced under Girl Guides Australia

Purchase of equipment

1,925.00

Caningeraba State School Parents and Citizens Association

Support program/function costs

1,500.00

Gold Coast Gymnastics Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

Baby Give Back Limited

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

Burleigh Longboard Club Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

Burleigh Cricket Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Burleigh Heads Boardriders Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Walk With Us Gold Coast Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,000.00

Gold Coast Lapidary Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,750.00

Burleigh Heads RSL Sub Branch Incorporated

Administration costs

1,000.00

Burleigh Heads and Miami Senior Citizens Club Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,000.00

Miami Grass Tennis Club Incorporated

Administration costs

500.00

Mermaid Waters Multicultural Garden Incorporated

Purchase of promotional material

950.00

Burleigh Heads Community Kindergarten and Pre School
Association Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,150.00

DefenceFit Community Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Rosies Youth Mission Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,500.00

At The Ark Incorporated

Learning aids/booklets

500.00

Marymount Primary School Parents and Friends Association

Purchase of equipment

1,500.00

Hockey Burleigh Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

Gold Coast Youth Service Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,650.00

OurChurch – auspiced under Christian Community Church Incorporate

Purchase of equipment

1,695.00

Burleigh Heads State School Parents and Citizen Association

Purchase of equipment

1,200.00

Bond Pirates Rugby Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

Total (35)
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Amount $

430.00

750.00

50,000.00
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Table 54: Division 13 donations

Division 13
Cr Daphne McDonald
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Amount $

South Coast Netball Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,300.00

Palm Beach Currumbin State High School

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,500.00

UCA – Southern Gold Coast

Purchase of equipment

Elanora State School

Student council project
– helping support our School Chaplain

1,500.00

Palm Beach Currumbin Cricket Club

Purchase of new equipment

2,000.00

Palm Beach Neighbourhood Centre Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,500.00

Crime Stoppers Qld – Coolangatta Tweed Volunteer Area Committee
– auspiced under Crime Stoppers Queensland Limited

Support program/function costs

390.00

St Andrews Lutheran College auspiced under Lutheran Church of
Australia Queensland District

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

600.00

Palm Beach State School Parents & Citizens Association

Learning aids/booklets

1,500.00

Horses Whispering Youth Program Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

3,000.00

Gecko Environment Council Association Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

Gold Coast Community Legal Centre & Advice Bureau Incorporated

Administration costs

1,000.00

Gold Coast Organic Growers Incorporated

Administration costs

1,625.60

Palm Beach Promotions Incorporated

Administration costs

2,000.00

Palm Beach Boardriders Club Incorporated

Purchase of Equipment

2,000.00

Pacific Bowmen Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

1,500.00

King's Christian College auspiced under Kings Christian
Education Limited

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,500.00

Palm Beach Currumbin Lions Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

800.00

Tallebudgera Outdoor and Environmental Education Centre

Purchase of equipment

1,500.00

Gold Coast Stock Sport Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

349.00

C&K Palm Beach Community Kindergarten
(Branch of The Crèche and Kindergarten Association)

Purchase of equipment

1,500.00

Gold Coast Horse and Carriage Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

600.00

The Outrigger Canoe Club of Australia

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000.00

Volunteer Marine Rescue Currumbin Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,400.00

Australian Shuffleboard Association (Qld) Incorporated

Administration costs

Elanora State High School

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

1,500.00

Expressive Ground Community Arts Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

3,800.00

Lions Club of Gold Coast Tallebudgera Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,051.40

Burleigh Heads Palm Beach Croquet Club

Purchase of equipment

960.00

Palm Beach Currumbin Australian Football Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Palm Beach Currumbin Junior Australian Football Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

898.00

Moondarewa Incorporated

Administration costs

1,000.00

The Probus Club of Palm Beach Queensland Incorporated

Administration costs

950.00

Crossing Divides Incorporated

Administration costs

5,000.00

Total (34)

676.00

500.00

600.00

50,000.00
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Table 55: Division 14 donations

Division 14
Cr Gail O’Neill
Organisation

Purpose of donation

Amount $

Palm Beach Neighbourhood Centre Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,700.00

Currumbin Happy Group Incorporated

Support program/function costs

1,600.00

Fight 4 Youth Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000.00

Tallebudgera State School

Administration costs

500.00

Kirra Surfstock Incorporated

Administration costs

500.00

Currumbin District Horse Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

3,000.00

Currumbin Tennis Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

1,000.00

Lions Club of Coolangatta and Tweed Heads Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,000.00

Currumbin Creek Paddlers Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

Coolangatta Bowls & Recreation Club Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

Gecko Environment Council Association Incorporated

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

500.00

Crime Stoppers Qld – Coolangatta Tweed Volunteer Area Committee
– auspiced under Qld Crime Stoppers Qld Ltd

Support program/function costs

390.00

Gold Coast Community Legal Centre & Advice Bureau Incorporated

Administration costs

1,000.00

Queensland Country Women's Association Branch Coolangatta

Repairs to walls and repainting

2,000.00

Tallebudgera Valley Football Club

Awards/graduation/ceremony costs

4,000.00

Coolangatta Senior Citizens Centre Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

2,000.00

Tallebudgera Outdoor and Environmental Education Centre

Support program/function costs

3,500.00

Australian Air League Incorporated

Learning aids/booklets

1,000.00

Agape Outreach Incorporated

Operational/maintenance costs

2,000.00

Transformations Program Australia Limited

Support program/function costs
– Anger Management Program

1,000.00

Agape Outreach Incorporated

Support program/function costs

2,000.00

Ingleside Primary Parents and Citizens Association

Support program/function costs
– transporting students to swimming lessons

3,800.00

Ingleside Primary Parents and Citizens Association

Support program/function costs

Tugun Progress Association Incorporated

Illuminated frontage sign

2,850.00

Alley Boardriders Club Incorporated

Administration costs

1,960.00

Gold Coast Catchment Association Incorporated

Purchase of equipment

The Uniting Church in Australia Property Trust (Q.) represented by
Wesley Mission Queensland

Support program/function costs
– Paradise Kids Program

2,000.00

Australian Anti Ice Campaign Proprietary Limited

Support program/function costs

2,000.00

Total (28)
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400.00

49,200.00
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5.2 BENEFICIAL ENTERPRISES
In accordance with section 41 of the Act, a list of beneficial enterprises conducted during the financial year is shown
in the table below.
Table 56: Entities funded under beneficial enterprise powers

Beneficial enterprise conducted

Number
conducted

Beneficial enterprise conducted

Number
conducted

AusBiotech Ltd

1

Gold Coast Film Fantastic

1

Australia and Oceania Handball Club

1

Gold Coast Marathon

1

Australian Association of Environmental Education

1

Gold Coast Suns Football Club

1

Australian Beach Handball Nationals

1

Gold Coast Table Tennis Association

1

Australian Canoe Marathon Championships

1

Gold Coast Tourism

1

Basketball Australia

1

Griffith University

2

Basketball Federation of India

1

Hockey Australia

1

Bleached Arts Ltd

1

Hockey Queensland

3

Bluewater Engineering

1

HOTA Gold Coast Pty Ltd

2

BMX Australia

1

Jacqueline Thearle

1

Bowls Queensland

2

Judo Australia

1

Broadbeach Alliance Ltd

1

Judo Queensland

1

Business News Australia

1

Junior Road National Championships

1

Connecting Southern Gold Coast

1

Kaitlin Johnson

1

Creation Koala Saffigna

1

Karting Australia

2

Cycling Queensland

1

Machines4U Pty Ltd

1

Danger Close Production Pty Ltd

1

Mountain Bike Australia

4

Destination Gold Coast

1

Mulpha Sanctuary Cove

1

Diving Australia

1

National Rugby League

2

Dragons Abreast Australia National Regatta

1

Oji Fibre Solutions (AUS) Pty Limited

1

Escape and Evasion Pty Ltd

1

Pacific Sports Management

1

Football Federation Australia

1

Pagnian Imports (Next Level Racing)

1

Football Gold Coast

1

Panoptic Solutions

1

Futsal Queensland

3

Planning Institute of Australia

1

GC 600 – Supercars

2

PNG Sports Foundation

2

Gold Coast Business Excellence Awards

1

QLD School Sport

5

Gold Coast City Marina & Shipyard

1

QSport

1

Gold Coast District Basketball Association

1

Queensland Canoeing

1

Gold Coast Education and Training Network

1

Queensland Cricket

1
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Beneficial enterprise conducted

Number
conducted

Beneficial enterprise conducted

Number
conducted

Queensland School Sport

1

Sydney FC

1

Richmond Football Club

1

Tarni Eastwood

1

Safer Schoolies Initiative

2

Tennis Queensland

1

See-Saw Films Pty Ltd

1

The Wondercap Company Pty Ltd

1

Shepherd Filters

1

Triathlon Australia

2

Skate Australia

1

Triathlon Queensland

1

Sports Gold Coast Ltd (SGC)

1

Tyler International

1

Squash Australia

2

Urban Development Institute of Australia

2

Squash Queensland Masters Association

1

Volleyball Queensland

5

Stella Systems

1

Water Polo Queensland

1

Story Bridge Films Pty Ltd

1

Wellington Phoenix

1

Study Gold Coast

1

Western Sydney Wanderers Football Club

1

Surf Life Saving Australia

1

Women in Business Awards Australia

1

Surfers Paradise Alliance Ltd

1

WP Productions Pty Ltd

1

Surfers Paradise RSL

1

Total

Surfers Paradise Surf Life Saving Club

1

208

114
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5.3 EMPLOYEE OVERSEAS TRAVEL
Table 57: Employee overseas travel

Employee

Date

Destination

Purpose

Total $

Anthony (Joe)
McCabe

27/05/2019
to
30/05/2019

Singapore

Infor Executive Summit – meeting of Infor executives and
representatives of its key Asia Pacific customers to demonstrate
existing and emerging product enhancements etc, and network
with Infor customers to discuss experience.

5,599

16/07/2018
to
20/07/2018

Auckland

Local Government Platform (LGP) Stage 3 – Water business case.
Met with Watercare to examine the journey to implementation of the
Infor Public Sector (IPS)/Infor Cloud Suite (ICS) utility software. This
included detailed workshops of end-to-end customer journeys and
their implementation methodology.

2,529

16/06/2019
to
19/06/2019

Port Moresby

In 2015, the City signed a Memorandum of Understanding with the
Papua New Guinea Sports (PNG) Foundation in relation to sports
collaboration, which has resulted in 25 different sporting teams
from PNG visiting the Gold Coast for high performance training
camps. This agreement was recently re-signed during Trade 2018
and will continue to provide high performance and leadership
development opportunities between the Gold Coast and PNG.

4,872

Chief Operating
Officer
Christopher Owen
Manager
Customer
Engagement
Corey Bell
Business and
Investment
Attraction Officer
(Sport)

Additionally, in the lead-up to the Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth
Games, the City worked in partnership with the Commonwealth
Games Federation and Griffith University to undertake three
training camps for around 50 athletes on the Gold Coast for
Pacific Island nations. This resulted in these athletes being more
prepared for the competition, by accessing high quality coaching
and facilities.
This mission will leverage the above two programs to progress
sport opportunities with PNG and other Pacific Island nations with
the intent of the Gold Coast being the high performance location
for the pacific region.
Craig Rowsell
Business and
Investment
Attraction Officer

Dale Dickson
Chief Executive
Officer

20/10/2018
to
27/10/2018

Los Angeles

The Council of the City of Gold Coast's membership with Ausfilm
provides the opportunity to attend Ausfilm Week Los Angeles. This
is the most prominent business opportunity for Australians in the
film industry to connect with US based production companies.
This provides the opportunity to understand the upcoming slate
of Hollywood film productions and to enter negotiations to secure
these productions to the Gold Coast. Attendance at this event has
secured a number of US productions to the Gold Coast over the
past five years.

6,586

2/04/2019
to
9/04/2019

London /
Guernsey

City of Gold Coast Insurance Company Limited business meetings.
Discussions regarding insurance program, liability and policy
coverage for a new fixed contract period for Council with London
Brokers and Reinsurance underwriting representatives. Attendance
at Captive Board meeting of the City of Gold Coast Insurance
Company in Guernsey.

12,191
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Employee

Date

Destination

Purpose

Total $

David
Montgomery

2/04/2019
to
9/04/2019

London /
Guernsey

City of Gold Coast Insurance Company Limited business meetings.
Discussions regarding insurance program, liability and policy
coverage for a new fixed contract period for Council with London
Brokers and Reinsurance underwriting representatives. Attendance
at Captive Board meeting of the City of Gold Coast Insurance
Company Limited in Guernsey.

12,005

16/05/2019
to
22/05/2019

Chengdu

Coordinate the annual Mayoral Trade Mission to China as part
of the International Trade and Investment Program. The purpose
of this mission was to promote the capabilities, products and
services of the city’s export ready businesses, specifically in the
fields of education, health and tourism. This year’s mission was the
largest mission to date with a 40 strong contingent travelling from
Gold Coast to Chengdu which included City of Gold Coast Mayor
Tom Tate, Destination Gold Coast, Study Gold Coast, education
providers and health and technology companies.

3,750

15/02/2019
to
6/03/2019

London /
Singapore /
Indonesia

Trade 2018 was a key driver to attract international and domestic
business, government and media partners to the Gold Coast and
Queensland in the lead up to and during the Gold Coast 2018
Commonwealth Games.

City Solicitor

Derek Cheung
Business and
Investment
Attraction Officer

Emma Wallace
Coordinator
Economic
Development
(Trade and
Investment)

Emma Wallace
Coordinator
Economic
Development
(Trade and
Investment)

Hardie Ryan
Coordinator
Rates and Billing
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11,768

The purpose of this mission was to convert leads from Trade 2018,
generate new opportunities and leverage the opportunity
of SportAccord in May 2019 for the City’s Creating Value in
Sport Program.
1/06/2019
to
7/06/2019

Beijing

Ausfilm China mission. This is the most prominent business
opportunity for Australians in the film industry to connect with
China based production companies. Attendance at previous
Ausfilm Week China events has assisted to attract ‘At Last’ and
‘Legend of Sun and Moon’ to be shot on the Gold Coast.

4,232

Supporting the annual Ausfilm China mission also allows for
the City to meet with sports related investment opportunities,
particularly in high performance training camps. Recent visits
to Beijing have assisted in securing two teenage level high
performance training camps to Runaway Bay Sports Super Centre.
16/07/2018
to
20/07/2018

Auckland

Local Government Platform (LGP) Stage 3 – Water business case.
Met with Watercare to examine the journey to implementation of the
Infor Public Sector (IPS)/Infor Cloud Suite (ICS) utility software. This
included detailed workshops of end-to-end customer journeys and
their implementation methodology.

2,568
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Employee

Date

Destination

Purpose

Total $

Ian Hatton

16/05/2019
to
22/05/2019

Chengdu

Mayoral Mission to China, Destination Gold Coast delegation,
Study Gold Coast delegation, Gold Coast businesses delegation.

3,002

Chief Innovation
and Economy
Officer

The City’s Chief Innovation and Economy Officer (CIEO) is
responsible for the contractual arrangements between the City
and Destination Gold Coast delegation and Study Gold Coast. The
position is also responsible for the trade and investment activities
for the City, including business delegations. The position is also
responsible for the Digital City Program, including the development
of big data projects.
Both Destination Gold Coast delegation and Study Gold Coast
have appointed new CEOs in recent months. Throughout the visit,
the CIEO was working with these CEOs to develop a collective
understanding of the opportunities that China might afford
economic growth on the Gold Coast.
As an attendee of the Mission/delegations, the CIEO presented to
the Chengdu Big Data Department of Regional Government, and
discussed future opportunities to share knowledge.
The CIEO also participated in the Mayoral signing of the Sister City
Agreement as a senior City representative, holding discussions
with senior representatives of the Chengdu Government.
Whilst in China, the CIEO interviewed Austrade and other Australian
representatives to ascertain how the Gold Coast could continue to
develop opportunities for increased trade.

Karen Rawle
Manager Business
Performance

Katrina Metcalfe
Senior
International
Relations Officer
Katrina Metcalfe
Senior
International
Relations Officer
Katrina Metcalfe
Senior
International
Relations Officer
Matthew Tilly
Manager
Transport
and Traffic

Narelle Packer
Coordinator
Business Systems

16/07/2018
to
20/07/2018

Auckland

Local Government Platform (LGP) Stage 3 – Water business case.
Met with Watercare to examine the journey to implementation of the
Infor Public Sector (IPS)/Infor Cloud Suite (ICS) utility software. This
included detailed workshops of end-to-end customer journeys and
their implementation methodology.

2,529

2/09/2018
to
11/09/2018

Taipei /
Chengdu /
Phuket

Mayoral Mission to South-east Asia with a focus on civic,
digital city and education opportunities.

6,512

27/02/2019
to
5/03/2019

Singapore /
Makassar

Trade 2018 follow up meetings in Singapore. Education and civic
opportunities in Makassar, Indonesia and keynote speaking
address for Mayor at Australian-Eastern Indonesia Tourism.

4,628

15/05/2019
to
24/05/2019

Chengdu /
Ho Chi Minh /
Da Nang

Mayoral Mission to China and Vietnam with a focus on civic, health
and medical and education opportunities.

5,176

17/09/2018
to
21/09/2018

Copenhagen

Attendance at the 25th ITS World Congress, in order to identify
short/medium/long-term opportunities for the City to investigate
and subsequently invest in meaningful Intelligent Transport
Systems, aligned with the Transport Strategy, Road Network
Plan and emerging Network Intelligence and Transport Systems
Program. The employee self-funded travel from Australia to the
UK, combining the attendance at the Congress with pre-planned
annual leave.

5,603

16/07/2018
to
20/07/2018

Auckland

Local Government Platform (LGP) Stage 3 – Water business case.
Met with Watercare to examine the journey to implementation of the
Infor Public Sector (IPS)/Infor Cloud Suite (ICS) utility software. This
included detailed workshops of end-to-end customer journeys and
their implementation methodology.

2,529
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Employee

Date

Destination

Purpose

Nishant Tandon

24/03/2019
to
29/03/2019

Taipei

Smart City Summit and Expo:

Executive
Coordinator
Devices and
Systems (IoT)

Total $
2,615

– Building on the September 2018 visit to Taiwan, the City
(as part of LGAQ) signed up to the GoSmart Alliance. This
will allow the City to have access to a range of expertise and
technology-related businesses across the globe, as well as
knowledge transfer to find solutions for similar challenges
faced by other cities.
– Attendance at Asia’s largest smart city summit and expo.

Peter Morichovitis
Chief Procurement
Officer
Scott Emmonds
Coordinator
Water Metering

Tanya Lipus
Principal
Strategic Officer

7/11/2018
to
10/11/2018

Singapore

Asia Pacific Procurement Congress and Awards 2018. Peter was a
shortlisted finalist to win the 2018 Procurement Leader Award.

4,529

16/07/2018
to
20/07/2018

Auckland

Local Government Platform (LGP) Stage 3 – Water business case.
Met with Watercare to examine the journey to implementation of the
Infor Public Sector (IPS)/Infor Cloud Suite (ICS) utility software. This
included detailed workshops of end-to-end customer journeys and
their implementation methodology.

2,605

1/09/2018
to
7/09/2018

Taipei /
Chengdu

Mayoral Mission to Asia.

4,396

The Gold Coast is Taipei’s Sister City. The purpose of the visit
was to:
– continue to build sister city relationship
– gain insight into the types of technologies used by Taipei City
Government that could be implemented on the Gold Coast – e.g.
disaster management facility was visited
– meet with Taipei City Government officials and the Smart
City Project Management Office to gain insight into their smart
city initiatives.
Met with Chengdu Technology Park to identify synergies between
high growth business environments and the available options for
business exchanges.

Tanya Lipus
Principal
Strategic Officer

24/03/2019
to
29/03/2019

Taipei

Smart City Summit and Expo:

2,225

- Building on the September 2018 visit to Taiwan, the City (as part
of LGAQ) signed up to the GoSmart Alliance. This will allow the
City to have access to a range of expertise and technologyrelated businesses across the globe, as well as knowledge
transfer to find solutions for similar challenges faced by
other cities.
- Attendance at Asia’s largest smart city summit and expo.

Warwick Sinclair
Senior
Media Advisor

Total
*Figure has been rounded
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1/09/2018
to
10/09/2018

Taipei /
Chengdu /
Phuket

Mayoral Mission to South-east Asia with a focus on civic, digital
city and education opportunities.

6,781

119,231*
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5.4 LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE
The following provides references to the relevant sections of this report that relate to statutory requirements for a local
government annual report.
Table 58: Legislation relating to a local government annual report

Legislation

Page/s

Section/s

72, 207

3.1.10, 5.2

(a) List of business activities conducted

148

3.3, 3.4

(b) Identify significant business activities

148

3.3, 3.4

(c) State whether or not competitive neutrality principle applied

96, 174

3.2.2.13

(d) State if significant business activities were not conducted in the preceding

96

3.2.2.13

1(a) Total of all remuneration packages payable to the senior management

88

3.2.2.4

1(b) Number of employees in senior management being paid each band of remuneration

88

3.2.2.4

2

83

3.2.2.3

Local Government Act 2009
s.41

Identifying beneficial enterprises
List of all beneficial enterprises conducted during the year

s.45

Identifying significant business activities

financial year
s.201

Remuneration

The senior management, of a local government, consists of the chief executive officer and
all senior executive employees of the local government.

3

Each band of remuneration is an increment of $100,000.

88

3.2.2.4

4

To remove any doubt, it is declared that nothing in this section requires the exact salary of

88

3.2.2.4

any employee in senior management to be separately stated in the annual report.

Local Government Regulation 2012, Division 3 ‘Annual Report’
s.183

Financial statements

Chapter 4

(a) General purpose financial statement audited by the auditor general

137

4.3

(b) Current year financial sustainability statement audited by the auditor general

181

4.4

(c) Long term financial sustainability statement for the financial year

186

4.5

(d) The auditor general’s audit reports about the general purpose financial statements and

176

4.3.2, 4.4.2

the current year sustainability statement
s.184

Community financial report
Must contain a community financial report

s.185

Chapter 4
126

4 4.2

(a) Copy of resolutions made under s.250(1) for expenses reimbursement policy

69

3.1.6

(b) List of any resolutions made under s.206(2) that relate to the value of non-current

99

3.2.2.17

Particular resolutions

physical assets
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Legislation
s.186

Page/s

Section/s

(a) Total remuneration including superannuation contributions, paid to each councillor

68

3.1.5

(b) Expenses incurred and facilities provided to each councillor under the expenses

69

3.1.6

64

3.1.3

(d) Number of orders (i) under s.180(2) or (4) and (ii) under s.181

66

3.1.4

(e) Misconduct

66

3.1.4

(f) Complaints

66

3.1.4

67

3.1.4

(e) Details relating to paragraph (d)

67

3.1.4

(f) Complaints, matters notices, decisions etc. under s.150P(2)(a), s.150P(3), s.150R(2),

67

3.1.4

95

3.2.2.13

1(a) Councillor travel – name of councillor

71

3.1.8

1(b) Employee travel – name of employee and position held

209

3.2.2.7, 5.3

1(c) Destination of travel

209

3.1.8, 3.2.2.7,

1(d) Purpose of travel

209

1(e) Cost of travel

209

2

90

3.1.8, 5.3

(a) Council grants expenditure to community organisations

72

3.1.9

(b) Councillor’s discretionary fund expenditure

189

5.1

(i)

189

5.1

189

5.1

Councillors

reimbursement policy
(c) Number of meetings attended by each councillor
For the period 1 July 2018 to 2 December 2018

For the period 3 December 2018 to 30 June 2019
(d) Number of orders (i) under s.150I(2), (ii) under s.150(AH), (iii) decisions, orders and
recommendations under s.150AR(1)

s.150(R)(2)(a), s.150W(a),(b) and (d), s.150AC(3)(a), s.150AF(4)(a) and chapter 5A, part 3,
division 5 of the Act
s.187

Administrative action complaints
1(a) to 2(b) Statements, process and number of administrative action complaints

s.188

Overseas travel

5.3
3.1.8, 3.2.2.7,
5.3
3.1.8, 3.2.2.7,
5.3

s.189

Any other information about overseas travel

Expenditure on grants to community organisations

Name of each community organisation

(ii) Amount and purpose

214
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Legislation
s.190

Page/s

Section/s

18

1.4, 1.6,

Other contents
1(a) CEO assessment of progress towards implementing five year corporate plan and annual
operational plan

3.2.2.20

1(b) Issues relevant for assessment of operations and performance

14, 99

1.4, 3.2.2.20

1(c) Operations reports for each commercial business unit

115,119

3.3, 3.4

1(d) Service facility/activity supplied by another local government

99

3.2.2.18

1(e) Number of invitations to change tender under s.228(7)

81

3.2.1.8

1(f) List of registers

98

3.2.2.15

1(g) Summary of concessions for rates and charges

73

3.1.11

1(h) Report on internal audit

93

3.2.2.10

1(i) Summary of investigation notices given for competitive neutrality complaints under s.49

96

3.2.2.13

1(j) Responses for competitive neutrality complaints

96

3.2.2.13

2 (a) to (d) Annual operations report, for a commercial business unit

115, 119

3.3, 3.4

94

3.2.2.11

Public Sector Ethics Act 1994
s.23

Reporting
Implementation of code of conduct

Auditor-General Act 2009
s.40

Audit of public sector entities
(1) The auditor-general must —

Chapter 4

(a) audit the annual financial statements of a public sector entity; and

176

4.3.2

(b) prepare an auditor’s report about the financial statements.

176

4.3.2
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5.5 GLOSSARY
Administrative policy: A policy that
relates to the management of Council
operations and internal services.
Annual budget: The City's annual
budget identifies the planned expenditure
and revenue approved by Council for a
financial year. This includes any specific
activities identified as a priority under the
Operational Plan.
Annual Plan: The Annual Plan provides
an overview of the City Budget, the City
Operational Plan and the priorities for the
year ahead.
Annual Report: A statutory report under
the Local Government Act 2009 that
provides accountability to the community
for the past financial year. The report
contains a summary of progress toward
the City Vision through implementation
of the Corporate and Operational Plans,
the auditor's report, audited financial
statements and an address by the Mayor
and CEO.
Asset: An item that has potential or actual
value to an organisation.
Asset infrastructure: Stationary physical
assets (that often form an infrastructure
network) that serve communities, where
the asset is intended to be maintained at
a particular level of service by renewal
of its components.
Asset management: A systematic
approach to manage assets through all
lifecycle phases. This involves applying
a combination of engineering, financial
and other technical practices to the
management of infrastructure, costs,
opportunities, risks and performance.
Asset Management Plan: A long
term plan (minimum of 10 years) that is
focused on the sustainable management
of the City’s infrastructure assets; state
the estimated capital expenditure for
infrastructure renewal and new/upgrade
for the period covered by the plan;
and are consistent with the long-term
financial forecast.
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Audit: An examination of the records,
statements, systems, and procedures of
an organisation together with its stated
claims for performance.
Audit report: A testimony produced
by an auditor regarding the quality and
meaningfulness of an organisation's
records, statements, systems, and
procedures, as well as stated claims for
performance. May also include an opinion
on areas for improvement and predicted
future progress.
Benefit: The measurable improvement
resulting from an outcome perceived as an
advantage by one of more stakeholders,
which contributes towards one or more
organisational objective(s). Benefits
provide a justification for the investment
of time or resources in the planning and
development of a proposed project.
Benefits may be financial or non-financial.
Business case: A document containing
sufficient information about scope,
options, expected outcomes and benefits,
time, resources (including costs) and risk
to support a decision maker to make a
considered, defensible decision to either
proceed with an initiative or halt further
activity, effort and funds. A business case
may be revised and refined at key points
as more reliable information becomes
available or circumstances change with
the decision to proceed retaken in light of
the new facts.
Capital expenditure (CAPEX):
Represents expenditure on a capital
project which is ‘capitalised’ into Council’s
asset register. It should be noted that
expenditure can occur under a capital
budget that may be deemed operating
in nature and not capitalised. (Note:
CAPEX is a term used in non-corporate
documents to describe
capital expenditure).
Checkpoint: A defined point where
confirmation of expected achievement
is checked.

city: (Lower case) Refers to geographic
area of the Gold Coast local
government area.
City/City of Gold Coast:
(Upper case) Refers to the Council of the
City of Gold Coast.
City Operational Plan: The City
Operational Plan is a detailed plan
showing how it is intended to give effect to
one year's portion of the Corporate Plan.
It is a statement of specific works to be
undertaken and services to be provided in
order to progress the goals and objectives
set out in the Corporate Plan.
City Plan: The City Plan is our local
government planning scheme that
establishes a framework for managing
growth and development of the City
of Gold Coast (City) over the next 20
years. It also seeks to advance state and
regional strategies through a more detailed
local response. The City Plan’s planning
framework identifies the preferred land
use of every Gold Coast property and
identifies what natural areas should be
protected, where shops, industrial estates
and public spaces should be located,
and regulates built form outcomes. It is a
legal instrument that has been prepared in
accordance with the Sustainable Planning
Act 2009 and is regularly reviewed and
amended in accordance with State
legislation relevant at the time.
Commercial/ised business unit:
A commercial business unit in the context
of Local Government (Local Government
Act 2009) is one that conducts business
in accordance with the key principles
of commercialisation, such as clarity
of objectives, robust management
and governance, accountability and
competitive neutrality in order to maximise
benefits to its customers.
Community engagement: Community
engagement is interaction between the
City and any section of the community,
either individually or as a group, and
includes information sharing, consultation
and/or active participation.
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Competitive neutrality: A requirement
that public sector business activities which
are in competition with the private sector
should not have competitive advantages
or disadvantages simply by virtue of their
government ownership or control.
Consumer Price Index (CPI): A measure
of the average change over time in the
prices paid by households for a fixed
basket of goods and services.
Corporate Plan: The City’s Corporate
Plan outlines the Council’s vision and
translates it into medium and long-term
priorities, outcomes and strategies for
a minimum five year period. The City’s
current Corporate Plan is known as Gold
Coast 2022.
Corporate Plan outcome: See Outcome.
City strategy: A strategy is a long term
plan which supports the creation of a
desired future outcome for the community
and identifies priorities for investment.
Corporate values: See Values.
Council/Council of the City of Gold
Coast: The elected body responsible
for the good rule and local government
of the city.
Council policy: A policy that relates
to matters of public interest or external
service delivery.
Debt service coverage: Provides an
ability to repay loan funds. The ratio is
calculated by the operating result adjusted
for capital items divided by interest
expense plus prior year current interest
bearing liabilities.
Debt servicing ratio: Principal and
interest on debt divided by available
revenue to fund debt.

External audit: A formal, independent
review of an organisation's financial
statements, records, transactions,
or operations. External audits are
usually performed by professional
accountants to provide an opinion on the
financial statements, ensuring external
accountability and to identify key internal
weaknesses in an organisation.
GC2018: Gold Coast 2018
Commonwealth Games hosted on the
Gold Coast from 4 to 15 April 2018.
Gold Coast 2022: See Corporate Plan.
Initiative: A term for a temporary
endeavour (defined start and finish)
undertaken to deliver a desired result,
output, outcome or benefit. Initiatives
include projects and programs and may
implement strategies, plans and policies.
Internet of Things: A network of inter
connected sensors, devices, vehicles and
buildings that transfer data over a secure
network to support remote management,
real time operations and analysis of
operational data.
Key performance indicator:
A meaningful, high level measure used
to determine whether an organisation
has met, or is progressing towards, its
planned outcomes.
Level of service: The defined service
quality for a particular activity such as
road surfacing, or service area such as
street lighting, against which service
performance may be measured.
Service levels relate to quality, quantity,
reliability, responsiveness, environmental
acceptability and cost.
Leverage ratio: This measures the City's
ability to cover debt payments over the
long term and indicates the City's risk
exposure in meeting debt obligations. It
is calculated by looking at the amount of
earnings in comparison to debt.

Liveability: Liveability refers to a
combination of factors that contribute to
quality of life. These include the impact of
the built and natural environment as well
as economic, social and cultural factors.
Long term financial forecast:
The long term financial forecast includes
at least 10 years of projected financial
statements including:
– statement of financial position
– statement of cash flow
– statement of income and expenditure
– statement of changes in equity.
The financial forecast also reports on the
relevant measures of financial sustainability
for the forecast period. Council must
consider the long term forecast before
planning new borrowings.
Objective: Something toward which work
is to be directed, a strategic position to
be attained, or a purpose to be achieved,
a result to be obtained, a product to be
produced, or a service to be performed.
Operating surplus ratio: Indicates
operational efficiency. The ratio is
calculated by dividing operational result
by total operating revenue excluding
capital items.
Outcome: The new future state achieved
after transitioning a capability into
Business as Usual (BAU). Outcomes result
from the planning and delivery of city
strategies, services, policies, projects and
continuous improvement.
Performance: The progress in achieving
planned outcomes over a given period
of time.
Performance measures:
A quantifiable indicator used to evaluate
the organisation’s success in achieving
its desired outcomes, benefits and
service levels.
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Planning Scheme (see also City
Plan): The Planning Scheme is a legal
instrument that guides the growth and
development of the City. It sets out the
preferred land use of every Gold Coast
property and identifies what natural
areas should be protected, where
shops, industrial estates and public
spaces etc. should be located, and
sets standards and criteria for buildings.
It is regularly reviewed and amended
in accordance with State legislation
relevant at the time. The City Plan is the
Gold Coast’s Planning Scheme.
Policy: A statement, formally adopted
by Council or the CEO, which describes
Council’s position on a particular issue.
Portfolio: The totality of an
organisation's investment in the
changes required to achieve its strategic
objectives. Portfolios are enduring
over time.
Precinct: An area that may contain
multiple asset types that primarily exist
for the purpose of supporting a facility
such as car parks and pathways within
a park primarily exist to support the
amenity of the park.
Procurement: Activity that relates to
the engagement of external suppliers
for specified works, goods or services
– including planning, sourcing, contract
management, purchasing, inventory
management, warehousing and
accounts payable.
Program: A program is related group
of services provided to the City, for
example the Waste Management
Program includes waste collection,
waste disposal, waste recycling and city
cleaning services.
Project: A temporary endeavour
undertaken to create or change a
unique product, service or result
according to an approved
business case.
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Publication scheme: An online Council
directory proactively disclosing to the
public at no cost (pursuant to Section
21 of the Right to Information Act 2009)
different classes of information that
Council has available. This information
includes, but is not limited to, the
following: what Council is and what it
does; the services offered by Council;
what Council spends and how it is
spent; Council's priorities and how they
are being achieved; how Council makes
its decisions; Council’s policies and
procedures; and Council's lists
and registers.
Ramsar: Ramsar sites are wetlands of
international importance. The Ramsar
Convention is an international treaty
for the conservation and sustainable
utilisation of wetlands, recognising the
fundamental ecological functions of
wetlands and their economic, cultural,
scientific and recreational value.
Recurrent: The expense or revenue
associated with recurrent new initiatives
will re-occur in future years. Text is
required to explain and fully justify
the additional funds required. The
justification should identify the effect on
the level of service, list any additional
labour, plant and other requirements.
Recurrent budget: Recurrent budget
is any budget that will be required on an
ongoing basis.
Risk: Effect of uncertainty on objectives
(an effect is a deviation from the
expected – positive and/or negative).
(AS/NZ ISO 31000:2009 Risk management –
Principles and guidelines)

Risk management: Coordinated
activities to direct and control an
organisation with regard to risk.
Service: A service is a group of
activities provided to the City e.g. waste
collection which manages a range of
different waste collection types.

Signature actions: Initiatives identified
in the Corporate Plan which contribute
to outcomes.
Solid waste: Unwanted or discarded
solid material generated by domestic,
commercial, commercial and industrial
premises, or construction and
demolition activities, otherwise known
as rubbish, refuse, garbage or trash.
Stakeholder: A person or organisation
with an interest in the outcome or output
or is affected by services, activities,
policies, programs or strategies.
Strategy/strategies: See City Strategy.
Total Asset Management Plan
(Total AMP): A summary of the
Infrastructure Asset Management Plans
that is adopted annually by Council as
part of the planning and budget (as
opposed to Council individually adopting
each of the asset management plans).
Value for Money Program:
A program of work which focuses on
ensuring value for money in expenditure
of Council funds, and delivery of
services through: achievement of cost
savings, improvement in customer
service, achievement of business
efficiencies and risk mitigation.
Values: A code of conduct or
expectations about the employee’s
behaviour or actions within
the organisation.
Work Health and Safety (WHS):
Work Health Safety provides a
framework to protect the health, safety
and welfare of all workers at work. It
also protects the health and safety of
all other people who might be affected
by the work.

CHAPTER 5 APPENDICES

5.6 INDEX OF KEY WORDS
A
Achievements
(towards the Corporate Plan)

18, 30

Administrative Action Complaints

95

Alcohol and other Drugs Program

91

Annual Plan

77, 82, 99

Asset management

60, 78

Audits		

80, 92

Audit Committee

92

Awards

28-29

B
Beneficial enterprises
Budget

72, 207

14, 82, 99, 111, 124, 126

Concession for Water Consumption
Charges due to Renal Dialysis Patients
Dialysing at Home Policy
73

Events

26

Events, Tourism and
Governance Committee

60

Corporate governance

Executive Leadership Team

56, 58, 75

Corporate Plan

Executive management

94

81

Expenditure by program

13

Corporate security
Council

7, 57

Expenses

69-70

– Mayor

69-70

99

– Councillors

69-70

Council committees

59

Export

Council meetings

59

External audit

Councillor conduct

66

Cooperation between
local governments

Current Financial Year
Sustainability Statement

180

Customer service

113, 226

Cash flows

133, 141

Chief Executive Officer

18, 85

Debt		

43
92, 152

F
Fraud		

92

Financial Statements
– Management Certificate

D

C

85, 94

15, 31, 75, 100

175

– Independent Auditor's Report 176-179
124, 126, 131, 136

Debt Recovery Policy

73

– Statement of
Comprehensive Income

127

– Statement of Financial Position

130

City Contracting Plan

81

Deferral of Rates Policy

73

– Statement of Changes in Equity

132

City registers

98

Delegated power and authority

58

– Statement of Cash Flows

133

58

– Financial Sustainability Statement

180

Chief Operating Officer

86

Democratic governance

City Operational Plan

14, 82, 100

Digital city

City Plan

76, 78, 103

Discounts and concessions

City Vision

31, 76

Code of Conduct

94

Commercial business activity

115, 119

Committees

59, 64

Commonwealth Games

40, 44

Community assistance

34, 111

Community equity

132, 169

Community Financial Report

126

Community Grants Program

72

Competitive neutrality complaints

96

Concessions

Divisional donations

189-206

Divisions

21, 57

Domestic travel
Donations

71
72, 144, 150, 189

E

66, 95, 96, 97
73

Economy

9, 40, 105, 110

Energy
Environment
Ethical standards

40

Gold Coast 2022

31

– signature action initiatives

15

– outcome performance measures

100
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CONTACTS
Customer Service Centres
City of Gold Coast Customer Service Centres
are open from 8.15am to 4.30pm, Monday – Friday.
Bundall
8 Karp Court
Bundall QLD 4217
Broadbeach
61 Sunshine Boulevard
Mermaid Waters QLD 4218
Burleigh Heads
Park Avenue
Burleigh Heads QLD 4220
Coolangatta
Level 1, The Strand
Corner Marine Parade and Dutton Street
Coolangatta QLD 4225
Helensvale
Corner Lindfield Road and Sir John Overall Drive
Helensvale QLD 4212

Central Contact
	1300 GOLDCOAST (1300 465 326)
or 07 5582 8211
F 07 5596 3653
E mail@goldcoast.qld.gov.au
w cityofgoldcoast.com.au
facebook.com/cityofgoldcoast
twitter.com/cityofgoldcoast
@cityofgoldcoast

All written correspondence
or feedback to be addressed to:
Chief Executive Officer
City of Gold Coast
PO Box 5042
GOLD COAST MC 9726

Nerang
833 Southport Nerang Road
Nerang QLD 4211
Palm Beach
22 Eleventh Avenue
Palm Beach QLD 4221
Southport
47 Nerang Street
Southport QLD 4215
Upper Coomera
90 Reserve Road
(Corner Reserve and Abraham Roads)
Upper Coomera QLD 4209

This Annual Report has been printed on Silk-HD Satin paper which is made using FSC certified mixed sources pulp and is elemental
chlorine free in accordance with ISO14001 Environment Standard.
All images within this report are © City of Gold Coast unless credited otherwise.
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// Coomera River.

